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Chair’s Statement    
 
It is customary for the Chair’s statement in the Annual Report to look back on the achievements of the 
past year. However our situation is not normal and the future of the ‘Min’ is a major question facing 
our staff, patients, governors, members and the public. 
 
For almost five years it has been evident that the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases 
NHS Foundation Trust (RNHRD NHS FT) is too small to survive as a stand-alone Foundation Trust. 
Our total income, circa £18 million, whilst sufficient to fund the cost of care, cannot meet the overhead 
costs associated with Foundation Trust status and the property costs of a large 18th century hospital 
building. 
 
This year the Trust has incurred a deficit of £1.1 million, an improvement of £2.5 million compared to 
the deficit as described in the Trust’s 13/14 Annual Plan. This remarkable achievement is a tribute to 
the employees of the RNHRD NHS FT, who continue to provide high quality, safe services to our 
patients, while maintaining a strong focus on prudent management of public funds. 
 
In 2009 it was agreed that the RNHRD NHS FT should merge with, or be acquired by, a larger Trust. 
The most obvious fit (and strategic preference of the Board) was, and remains, the Royal United 
Hospital Bath NHS Trust (RUH), once they have become a Foundation Trust, and subject to all 
conditions being satisfied. The RNHRD NHS FT Board remains clear that the RUH is the ‘logical 
partner of choice’. The RUH offers clinical, governance and financial synergies which will secure 
continuity of high quality services post integration, including Research and Development, which have 
made the RNHRD NHS FT what it is today – a cherished national specialist hospital.  
 
The RUH has successfully cleared its financial debt and a recent inspection report by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) found the services it inspected to be ‘safe and effective’. The RUH has now 
recommenced its Foundation Trust application, which opens the door for the RNHRD NHS FT and the 
RUH to proceed with Board to Board discussions about acquisition.  
 
The RNHRD NHS FT Board is unanimous in its view that despite the significant improvements made 
over the last year the Trust is financially fragile and unable to withstand significant shifts in 
commissioning patterns and/or significant cost pressures. The Board’s over-riding priority is the 
continuity of high quality services for patients, and support for our staff and patients during this period. 
 
This report and the accompanying accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis in line with 
the principles set out in the accounting policies, and the basis of preparation of the Accounts is 
explained more fully within the report. 
 
This introduction has necessarily focussed on the Trust’s progress towards a sustainable solution for 
its future which maintains the high quality services we provide to improve the quality of life for our 
patients. It is important also to recognise some notable achievements.  
 
I pay particular tribute to the commitment and motivation of staff across the Trust at a time of 
uncertainty. Findings from the 2013 NHS Staff Survey found the RNHRD NHS FT to have the highest 
job satisfaction score recorded amongst acute specialist Trusts. In addition, the recent CQC 
inspection report published in January 2014, following an unannounced inspection of the Trust in 
December 2013, confirmed that the Trust is meeting all the standards inspected. The CQC noted that 
all the patients they spoke to were “highly satisfied with the service they receive”, and that co-
operation between healthcare professionals within the hospital contributed towards a successful 
treatment plan.  
 
In conclusion, I would also like to recognise the commitment and support from non-executive 
colleagues on the Board, and our hard working Governors who challenge, support and monitor the 
Chair and the Board. I also wish to acknowledge the considerable contribution of my predecessors, 
Peter Franklyn, who served the Trust for a three year term until August 2013, and Eugene Sullivan 
who stepped down in March 2014.  
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This past year has also seen significant involvement from our many Volunteers and Friends who have 
contributed their time and resources to support the services for our patients.  The Board joins me in 
offering huge thanks to them all. This Trust inspires that generosity in all who come into contact with 
it.  
 
 
 
 

 
Luke March 
 
Chairman        22nd May 2014 
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Strategic Report 
 
Background information  
Founded in 1738 the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust 
(RNHRD NHS FT), also known as ‘The Min’, a reference to its original name ‘The Mineral Water 
Hospital’, is a specialist hospital in central Bath with an international reputation for research, and 
expertise in specialist rehabilitation for complex long-term conditions. The core services the hospital 
provides are in rheumatology, pain management, and fatigue management i.e. Chronic Fatigue 
Syndrome/ME (CFS/ME) and post cancer fatigue. The Trust also provides diagnostic Endoscopy and 
Clinical Measurement services. 
 
The RNHRD NHS FT has a strong tradition of innovation.  It was one of the earliest hospitals in the 
world to specialise in the treatment of rheumatic diseases, and was the first truly national hospital to 
be founded in Great Britain, admitting patients from all over the country.  The specialist rehabilitation 
skills required for the management of rheumatic diseases led to the development of services for the 
management of chronic pain and fatigue.  In 1991 it was one of the first wave of NHS Trusts and in 
2005 became a second wave NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
It has been a core principle throughout the RNHRD NHS FT’s evolution to combine clinical research 
and development with the focus on high quality patient care to meet patient needs.  The Trust’s 
clinical reputation is augmented by research.  These factors have maintained, on a national and 
international basis, the RNHRD NHS FT’s reputation amongst patients and referrers for clinical 
excellence. 
 
Principal activities of the Trust  
The RNHRD NHS FT provides services in line with local, specialist and national commissioning 
intentions. The Trust delivers a range of general and specialist outpatient and inpatient rheumatology 
and rehabilitation services, including services for inflammatory and non-inflammatory rheumatic 
disease, complex pain and fatigue management. These services support both the local population 
and attract referrals from across the UK, and are supported by diagnostic endoscopy, clinical 
measurement and diagnostic imaging services. 
 
The Trust’s services are provided for children, adolescents, young adults and adults. The core clinical 
activities aim, through a specialist, multidisciplinary approach to: 

• address patient needs, limit disability and maximise quality of life, 
• equip patients with the skills and tools they need to be able to function to their optimum level, 
• reduce demand on health and social care post discharge.   

 
More information on the services provided by the Trust is set out on pages 9 to 14. The Trust has an 
excellent reputation for research both nationally and internationally. Research informs the treatment 
programmes and contributes to a better understanding of many of the conditions that the Trust 
specialises in, further information about the Trusts Research and Development activities can be found 
on pages 11- 13 and 24 - 25. 
 

Business review 
The trust is proud of its legacy and of the very significant contribution the hospital has made to the 
development, in both the understanding and treatment, of the specialist services it provides. In spite 
of these attributes, the Trust has previously recognised that as the smallest Foundation Trust in 
England the organisation is not currently financially sustainable as a stand-alone Foundation Trust 
and it is essential that the Trust joins with a larger organisation where benefits of scale and greater 
financial stability will be achieved. This is the strategic intent to which the organisation has worked 
throughout 2013/14 and will continue to do so as the Trust enters the current year’s activities.  
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Developments and performance during 2013/14 
All services are operating within an increasing referral base and the service developments reflect this. 
The percentage of income (excluding high cost drugs) received from NHS England via National 
Specialist Commissioning is set to increase during 2014/15, a reflection of the specialist, complex 
nature of the services provided by the RNHRD NHS FT.  
 
2013/14 was characterised by an increase in income of £1,018k across the services operating in 
2012/13 and 2013/14. Endoscopy activity continued to decline during 2013/14 but an 8% reduction 
showed an improvement on the 24% reduction in 2012/13. The Trust’s adult and paediatric Chronic 
Fatigue Syndrome/ME (CFS/ME) services have seen a significant increase in activity over 2013/14, 
as has the Trust’s Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) service and Breast Radiotherapy Injury 
Rehabilitation Service (BRIRS).  
 
Further activity information relating to the Trust’s services and significant achievements for the 
services during 2013/14 can be found below and on page 10 - 16. 
 
Rheumatology  
There has been a slight increase in activity across the Trust’s Rheumatology services during 2013/14 
compared with 2012/13. The number of rheumatology inpatients continued to decrease in line with 
commissioning intentions, outpatient attendances showed a 2% increase and day cases stayed 
broadly constant. 
 
Referrals from General Practitioners (GPs) have continued to increase throughout 2013/14, as shown 
in the graph below, which shows the number of referrals into the Trust for Rheumatology based on a 
moving annual total (the total number of referrals for the preceding 12 months). 
 
Annual Rheumatology GP Referral Rates 

 
NB: CRPS was included within Rheumatology until April 2010. 
 
Significant achievements of the rheumatology service during 2013/14 include: 

• Planned reduction in inpatient rheumatology beds from 8 to 6 to reflect strengthened day case 
provision, and in line with commissioning intentions. 

• Development of day case assessment bed to allow emergency/urgent patients to be 
assessed quickly and to avoid, where appropriate, inpatient admission.   
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• Discharge criteria developed in conjunction with local GPs, for patients with rheumatology 
conditions, to ensure that those patients that can be managed appropriately can be 
discharged to primary care. 

• The successful embedding of the GP helpline, with ongoing audit of the calls received and GP 
education sessions developed in response.  

• Utilising new technologies to allow Rheumatoid Arthritis patients the option to complete health 
assessment questionnaires on tablet devices prior to their consultation, allowing clinicians to 
view live outcome data within the patient consultation.  

• Strengthened collaborative research and educational links with the Nuffield Department of 
Orthopaedics, Rheumatology and Musculoskeletal Sciences at the University of Oxford.  

Other Services 
Details of other services are described in the sections that follow, and are referred to in the graph 
below, which shows the number of referrals into the Trust for these services based on a moving 
annual total (the total number of referrals for the preceding 12 months). 
 
Annual GP Referral Rates for Other Services 

 
 
Pain Services  
The Trust provides a number of specialist pain services as described below: 
 
i) Pain Management   
The Bath Centre for Pain Services is a national and international provider of services for patients with 
highly complex conditions.  Patient numbers are predominately from the NHS however, private patient 
numbers are steadily increasing.   
 
Activity in the Trust’s pain services for 2013/14 has been unevenly distributed across the year, with a 
peak in activity in the final quarter. The service has seen an increase in complexity of the patients 
being referred, which is reflective of the shift to treating appropriate patients closer to home and 
reinforces the need for highly specialist and intensive residential and ward based treatment options 
for the more complex patient group.  In addition, there has been an increase in referrals for children 
and young people. 
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All referral types 

 
 
From April 2013, the majority of activity undertaken by these services came under specialist 
commissioning. An established pathway remains but access for appropriate patients is now less 
complex. This has resulted in a year-on-year increase in total referrals of 28%, and planned 
programmes running to capacity. 
 
Significant achievements during 2013/14 include: 

• Flexible planning of programmes and treatment interventions in response to the changing 
referral patterns.  

• Development of interventions for complex patients requiring admission. 
• Obtaining grant funding for three studies. 

 
ii) Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS)  
The CRPS service provides services on a national and international basis. Patient numbers are 
predominately from the NHS but private patient referrals are steadily increasing.  The service has 
seen steady growth supported by good research based outcomes and evidence base, and raising 
awareness of the condition, both nationally and internationally, by the clinical team that deliver the 
treatment.   
 
Referrals for the service have increased in the last two years. In early 2014 the CRPS service moved 
to specialist commissioning from local commissioning, the referral pathway remains unchanged apart 
from the removal of the prior approval process.  
 
Significant achievements during 2013/14 include: 

• Hosted the international CRPS conference in November 2013 in collaboration with the 
International Association for the Study of Pain Special Interest Group for CRPS.  

• Continuing to attract interest on a national and international scale which has led to increased 
media activity. 

 
iii) Breast Radiotherapy Injury Rehabilitation Service (BRIRS)  
This service is funded by highly specialised commissioning and is delivered in collaboration with The 
Christie NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester, and Barts Health NHS Trust, London, with treatment 
delivery being led by the RNHRD NHS FT.  Initially planned as a three year pilot aimed at Breast 
Cancer survivors with radiotherapy induced injury, the service is now well established and will 
continue from April 2015 under a revised model to ensure long-term support for this patient group. 
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Significant achievements during 2013/14 include: 
• Establishment of good working relationships with commissioners from NHS England, resulting 

in an understanding of the service and the good clinical outcomes achieved for this cohort of 
patients, and a commitment to commission the service into year 4 and beyond.  

• Secured funding for a research project to evaluate the experience of patients undergoing 
treatment for breast cancer now compared with the cohort of women that have used BRIRS.   

• Two short promotional films (one aimed at members of the public and one aimed at clinicians) 
have been produced to describe this very rare condition and the outcomes that can be 
achieved by attending BRIRS. These are being used in presentations, and on Macmillan and 
hospital websites.  

• Feedback from patients report improvement in function and quality of life high.  
• Several abstracts accepted for presentation at conferences. 

 
Fatigue Management Services  
Significant achievements and future plans for the Trust’s Fatigue Management services are outlined 
below: 
 
i) Adult Fatigue Management Services (CFS/ME, Cancer Related Fatigue and 
enduring fatigue in other long-term conditions) 
Referrals continue to grow for the Trust’s adult CFS/ME and cancer related fatigue services. In 
particular there has been an increase in referrals from; 

• the South Wiltshire area and, 
• from out of area eg Hampshire, 

In addition, the Adult Fatigue Management service has seen an increasing number of referrals for 
people with enduring fatigue linked to other medically stable long-term conditions, and a shift in 
referrals for people with complex needs.  
  
Significant achievements during 2013/14 include: 

• Strengthened relationships with referring GPs and other referrers for the Macmillan ‘Step Up’ 
service to ensure GP referrals continue once Macmillan funding ceases at the end of the 
current contract.  

• Established effective self-referral for those with cancer related fatigue.  
• Responded to clinical need for people with enduring fatigue with other long-term conditions 

e.g. respiratory problems and Multiple Sclerosis.  
• Implementation of SKYPE interventions where appropriate. 
• Successful recruitment of a greater number of patient educators which has provided valuable 

experience to educate other patients and inform service development. 
• Established effective pathway working from acute (oncologists and Clinical Nurse Specialist’s) 

to tertiary services for cancer related fatigue. 
 
ii) Fatigue Management Services – Paediatric CFS/ME 
There has been an increase in activity of 19% when comparing activity in 2012/13 to 2013/14 as a 
result of a significant increase in referrals, particularly over the final quarter of the year. 
 
Significant achievements during 2013/14 include: 

• New research commenced, to investigate the aetiology (causes) of CFS/ME using the Avon 
Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC) cohort started in 2013. This will raise 
awareness of CFS/ME nationally and internationally and involves many internationally 
recognised scientists.  

• Dr Crawley was successful in obtaining a National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) 
Senior Research Fellowship. This funds a 5 year programme of work to investigate the 
treatment of CFS/ME in children. This will involve recruiting several hundred children in a 
study to define recovery and investigate Graded Exercise Therapy in a multi-centre study.  

 
Clinical Measurement and Imaging 
Throughout 2013/14 the Clinical Measurement and Imaging department has continued to provide a 
range of specialist internal and external services including X-ray, bone mineral densitometry (BMD) 
and specialist imaging and measurement techniques for RNHRD NHS FT patients. 
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Significant achievements during 2013/14 include: 

• Piloting Integrated Clinical Environment (ICE) electronic requesting and reporting of direct 
access BMD referrals (in-line with GP feedback). 

• Implementing electronic requesting for RUH radiology.  
• Appropriate referral pathways for BMD and osteoporosis clinic patients agreed with BANES 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), with ongoing discussions with Wiltshire CCG. 
• Project developed to measure ambulatory skin temperature asymmetry measurement using 

“iButtons” in CRPS patients. 
• Working jointly with North Bristol NHS Trust to recruit patients to a pilot study investigating the 

effect of parenteral osteoporosis treatments on fat metabolism. 
 

Position of the business at the end of 13/14 
 
Financial analysis 
From a financial perspective, 2013/14 saw a continuation of the challenges from the previous year 
with a recognition that the Trust would not be able to produce a balanced plan, and would therefore 
be in breach of its provider licence.  Funding to support the Trust’s cashflow position through the year 
was agreed with Monitor in the form of a drawdown facility of Public Dividend Capital, of which £500k 
was accessed in December 2013. With this assistance, the Trust has been able to successfully 
manage its cashflow, without compromising its responsibility to suppliers, ending the year with a cash 
balance of £1,652k, a reduction of £478k against the opening cash position of £2,130k. 
 
Our financial objectives as an NHS Foundation Trust 
The financial objectives for 2013/14 were as follows: 
 

• To deliver the financial plan for 2013/14, to include: 
o delivering activity plans to maximise income, 
o managing cash throughout the year, 
o production of timely and accurate forecasting, 
o working with commissioners to deliver on Quality Innovation Productivity and 

Prevention (QIPP). 
• Increasing productivity and reducing costs in addition to the current QIPP targets. 

 
In 2013/14, the Trust recorded a retained deficit of £1,125k against a deficit as described in the 
Trust’s 2013/14 Annual Plan of £3,590k. This compares to a deficit of £2,605k (before restructuring 
costs and additional funding) in 2012/13 of which £1,911k related to continuing operations, an 
improvement of £786k in 2013/14. As part of the improved performance against plan, the Trust 
delivered a Cost Improvement Programme of £136k during the year. A significant element of the 
improvement in the overall financial performance is attributable to higher than planned activity, and 
whilst income before exceptional items was lower than 2012/13, due to the closure of the Trust’s 
Neuro Rehabilitation Service at 31st March 2013, the remaining services saw an overall increase in 
income of £1,018k.   
 
FT business model 
The Trust’s business model is based around the core service provision of Rheumatology, Pain and 
Fatigue Management in a predominately outpatient setting.  There is one inpatient ward, with a 
capacity of 20 beds, and a day-case unit.  In addition, there are a number of residential programmes, 
which are not ward based with patients attending these programmes staying in residential beds close 
to the hospital. The Trust has a small diagnostics and clinical measurement provision to support the 
patient population, but does not provide any emergency services. Approximately one third of the 
income in year relates to High Cost Drugs, and this is matched by expenditure of the same value. 
 
Following the closure of the Neuro Rehabilitation service, as outlined previously, the Trust has seen 
no significant change in its core objectives and activities over 2013/14. Given the financial challenges 
faced by the Trust, it is the strategic intent of the RNHRD NHS FT to be acquired by the RUH, once 
they are authorised as a Foundation Trust and subject to all conditions being satisfied. Further details 
can be found on pages 9 and 20. 
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Due to the specialist nature of the services, patients can be referred from across the UK, and this is 
reflected in the analysis of income by commissioners.  Of the patient related income, 23% is from the 
contract with Bath and North East Somerset (B&NES), 23% Wiltshire, 22% NHS England, with the 
balance being non-contract activity. 
  
Activity overview  
Overall income relating to direct patient activity was £994k higher than planned, which contributes to 
the comparative reduction in deficit of £786k for continuing operations between 2013/14 and 2012/13. 
The 2013/14 commissioning intentions described a plan to reduce Rheumatology referrals, however, 
the Trust has seen an increase year on year in Rheumatology referrals.  
 
Commissioning of the Trust’s Pain services transferred from Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 
to NHS England with the associated lifting of the prior approval requirement. This led to an increase in 
the number of patients seen in the year, beyond that anticipated in the 2013/14 plan.  
 
The issue of maintaining current levels or growing clinical income in line with commissioning 
intentions remains one of the major challenges in the years ahead to maximise the financial 
performance of the RNHRD services. 
 
Activity across all services 

Service area 2013/14 2012/13 % 
Difference 

Rheumatology admitted episodes 2,268 2,401 -6% 

Rheumatology outpatient attendances 20,864 20,509 2% 

Rheumatology day cases 1,617 1,618 0% 

Therapy outpatients 10,056 8,168 23% 

Neuro Rehabilitation bed days Service 
Closed 2,892 N/A 

Pain management admitted episodes 107 97 10% 

Pain management outpatient attendances 432 360 18% 

CFS/ME adult outpatient attendances 1103 870 27% 

Macmillan Step Up outpatient attendances 218 85 156% 

CFS/ME Paediatric outpatient attendances 2,186 1,838 19% 

Endoscopy episodes 801 870 -8% 

Clinical Measurement outpatient attendances 5,270 4,855 9% 

CRPS inpatient bed days 1,235 882 40% 

CRPS outpatient attendances 792 790 0% 

BRIRS inpatient bed days 180 70 157% 

BRIRS outpatient attendances 231 160 44% 
NB: Data excludes Dermatology and Orthopaedic outpatient attendances 
 
Rheumatology therapy outpatients had an increase of referrals during 2013/14 which resulted in an 
over performance in activity. 15% of the increase is from GP direct access referrals, this may reflect 
the short waiting times and quality of service provided. In addition the service has seen a particular 
increase in paediatric activity.  
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Rheumatology day cases have not seen a shift in the absolute numbers of patients but there have 
been changes in the infusion regimes which led to an increase in the time taken for an infusion, this 
has meant that the unit has become increasingly busy and may need to open for an additional day to 
meet demand.  In addition, biologic therapy for rheumatology patients is constantly developing and 
going forward patients may shift from an infusion based regime to an injection based drug which can 
be administered in the patient’s home.  
 
The increase in Adult CFS/ME activity can be attributed to a number of factors which include an 
increase in follow up activity and the increased need for individual work support and vocational 
rehabilitation. The service has also seen an increase in the number of domiciliary visits to meet the 
needs of patients with complex needs and who are severely affected.  The Macmillan Step Up Service 
has seen an increase in the number of referrals reflecting the increasing number of people living with 
and beyond cancer.  
 
The CRPS service has been further established with commissioners during 2013/14, and in the latter 
part of the year was transferred to Specialist Commissioning. Prior to the transfer, patients could not 
be treated without prior approval from the commissioner. The removal of this barrier has enabled 
appropriate patients to access the service without experiencing delay, and this has led to an initial 
increase in activity, in addition the service over the last year has seen an increase in referrals .  
 
The BRIRS service was established during 2012/13 and 2013/14 saw the first full year for this service, 
hence an increase in the activity when compared to 2012/13. 
 
Income overview  
Income across all services has been affected by year-on-year tariff reductions, with 2012/13 seeing 
approximately 12% reduction in Rheumatology tariff, and 1.8% in other services when compared to 
2011/12. This was further affected by reductions in 2013/14 of on average 1.1% and this continues to 
be described in the operational plan for the years 2014/15 through 2015/16, where the impact is 
assessed to be approximately 1.5% which equates to £136k per annum. 
 
Rheumatology and Diagnostic services fall under the national ‘Payment by Results’ system, which is 
based on a single tariff across all providers on a per case basis.  Other services are based on a local 
tariff because of their specialist nature.  This will include CRPS service from 2014/15, which has 
previously been recorded and charged within the Rheumatology services.  All the contracts, with the 
exception of BRIRS, are variable and therefore income is totally aligned to the volume of activity 
within these services.  
 
Changes in activity levels are set out in the table on page 16, and the income associated with the 
services is outlined below: 
 
Analysis of income by service area 

Service area 
2013/14 2012/13 % 

Difference£'000 £'000 
Rheumatology 6,422 6,320 2% 

Pain 1,445 1,144 26% 

CRPS & BRIRS 891 517 72% 

CFS/ME 965 713 35% 

Diagnostic Services 672 404 66% 

High cost drugs 6,235 5,836 7% 

Other 1,815 2,493 -27% 

Subtotal Continuing Services 18,445 17,427 6% 
Neuro Rehabilitation - 1,673 N/A 

Additional Funding - 4,648 N/A 

Total 18,445 23,748 -22% 
*includes R&D and education and training.  
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Overall, the amount of income the Trust received from the provision of goods and services for the 
purposes of the health service in England was greater than its income for the provision of goods and 
services for any other purpose.   The Trust’s income is primarily from NHS clinical activities, but it also 
receives income from education, training and research, private patients and non-clinical services such 
as running conferences and catering services.  The income generated from these additional activities 
serves to enhance patient care and further knowledge and understanding of the conditions treated at 
the Trust. 
 
Analysis of income 

Income from Patient Care Operating income Difference 

  2013/14 2012/13 % 
  £'000 £'000   

Inpatients and Daycase * 4,278 5,363 -20% 

Outpatients 5,746 5,247 10% 

Sub-total of Commissioner patient related income 10,024 10,610 -6% 

Private Patients 219 159 38% 

PbR excluded drugs 6,235 5,836 7% 

Other patient income ** 192 744 -74% 

Sub-total of non-Commissioner patient related income 6,646 6,739 -1% 

       

Other income        

R&D 972 1,160 -16% 

Education & Training 323 338 -4% 

Charitable contributions 70 123 -43% 

Other income *** 410 130 215% 

Sub-total of other income 1,775 1,751 1% 

       

Income before exceptional items 18,445 19,100 -3% 

       
Additional Funding - 4,648 N/A 

       
Total Income 18,445 23,748 -22% 

*    Inpatient income reduced as a consequence of closure of the Neuro Rehabilitation Service 
**  Other patient income in 2012/13 included BRIRS service, which has been included within patient related income in 2013/14 
*** Other income in 2013/14 includes clinical excellence awards which were recorded within other patient income in 2012/13. 
 
The increase in income for continuing services is aligned to the increases in activity as shown in the 
activity overview on page 17.  There is a small increase in Rheumatology overall as inpatient activity 
is down, but outpatient and therapy services increased year on year. Pain, CRPS, BRIRS and 
CFS/ME services have all seen increased activity leading to higher income, with CRPS and BRIRS 
inpatient activity balancing the reduction in inpatient activity from Rheumatology. 
 
Private patient income makes up a small but important element of the total, and this is a potential area 
for expansion, with plans in 2014/15 to market the Trust’s residential programmes overseas.  
The Research and Development (R&D) income at RNHRD NHS FT is proportionately greater than at 
other NHS hospitals as a percentage of revenue. Again, this is a reflection of the specialist nature of 
the services at the Trust, and the strength and depth of relationships with educational institutions, as a 
number of clinical staff have joint appointments. R&D Income in 2013/14 is slightly lower than 2012/13 
as the grants may span a number of years, with income falling due at various stages of the research, 
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in particular a large project for the development of a head and neck collar spanned a number of years 
and completed during 2013/14, with only the final instalment falling due in that year.   
 
During 2013/14 a number of projects were identified to which income from Charitable Funds could 
contribute. However, due to the size and complexity of these projects, they will commence in 2014/15. 
This has led to a reduction in income from Charitable Funds to the Trust in 2013/14 when compared 
to 2012/13 as focus has been on these larger projects. 
 
Expenditure overview  
The Trust has sought to deliver efficiencies through 2013/14, and to maintain tight control over 
expenditure and vacancy management.  The budget for 2013/14 was based on the previous year’s 
budget, adjusted for specific expected increases such as inflation, and changes to service delivery, 
and also included project costs associated with the planned acquisition. There was nil budget for cost 
improvements although a target of £157k was set of which the Trust has delivered a programme of 
savings to the value of £136k, contributing to the reduction in deficit when compared to plan. 
 
Expenditure in year was significantly below plan as a result of close cost management and 
appropriate vacancy control.  Staff costs have increased over the continuing operations staff cost in 
the previous year by 2.5% due to pay inflation and annual increments awarded. These inflationary 
pressures will further impact in 2014/15.   
 
Communication to stakeholders including staff on the financial position has been, and will continue to 
be, a key objective for the Executive Team.  This is led through the Chief Executive all staff briefing 
sessions. There is a strong focus on engaging with managers for monthly outturn forecasting of 
activity and expenditure to inform the information presented to the Board and available in the public 
domain.  In addition to the detailed analysis provided to the Board sub-Committees, the key 
operational and financial information has been cascaded through the organisation at management 
meetings and team briefing sessions. This enables staff and stakeholders to understand and 
contribute to the strategic plans for the Trust. Further, the format of the information has been changed 
to a service line presentation, which has helped to determine where efficiencies can be delivered, and 
contribution increased. 
 
As can be seen in the summary table on the following page, the non-pay costs associated with 
service delivery have seen a reduction of 7% year-on-year for continuing operations. Reduction in 
spend on clinical supplies and services is driven by savings on patient appliances and medical and 
surgical equipment, reflecting the change in the patient profile. Similarly the expenditure on non-
clinical supplies has reduced particularly on provisions, cleaning and laundry costs, as the number of 
inpatients has decreased. High cost drugs expenditure is matched by income in year, and therefore 
does not affect the financial performance of the Trust. 
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Analysis of expenditure 

Operating Expenditure Operating expenses 
Difference 

(continuing) 
% 

  2013/14 2012/13 
(continuing)

2012/13 
(Total) 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 
Staff Costs 8,537 8,322 10,488 3% 

Directors’ Costs 654 642 642 2% 

Sub-total Pay 9,191 8,964 11,130 3% 
        

Clinical Supplies & Services 240 418 465 -43% 

Services from other NHS Trusts 959 923 994 4% 

Non-Clinical Supplies & Services 117 313 315 -63% 

Premises Costs 986 878 878 12% 

Depreciation & amortisation 471 429 429 10% 

Audit Fees 131 171 171 -23% 

Other Costs 899 965 999 -7% 

Sub-total Non-Pay 3,803 4,097 4,251 -7% 
        
Total Service Delivery Costs 12,994 13,061 15,381 -1% 
       

High Cost Drugs 6,541 6,167 6,167 6% 

Restructuring -113 0 1,121 N/A 

Impairments 0 0 55 N/A 

Total Costs 19,422 19,228 22,724 1% 
 
The RNHRD NHS FT is again expecting to incur a deficit, albeit significantly reduced from last years 
forecast, during the financial year 2014/15 and as a result will require additional external funding from 
the Department of Health.  Although the level of this funding stream is not yet formally agreed, the 
Trust’s Board of Directors has a reasonable expectation that the required funding will be provided to 
ensure that the Trust has sufficient funds to meet its liabilities as they fall due. 
 
Changes in processes around the payment of creditors have been implemented, as the Trust has 
sought to improve its performance on the better payment practice code, with over 70% of non-NHS 
invoices paid within 30 days during the year. Non NHS trade creditors stand at £397k at the year end, 
compared to £708k at 31st March 2013. Note 18 of the Accounts gives an analysis of trade and other 
payables included in the Statement of Financial Position. The Note shows £2,193k accruals at the 
beginning of the year. This included the provision for restructuring costs associated with the closure of 
the Neuro Rehabilitation service of £1,121k and a further £1,072k relating to general accruals. The 
balance as at 31st March 2014 is £680k. 
 
There has been close management of debtors to maximise the cash position, with most income to the 
Trust forming part of an NHS contract and therefore received promptly.  Changes in the debtor 
balance reflect the change in commissioners to Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) supported by 
Commissioning Support Units (CSUs), and for non-contract activity this has led to delay in payment of 
invoices. Total debtors more than 30 days past their due date amounted to £310k, compared to £287k 
at 31st March 2013 (notes 17.1 and 17.2 of the Accounts). 
 
At the beginning of the financial period the Trust had net current assets (being the amount in the bank 
plus the amount owed to the Trust by debtors, e.g. customers and commissioners, less the amount 
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the Trust owes to creditors such as suppliers) of £527k.  As at 31st March 2014, the position was 
£296k. 
 
Capital expenditure in 2013/14  
Capital expenditure during 2013/14 focused on maintaining safety, and upgrading essential 
equipment. Capital expenditure in-year was £58k.  
 
Disclosures relating to market values of non-current assets are included in the Accounts on pages132 
and 133. As a consequence of a revaluation of the property assets by the district valuer, in 2013/14, 
an increase in the overall value of freehold buildings of £416k has been recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Taxpayers’ and others’ Equity.  The value of land 
remains unchanged. 
 
Financial Governance and Outlook 
The Trust was found to be in significant breach of its terms of authorisation by its regulator, Monitor, in 
May 2012 and has remained so since. In April 2013 under the new Foundation Trust Provider Licence 
regime, the healthcare regulator Monitor wrote to the RNHRD NHS FT specifying enforcement 
undertakings on its provider licence, and actions to include submission of a strategic plan to resolve 
the underlying financial issues. The Trust was also required to report monthly to Monitor on the 
financial position, and to submit weekly a rolling cashflow forecast for the 3 months ahead. 
 
At the end of the financial year, the Trust achieved a Continuity of Services Risk Rating of 3, and a 
Governance Risk Rating of Red against Monitor’s Risk Assessment Framework. 
 
Local commissioners have been engaged with healthcare providers in determining the future 
requirements of the local health economy, within the context of their future funding expectations.  This 
is anticipated to result in demand management by GPs, and a move to provision of more services 
within the community, which could impact the Trust over the coming years.  Nationally the NHS has to 
make £20 billion savings over the next 3 years.  There is recognition that there needs to be significant 
change across the health sector to deliver these savings, which come on top of year on year 
reductions in national tariff. 
 
Against this financial climate for health services, the operational plan submitted to Monitor for 2014/15 
through 2015/16 shows the Trust continuing to be in deficit.  The overarching financial objective for 
the year ahead is to deliver the financial plan for 2014/15, minimising the underlying deficit and 
delivering efficiencies across the organisation, and the operational plan includes challenging cost 
improvement and efficiency targets. 
 
Losses and Special Payments 
These are costs that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health 
service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise.  They are 
therefore subject to special control procedures compared to the generality of payments. They are 
divided into different categories which govern the way they are treated.  Losses and special payments 
are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis. (See note 30 
page 139). 
 
Borrowing Limit  
The prudential borrowing code requirements in section 41 of the NHS Act 2006 have been repealed 
with effect from 1 April 2013 by the Health and Social Care Act 2012. The accounts disclosures that 
were provided previously are no longer required. 
 
Going concern 
International Accounting Standards (IAS1) require the directors to assess, as part of the accounts 
preparation process, the Foundation Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. In accordance with 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual paragraph 3.20, the financial statements should 
be prepared on a going concern basis unless the directors either intend to apply to the Secretary of 
State for the dissolution of the Foundation Trust without the transfer of the services to another entity, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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The Trust intends to transfer its services to another entity by the end of 2014/15.  Negotiations to 
transfer the services are on-going, and consequently the directors believe the going concern 
assumption remains appropriate. This transfer may take the form of the Trust being acquired by 
another Trust. The Trust is putting in place plans to enable the continuity of its services and is seeking 
to obtain non-recurrent funding such that the services are properly resourced and can be safely 
delivered during the intervening period.   
 
There are two material uncertainties around these plans; whether the funding being sought to support 
the cash position to enable the Trust’s delivery of the Services in the intervening period will be 
awarded to the Trust, and whether the Trust will be successful in reaching agreement with another 
Trust in transferring its services.   These material uncertainties identified by the directors may cast 
significant doubt about the ability of the Trust to continue as a going concern, but the directors believe 
that the going concern basis remains appropriate. 
 
External auditors 
The external auditor for RNHRD NHS FT is: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 31 Great George Street, 
Bristol, BS1 5QD. The total cost of audit services for the year was £85k.  This was for the statutory 
audit of Accounts for the 12 months ended 31st March 2014 (£63k), the Quality Report and services 
carried out in relation to this (£17k), and the audit of the Charitable Funds Accounts for the 12 months 
ended 31st March 2014 (£5k). All amounts are inclusive of VAT. 
 
Accounts  
Full details of the Trust’s 2013/14 financial position can be found in the Trust’s audited consolidated 
Accounts (from page 93 of this report). The Accounts have been prepared under a direction issued by 
Monitor under the National Health Service Act 2006. The Trust’s accounting policies are set out in 
note 1 of the Accounts.  Accounting policies for pensions and other retirement benefits are set out in 
note 8.1, page 128  to the Accounts. Disclosures in relation to the going concern assumption can be 
found in note 1.2 of the Accounts on page 112.  
 
The Trust’s employees 
The Trust employs 340* Employees, (which equates to 217.95 whole-time equivalents), 69 of these 
employees are on Bank contracts (zero hours). 
*Correct as of the 13/05/2014 based on a reporting date of the 31st March 2014 
 
Details about the Trust’s employees can be found in the remuneration report on page 27 and the 
CQC 2013 National NHS Staff Survey Results for RNHRD NHS FT information provided on page 87. 
 
Environmental matters 
The Trust recognises the need to operate economically and ethically.  It is committed to reducing its 
carbon emissions and taking actions to reduce its impact on the environment.  As an example, the 
Trust continues to manage its waste, using segregation to support recycling, reduce incineration, 
avoid the unnecessary treatment of non-hazardous waste as hazardous thereby reducing energy use 
and carbon emissions, and reduce overall waste.  The Trust procures gas and electricity through a 
contract that stipulates that a proportion of electricity must be generated from “green” sources.  
 
Principle risks and uncertainties 
The Trust faces a number of operational, strategic and financial risks. These are described in more 
detail in the Annual Governance Statement on pages 96 to 106 of this report, and in the Trust’s 
Operational plan for 2014-16. 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Trust include: 

• Risk to occurrence of the potential acquisition.  
• Loss of key personnel leading to a business continuity risk. 
• Local commissioners plan to undertake significant scoping and review of the delivery of all 

community services, musculoskeletal pathways and chronic pain pathways and this could 
impact on commissioner intentions in terms of the delivery of the Rheumatology service in 
2015-16 and onwards. 

• Failure to meet cash targets and/or obtain funding required to meet the cash shortfalls 
forecast.  
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• Failure to meet provider licence conditions due to risks detailed above. 
• Rheumatology specialist commissioning activity could transfer to larger centres which could 

result in a loss of activity and expertise at the RNHRD NHS FT. 
• Macmillan funding for the Adult Fatigue Management ‘Step up’ service ceases in the last 

quarter of 2014/15. 
 
As a Foundation Trust, the RNHRD NHS FT was issued a Provider Licence by Monitor on 1st April 
2013. The circumstances in which the NHS Foundation Trust was in significant breach of its 
authorisation also gave rise to the NHS Foundation Trust being in breach of its Provider Licence and 
consequently Monitor issued enforcement undertakings. 
 
Success in mitigating the risks identified will be dependent on the delivery of the 2 year Operational 
Plan.  
 
Future trends 
Commissioning meetings for 2014/15 with local Care Commissioning Groups have been based on the 
underlying assumption that activity at the RNHRD NHS FT will remain constant and consistent with 
the current year 2013/14.  
 
Longer term commissioning plans for Rheumatology services across the local area point to a model 
which is more community-based, and forms part of a fully integrated musculoskeletal service.  
 
Development funds have been agreed for some services, specifically around administration of high 
cost drugs and development of a Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA) self-management programme.  
 
Further information about future trends and plans for service developments and the impact of 
specialist commissioning can be obtained from the Trusts Operational Plan for 2014/16. 
 
Social, community and human rights issues 
All Trust policies and procedures are based on national employment legislation, adhere to the NHS 
constitution staff pledges and contain an Equality and Diversity impact assessment – to ensure that 
social, community and human rights principles are upheld. At the writing of this annual report, the trust 
has no social, community or human rights violation issues. 
 
Trust strategy 
The Trust’s vision:  
“To transform the lives of people affected by complex long term conditions.” 

 
The Trust’s strategic objective: 
“To deliver against a strategic plan that is in the best interest of patients, maintains service continuity 
and delivers high quality and safe services whilst addressing the underlying financial issues that have 
led to the RNHRD NHS FT’s non-compliance with its Licence.” 
 
Strategic plan 
The RNHRD NHS FT continues to face significant and long-standing financial challenges as a result 
of which it cannot continue in its current organisational form and must change.   

 
Following a rigorous options appraisal exercise in 2012, the RNHRD NHS FT identified its preferred 
strategic solution was to join with the Bath based Royal United Hospital NHS Trust (RUH).  
 
In April 2013 under the new Foundation Trust Provider Licence regime, the healthcare regulator 
Monitor wrote to the RNHRD NHS FT specifying enforcement undertakings on its provider licence. 
The principal actions were to submit by the end of June 2013 a strategic intent for resolving the 
financial issues, followed by the submission of a realistic and deliverable strategic plan by the end of 
September 2013. Both intent and plan “must aim to deliver a solution that is in the best interests of 
patients and maintains high quality services, whilst addressing the financial issues that have led to the 
RNHRD NHS FT’s non-compliance with its Licence”.  
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The strategic intent was reaffirmed in June 2013, with the route identified as acquisition, once the 
RUH had achieved foundation trust status and subject to all conditions being satisfied.  
 
The Trust’s strategic plan was submitted to Monitor for consideration in October 2013. Following a 
period of robust evaluation, key stakeholder engagement and consideration of the plan, the RNHRD 
NHS FT will continue to proceed with the RUH as its preferred strategic partner to ensure continuity of 
its high quality services through acquisition of the RNHRD NHS FT once the RUH have achieved FT 
status, and subject to all conditions being satisfied. 
 
The number of male and female employees 
Information about the number of male and female employees is outlined in the table below: 
 
  Directors Employees 
Gender Male 6 72 

Female 4 258 
Total 10 330 

NB: *Correct as of the 13/05/2014 based on a reporting date of the 31st March 2014 
 
 
The strategic report has been approved by the Board of Directors. 
 
The directors consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for patients, regulators and stakeholders to 
assess the NHS Foundation Trust's performance, business model and strategy. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Kirsty Matthews 
Chief Executive       22nd May 2014 
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Directors’ Report  
 
A review of the Trust’s business during 2013/14 can be found in the strategic report on pages 9 - 23. 
 
Important events at the RNHRD NHS FT since the end of 2013/14 include a change of Chairman for 
the organisation. Eugene Sullivan came to the end of his fixed-term contract and stood down as Chair 
of the Trust on 31st March 2014. Following a rigorous recruitment and interview process,   Luke March 
was appointed as new Chairman of the Trust and its Council of Governors. Luke joined the Trust on 
27th March 2014 and took up his role as Chairman on 1st April, 2014. 
 
In addition, Niall Bowen, Non Executive Director, stood down on 31st March 2014 following completion 
of his three year term of office and an additional three months extension. Following an extensive 
recruitment and interview process, the Trust has appointed Bernard Galton as Non Executive Director 
from 1st June 2014. Bernard is currently Director General, Workforce and Organisational Development 
for NHS Wales. 
 
Future developments 
As outlined in the strategic report, to ensure continuity of its high quality services 2014/15 will see the 
RNHRD NHS FT continuing to work towards acquisition by the RUH once they are authorised as a 
Foundation Trust, and subject to all conditions being satisfied. The RUH has restarted its application 
to achieve Foundation Trust status and the RNHRD NHS FT will now work with Monitor, the RUH and 
other key stakeholders on delivery of this objective.  
 
Directors 
The Directors of the RNHRD NHS FT who served, and their positions, during 2013/14 were: 
 
Name Role 
Peter Franklyn Chair (until August 13) 
Eugene Sullivan Chair (from August 13 until March 14) 
Luke March NED (from March 14, Chair from April 14) 
Mike Attenborough-Cox Non Executive Director (from August 13) 
Niall Bowen Non Executive Director (until March 14) 
Stephen Cole Non Executive Director (until August 13) 
Christopher Johns Non Executive Director 

Senior Independent Director  
Sir Peter Spencer KCB Non Executive Director 

Vice Chair  
Kirsty Matthews Chief Executive  
Dr Ashok Bhalla Medical Director 
Rachel Hepworth Director of Finance (until July 13) 
Tracey Cotterill Director of Finance (from June 13) 
Rayna McDonald Director of Operations and Clinical Practice, Director of Infection 

Prevention and Control and Deputy Chief Executive 
Hayley Sewell Director of Governance  
 
Research and Development  
2013/14 has been a successful year for Research and Development at the Trust. The number of 
projects on the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) portfolio and commercially funded 
projects continued to grow. The Trust has exceeded, by 36, its agreed NIHR network recruitment 
target of 700 new patients recruited to NIHR Portfolio studies for 2013/14. 
 
In 2013/14 there were 33 projects on the NIHR portfolio, an increase of 4 from 2012/13 and 
exceeding our local target set at 30. The Trust has been successful in increasing to five the more 
complex interventional studies (non-industry sponsored) as well as expanding the portfolio to include 
research in osteoporosis, chronic fatigue and hypermobility. 
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The Trust has seen continued success in both RNHRD NHS FT led and collaborative grant 
applications with 3 new grants, totalling £152k, awarded over 2013/14, which include: 

• Physiotherapist Sarah Wilson was awarded a grant (£17.5k) from the Physiotherapy 
Research Foundation to investigate psychological interventions in physiotherapy in chronic 
pain patients. 

• Dr Raj Sengupta has received a Pfizer grant (£35k) to look at work disability in patients with 
Ankylosing Spondylitis (AS).  

• Prof Neil McHugh/Dr Deepak Jadon received a Pfizer grant (£100k) for a follow on study 
looking at Genetic and Serum biomarkers in Psoriatic Arthritis and AS. 

• A further significant NIHR Fellowship was awarded to Dr Esther Crawley, lead for the 
paediatric CFS/ME service of £840k which will be hosted by the University of Bristol. 

 
A further seven grant applications were submitted during the year and are awaiting decision.  
 
The Trust funded an increase in pilot/small projects from its charitable funds during 2013/14.  These 
included projects in a variety of areas including; 

• Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (2), 
• Breast Radiation Injury Rehabilitation, 
• Ankylosing Spondylitis, 
• Myositis, 
• Pain. 

 
Significant progress in the use of research management software across all areas of the Trust’s 
portfolio has been achieved, along with the development of IT solutions to collect patient reported 
outcome measures for both clinical and research use.   
 
Researchers are supported by the Trust to engage in higher degrees and research training and 
several have been working towards PhD and Masters Degrees:  

• Sharon Grieve, research nurse funded by the NIHR, completed her MSc in Clinical Research 
in September 2013.  The degree from the University of Southampton included a qualitative 
study exploring the information needs of people with CRPS.  

• Dr Will Tillett submitted his PhD thesis based on work carried out at the trust into work 
disability for people with psoriatic arthritis. 

• Darren Hart, Clinical Measurement department, was awarded his doctorate from the 
University of Southampton, in January 2014. His research looked at ‘Direct and reflex motor 
effects of conventional and catch-like electrical stimulation for dropped foot correction.’ 

 
The Trust also supported projects which are not NIHR registered and these include several carried 
out by students or pilot studies collecting important data to substantiate external grant applications eg 
those funded by the RNHRD NHS FT Charitable Trust.   The Trust continues to work closely with local 
universities and other NHS Trusts to nurture links and extend research collaborations.  
 
Policies for potential and existing disabled employees   
The Trust operates within an equal opportunities policy framework and is recognised as a “two-ticks” 
disability friendly employer. We implemented our Equality Delivery System in 2011/12 and met our 
relevant publication duties as set down in the Equality Act 2010.   
 
In line with legislation, the Trust always makes reasonable adjustments and offers appropriate training 
for colleagues or job applicants with disabilities. In addition, all RNHRD NHS FT policies and 
procedures carry a full equality and diversity impact assessment. 
 
Information and involvement of employees   
In order to achieve a common awareness of issues and matters affecting the Trust, and to involve 
employees in decision making as appropriate, employees are regularly kept informed as to the 
performance of the Trust. Formal mechanisms to ensure they are informed and involved include: 
 

• the Links Partnership Committee (employees representative body) which meets monthly, 
• monthly Executive Management Group and bi-monthly Senior Management Group meetings, 
• involvement of employee representatives on the Council of Governors, 
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• Chief Executive monthly face-to-face briefing open to all staff which is followed up by a written 
briefing. 

 
In addition, to support the annual business planning process, a series of business planning meetings 
take place across the Trust in order to engage employees in business planning, to achieve a common 
awareness of financial and economic factors affecting the Trust, and to raise awareness of the 
important part they play in helping the Trust to achieve its organisational goals. 
 
Financial risk management 
There are no branches of the RNHRD NHS FT outside UK, and there is no exposure to the Trust 
associated with Financial Instruments.  
 
Political or charitable donations 
In 2013/14 the Trust did not make any political or charitable donations.   
 

Enhanced Quality Governance Reporting  
This section gives a brief overview of the arrangements in place to govern service quality and 
signpost to where quality governance and quality are discussed in more detail in the Annual Report. 
The Foundation Trust has had regard to Monitor’s quality governance framework in arriving at its 
overall evaluation of the organisations performance, internal control and board assurance framework 
and a summary of action plans to improve the governance of quality. 
 
Further detail can be found on the following pages of this annual report: 

• Information on how the Trust is using its Foundation Trust status to develop its services and 
improve patient care can be found on pages 9 -14 

• Performance against key healthcare targets can be found on page 62 - 66 
• Arrangements for monitoring improvements in the quality of healthcare and progress towards 

meeting any national and local targets, incorporating Care Quality Commission assessments 
and reviews and the Trusts response to any recommendations made can be found on page 
53 - 75 

• Progress towards targets as agreed with local commissioners and details of key quality 
improvements can be found on pages 54 – 58 and 60 

• Information on new or revised services can be found on page 9 - 14 
• Information on service improvements following staff or patient surveys/comments and Care 

Quality Commission reports can be found on page 54 - 58 and pages 61 
• Information on improvements in patient/carer information can be found on page 72 
• Information on complaints handling can be found on page 70- 72  

 
During 2013/14 the Trust met all the applicable national requirements and minimum standards for 
acute Trusts detailed in Monitor’s Compliance Framework/Risk Assessment Framework. 
 
Stakeholder Relations  
The RNHRD NHS FT works in partnership with a range of NHS Trusts to facilitate the delivery of high 
quality patient care.  These partnerships include service level agreements with the Royal United 
Hospital NHS Trust for delivery of a wide range of support services such as Microbiology, Pharmacy, 
library facilities and specialist medical and nursing staff who provide care in conjunction with RNHRD 
NHS FT staff. We employ a range of specialist staff from other NHS Trusts to support the delivery of 
specialist paediatric services, orthopaedics and dermatology. During 2013/14, we continued to work in 
partnership with Macmillan and the NHS England Specialist Commissioning to deliver services for 
cancer survivors. 
 
Statement as to disclosure to auditors 
In so far as the Board of Directors is aware, there is no relevant information of which the auditors are 
unaware, and the Directors have taken all of the steps that they should take as Directors to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that 
information. 
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Remuneration report  
In 2013/2014 remuneration for Executive and non-voting Directors was decided by the Remuneration 
Committee, in accordance with the existing terms and conditions of service of these Directors, with 
changes made to the terms and condition of one Executive Director which related to a reduction in 
hours from January 2014. The Remuneration Committee uses external information, and pay and 
employment conditions of other Trust employees, to assess market and NHS factors relating to 
remuneration to advise on, and determine, appropriate levels of remuneration for the Trust’s 
Executive Directors taking into account the Trust’s size and complexity. In addition, in determining 
Executive Director’s remuneration for the year 2014/15, the Remuneration Committee commissioned 
the Hay Group to conduct an external salary survey, for which the Trust was invoiced £7k. On receipt 
of the report the Remuneration Committee satisfied itself that the advice received was objective and 
independent. 
 
Membership of the Committee is made up of the Trust Chair and other Non-Executive Directors. The 
Remuneration Committee met three times during the year. 
 
Name Role Attendance from 3 meetings 
Peter Franklyn Chair, and committee Chair 1/1 
Eugene Sullivan Chair, and committee Chair 2/2 
Niall Bowen Non Executive Director 3/3 
Stephen Cole  Non Executive Director 1/1 
Mike Attenborough-Cox Non Executive Director 2/2 
Chris Johns Non Executive Director 3/3 
Sir Peter Spencer KCB Non Executive Director 2/3 

 
Kirsty Matthews, Chief Executive, except in relation to her own remuneration, and Marianne Spaans, 
Head of Human Resources were in attendance for part of two of the meetings and Luke March, 
Chairman of the RNHRD NHS FT from 1st April 2014 was in attendance for one of the meetings. 
 
Pensions and remuneration    
Accounting policies for pensions and other retirement benefits are set out in note 1.5 and 8.1 to the 
Accounts. Pension benefits are based on a retirement age of 60, no Director has contractual pension 
rights to additional benefits in the event of early retirement. Directors are all members of the NHS 
Pension Scheme and are entitled to the benefits allowed to all members. Details of senior employees’ 
remuneration can be found in in the table below and in notes 7.4 to 7.5 on the Accounts pages 125 to 
128. This is subject to audit, but the remainder of the remuneration report is not subject to audit. 
 
Remuneration of senior employees 

 Salary 
 

£’000 

Taxable Benefits
 
£ 

Increase in value of 
Pension Related 

Benefits 
£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

 2013/14 2012/13 2013/14 2012/13 2013/14 2012/13 
restated 

2013/14 2012/13 
restated 

Kirsty 
Matthews, 
Chief 
Executive 

85-90 85-90 0 0 27 23 110-
115 

110-
115 

Dr Ashok 
Bhalla, 
Medical 
Director 

135-
140 

150 -
155 

100 0 15 29 150-
155 

180-
185 

Rachel 
Hepworth, 
Director of 
Finance( to 
July 2013) 

20 - 25 75 – 80 0 100 19 75 40-45 150 -
155 
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Tracey 
Cotterill, 
Director of 
Finance (from 
June 2013) 

60-65 N/A 100 N/A N/A N/A 60-65 N/A 

Rayna 
McDonald, 
Director of 
Operations 
and Clinical 
Practice, 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 

75 – 80 50 – 55 0 0 16 0 90-95 50-55 

Annie Kelly, 
Director of 
Operations 
and Clinical 
Practice (to 
July 2013) 

N/A 30 - 35   N/A 0    N/A (55) N/A N/A 

Hayley 
Sewell, 
Director of 
Governance 

60 – 65 60 – 65 0 0 15 3 75-80 65-70 

Non Executive Directors 
Peter 
Franklyn, 
Chair 

10 – 15 25 – 30 0 0 0 0 10 -15  25 - 30 

Luke March 
NED (from 
March 2014, 
Chair from 
April 2014) 

0 – 5 N/A 0 N/A 0 N/A 0 – 5 N/A 

Eugene 
Sullivan Chair 
(from August 
2013) 

30 – 35 N/A 0 N/A 0 N/A 30 - 35 N/A 

Stephen Cole 0 – 5 5 – 10 100 0 0 0 0 -5 5 – 10 

Christopher 
Johns 

5- 10 5 -10 100 0 0 0 5 – 10 5 -10 

Peter 
Spencer 

5 - 10 5 – 10 100 0 0 0 5 – 10 5 – 10 

Niall Bowen 5 – 10 5 – 10 0 0 0 0 5 – 10 5 – 10 

Mike 
Attenborough- 
Cox (from 
August 2013) 

5 – 10 N/A 600 N/A 0 N/A 5 - 10 N/A 

NB: The calculation of the increase/(decrease) in the value of Directors’ pension related benefits is determined in 
accordance with the ‘HMRC’ method.  
 
The notional movement in the value of pension benefits of Directors is funded by a combination of 
Trust pension contributions, the Directors contribution and Government underwriting of scheme 
liabilities. The cost to the Trust of funding its share of these obligations is disclosed on pages, 124-
126 note 7.4 to the Annual Accounts. Restated figures are based on new information received in 
2013/14 from the NHS pensions agency. 
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Statement of the policy on the remuneration of senior managers  
The remuneration of Executive posts was agreed at 1% percent uplift from April 2013 in line with the 
national NHS cost of living increase for staff. There are no remuneration arrangements subject to 
performance conditions.   
 
Name Role Appointed/Reappointed Current 

length of 
Term 

Notice 
period 

Peter Franklyn Chair (until August 2014) August 2010 3 years 3 
months 

Eugene Sullivan Chair (until March 2014) August 2013 8 months 3 
months 

Luke March Non Executive Director 
(Chair from 1st April 2014) 

March 2014 12 months 3 
months 

Niall Bowen Non Executive Director 
(until March 2014) 

December 2010 
reappointed December 
2013 

3 months 3 
months 

Stephen Cole Non Executive Director 
(until August 2013) 

April 2009 
reappointed August 2010 
reappointed July 2013 

3 months 3 
months 

Mike 
Attenborough-Cox 

Non Executive Director August 2013 
reappointed March 2014 

1 year 3 
months 

Christopher Johns Non Executive Director October 2007 
reappointed October 
2010 
reappointed October  
2013 
reappointed April 2014 

1 year 3 
months 

Sir Peter Spencer 
KCB 

Non Executive Director December 2007 
reappointed December 
2010 
reappointed December 
2013 
reappointed April 2014 

1 year 3 
months 

Kirsty Matthews Chief Executive August 2010 N/A 3 
months 

Rachel Hepworth Director of Finance 
(until July 2013)  

January 2012 2 years  6 
months 

Tracey Cotterill Director of Finance June 2013 N/A 3 
months 

Dr Ashok Bhalla Medical Director August 2011 3 years 3 
months 

Rayna McDonald Director of Operations and 
Clinical Practice  

May 2010 N/A 3 
months 

Hayley Sewell Director of Governance  July 2005 N/A 3 
months 

  
Non Executive Directors have been appointed and reappointed in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of office decided by the Council of Governors at a general meeting as stated in the 
constitution. Executive Directors are on permanent employment contracts, with terms and conditions 
consistent with those for Agenda for Change.  Directors are covered by the redundancy and 
retirement provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. There are no additional early termination 
provisions in place. Full details are included in the Accounts on pages 125 – 128. 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-
paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.  The 
annualised banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in the RNHRD NHS FT in the financial 
year 2013/14 was £135k-£140k.  This was 5.8 times the median remuneration of the workforce, which 
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was £23,686. The Median Total Remuneration has decreased from 6.5 in 2012/13, because the 
highest paid director no longer works full time, a comparable ratio compared against a full time 
equivalent of the Highest Paid Director would be 6.1. 
 
No employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director. Remuneration ranged 
from £10k-£15k to £135k-£140k. Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-
related pay, benefits-in-kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions 
and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.  
 
Performance of the Board and Senior Management team is assessed through the Trust’s annual 
appraisal system whereby staff are set individual objectives and development plans which support 
delivery of the organisations strategy and performance targets. 
 
The Chair leads in the annual appraisal of the Non Executive Directors with input from the Council of 
Governors.  The Senior Independent Non Executive Director leads in the annual appraisal of the 
Chair with input from the Council of Governors. 
 
Director and Governor Expenses 
Details relating to the expenses of the Trust’s Directors and Governors, during the reporting period, 
are as follows: 
 
Directors and Governors Total Expenses 
Directors 2013/14 2012/13 

Number of Directors holding Office at any time in the period 13 11 
Average Number of Directors holding Office during the period 10 10.4 
Total Number of Directors receiving Expenses in the period 12 9 
Aggregate sum of Expenses paid to Directors in the reporting 
period (Nearest £100) 

£10,400 £5,300 

 
Governors 2013/14 2012/13 

Number of Governors holding Office at any time in the period 36 36 
Total Number of Governors receiving Expenses in the period 1 4 
Aggregate sum of Expenses paid to Governors in the reporting 
period (Nearest £100) 

£0 £200 

NB: four of the elected governors are staff representatives and are paid a salary and expenses if applicable for their normal 
staffing duties not as Governors. Any such amounts have been excluded from this analysis. 
 
Off-payroll arrangement disclosures 
The table below outlines all off-payroll engagements as of 31st March 2014, for more than £220 per 
day and that last for longer than six months: 
 
No. of existing engagements, as of 21 March 2014 1 
Of which…  
No that have existed for between 1 and 2 years at time of 
reporting 

1 

*The existing off-payroll engagement outlined above has been subject to a risk based assessment as to whether assurance has 
been required that the individual is paying the right amount of tax and this assurance has been requested and received. 
 
The table below outlines all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2013 and 31st March 2014, for more than £220 per day and that last for 
longer than six months: 
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No. of new engagements, or those that reached six months 
in duration, between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 

 
1 

No. of the above which include contractual clauses giving 
the trust the right to request assurance in relation to income 
tax and National Insurance obligations 

 
0* 

No for whom assurance has been requested 1 
No for whom assurance has been requested and received 1 
*No contractual clause exists to request assurance, but the Trust has requested assurance in relation to income tax and 
National Insurance for the one engagement above and has received assurance that the individual is paying the right amount of 
tax. 
 
No off-payroll engagements related to Board members of senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility, between 1st April 2013 and 31st March 2014. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Kirsty Matthews 
 
Chief Executive        22nd May 2014   
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NHS Foundation Trust Code of 
Governance 
 
The Trust considers that it complies with the specific disclosure requirements set out in Monitor’s best 
practice advisory documents “The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance” and FT Annual 
Reporting Manual (FT ARM). Particular provisions within the Code and FT ARM addressed in this 
report are as follows: 
Code of 
Governance 
reference or 
FT ARM 

Summary Page 
reference 

A.1.1 The schedule of matters reserved for the board of directors should 
include a clear statement detailing the roles and responsibilities of the 
Council of Governors. This statement should also describe how any 
disagreements between the Council of Governors and the board of 
directors will be resolved. The annual report should include this schedule 
of matters or a summary statement of how the board of directors and the 
Council of Governors operate, including a summary of the types of 
decisions to be taken by each of the boards and which are delegated to 
the executive management of the board of directors.  

38 - 42 

A.1.2 The annual report should identify the chairperson, the deputy chairperson 
(where there is one), the chief executive, the senior independent director 
(see A.4.1) and the chairperson and members of the nominations, audit 
and remuneration committees. It should also set out the number of 
meetings of the board and those committees and individual attendance 
by directors.  

43 - 47 

A.5.3 The annual report should identify the members of the council of 
governors, including a description of the constituency or organisation that 
they represent, whether they were elected or appointed, and the duration 
of their appointments. The annual report should also identify the 
nominated lead governor.  

39 - 40 

FT ARM The annual report should include a statement about the number of 
meetings of the council of governors and individual attendance by 
governors and directors.  

39 - 40  

B.1.1 The board of directors should identify in the annual report each non-
executive director it considers to be independent, with reasons where 
necessary.  

45 

B.1.4 The board of directors should include in its annual report a description of 
each director’s skills, expertise and experience. Alongside this, in the 
annual report, the board should make a clear statement about its own 
balance, completeness and appropriateness to the requirements of the 
NHS foundation trust.  

43 - 46 

FT ARM The annual report should include a brief description of the length of 
appointments of the non-executive directors, and how they may be 
terminated  

29 

B.2.10 A separate section of the annual report should describe the work of the 
nominations committee(s), including the process it has used in relation to 
board appointments.  

48 - 49 

FT ARM The disclosure in the annual report on the work of the nominations 
committee should include an explanation if neither an external search 
consultancy nor open advertising has been used in the appointment of a 
chair or non-executive director.  

49 

B.3.1     A chairperson’s other significant commitments should be disclosed to the 
council of governors before appointment and included in the annual 
report. Changes to such commitments should be reported to the council 
of governors as they arise, and included in the next annual report.  

43 - 44 
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B.5.6 Governors should canvass the opinion of the trust’s members and the 
public, and for appointed governors the body they represent, on the NHS 
foundation trust’s forward plan, including its objectives, priorities and 
strategy, and their views should be communicated to the board of 
directors. The annual report should contain a statement as to how this 
requirement has been undertaken and satisfied.  

51 & 80 

FT ARM If, during the financial year, the Governors have exercised their power* 
under paragraph 10C** of schedule 7 of the NHS Act 2006, then 
information on this must be included in the annual report.  
This is required by paragraph 26(2)(aa) of schedule 7 to the NHS Act 
2006, as amended by section 151 (8) of the Health and Social Care Act 
2012.  
* Power to require one or more of the directors to attend a governors’ 
meeting for the purpose of obtaining information about the foundation 
trust’s performance of its functions or the directors’ performance of their 
duties (and deciding whether to propose a vote on the foundation trust’s 
or directors’ performance).  
** As inserted by section 151 (6) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012)  

40 

B.6.1 The board of directors should state in the annual report how performance 
evaluation of the board, its committees, and its directors, including the 
chairperson, has been conducted.  

43, 47 

B.6.2 Where there has been external evaluation of the board, the external 
facilitator should be identified in the annual report and a statement made 
as to whether they have any other connection to the trust.  

43 

C.1.1 The directors should explain in the annual report their responsibility for 
preparing the annual report and accounts, and state that they consider 
the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and 
understandable and provide the information necessary for patients, 
regulators and other stakeholders to assess the NHS foundation trust’s 
performance, business model and strategy. Directors should also explain 
their approach to quality governance in the Annual Governance 
Statement (within the annual report).  

97 - 104 

C.2.1 The annual report should contain a statement that the board has 
conducted a review of the effectiveness of its system of internal controls.  

102 

C.2.2 A trust should disclose in the annual report:  
(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function is structured and 
what role it performs; or  
(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and the 
processes it employs for evaluating and continually improving the 
effectiveness of its risk management and internal control processes.  

47 

C.3.5 If the council of governors does not accept the audit committee’s 
recommendation on the appointment, reappointment or removal of an 
external auditor, the board of directors should include in the annual report 
a statement from the audit committee explaining the recommendation 
and should set out reasons why the council of governors has taken a 
different position.  

N/A 

C.3.9 A separate section of the annual report should describe the work of the 
audit committee in discharging its responsibilities. The report should 
include:  
� the significant issues that the committee considered in relation to 
financial statements, operations and compliance, and how these issues 
were addressed;  
� an explanation of how it has assessed the effectiveness of the external 
audit process and the approach taken to the appointment or re-
appointment of the external auditor, the value of external audit services 
and information on the length of tenure of the current audit firm and when 
a tender was last conducted; and  
� if the external auditor provides non-audit services, the value of the non-
audit services provided and an explanation of how auditor objectivity and 
independence are safeguarded.  

47 - 48 
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D.1.3 Where an NHS foundation trust releases an executive director, for 
example to serve as a non-executive director elsewhere, the 
remuneration disclosures of the annual report should include a statement 
of whether or not the director will retain such earnings. 

N/A 

E.1.5 The board of directors should state in the annual report the steps they 
have taken to ensure that the members of the board, and in particular the 
non-executive directors, develop an understanding of the views of 
governors and members about the NHS foundation trust, for example 
through attendance at meetings of the council of governors, direct face-
to-face contact, surveys of members’ opinions and consultations.  

38 - 40 

E.1.6 The board of directors should monitor how representative the NHS 
foundation trust's membership is and the level and effectiveness of 
member engagement and report on this in the annual report.  

38 - 42 

E.1.4 Contact procedures for members who wish to communicate with 
governors and/or directors should be made clearly available to members 
on the NHS foundation trust's website and in the annual report.  

41 

FT ARM The annual report should include:  
• a brief description of the eligibility requirements for joining 

different membership constituencies, including the boundaries for 
public membership;  

• information on the number of members and the number of 
members in each constituency; and  

• a summary of the membership strategy, an assessment of the 
membership and a description of any steps taken during the year 
to ensure a representative membership [see also E.1.6 above], 
including progress towards any recruitment targets for members.  

50 - 52 

FT ARM The annual report should disclose details of company directorships or 
other material interests in companies held by governors and/or directors 
where those companies or related parties are likely to do business, or are 
possibly seeking to do business, with the NHS foundation trust. As each 
NHS foundation trust must have registers of governors’ and directors’ 
interests which are available to the public, an alternative disclosure is for 
the annual report to simply state how members of the public can gain 
access to the registers instead of listing all the interests in the annual 
report.  
 

43 - 46 

 
During 2013/14 the trust complied with the following requirements detailed in the Code of 
Governance; 
Code of 
Governance 
reference 

Summary 

A.1.4 The board should ensure that adequate systems and processes are maintained to 
measure and monitor the NHS foundation trust’s effectiveness, efficiency and 
economy as well as the quality of its health care delivery  

A.1.5 The board should ensure that relevant metrics, measures, milestones and 
accountabilities are developed and agreed so as to understand and assess progress 
and delivery of performance  
 

A.1.6 The board should report on its approach to clinical governance.  
A.1.7 The chief executive as the accounting officer should follow the procedure set out by 

Monitor for advising the board and the council and for recording and submitting 
objections to decisions.  

A.1.8 The board should establish the constitution and standards of conduct for the NHS 
foundation trust and its staff in accordance with NHS values and accepted standards 
of behaviour in public life  

A.1.9 The board should operate a code of conduct that builds on the values of the NHS 
foundation trust and reflect high standards of probity and responsibility.  

A.1.10 The NHS foundation trust should arrange appropriate insurance to cover the risk of 
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legal action against its directors.  
A.3.1 The chairperson should, on appointment by the council, meet the independence 

criteria set out in B.1.1. A chief executive should not go on to be the chairperson of the 
same NHS foundation trust.  

A.4.1 In consultation with the council, the board should appoint one of the independent non-
executive directors to be the senior independent director.  

A.4.2 The chairperson should hold meetings with the non-executive directors without the 
executives present. 

A.4.3 Where directors have concerns that cannot be resolved about the running of the NHS 
foundation trust or a proposed action, they should ensure that their concerns are 
recorded in the board minutes. 

A.5.1 The council of governors should meet sufficiently regularly to discharge its duties. 
A.5.2 The council of governors should not be so large as to be unwieldy. 
A.5.4 The roles and responsibilities of the council of governors should be set out in a written 

document.  
A.5.5 The chairperson is responsible for leadership of both the board and the council but the 

governors also have a responsibility to make the arrangements work and should take 
the lead in inviting the chief executive to their meetings and inviting attendance by 
other executives and non-executives, as appropriate.  

A.5.6 The council should establish a policy for engagement with the board of directors for 
those circumstances when they have concerns. 

A.5.7 The council should ensure its interaction and relationship with the board of directors is 
appropriate and effective.  

A.5.8 The council should only exercise its power to remove the chairperson or any non-
executive directors after exhausting all means of engagement with the board. 

A.5.9 The council should receive and consider other appropriate information required to 
enable it to discharge its duties.  

B.1.2 At least half the board, excluding the chairperson, should comprise non-executive 
directors determined by the board to be independent.  

B.1.3 No individual should hold, at the same time, positions of director and governor of any 
NHS foundation trust.  

B.2.1 The nominations committee or committees, with external advice as appropriate, are 
responsible for the identification and nomination of executive and non-executive 
directors.  

B.2.2 Directors on the board of directors and governors on the council should meet the “fit 
and proper” persons test described in the provider licence.  

B.2.3 The nominations committee(s) should regularly review the structure, size and 
composition of the board and make recommendations for changes where appropriate. 

B.2.4 The chairperson or an independent non-executive director should chair the 
nominations committee(s).  

B.2.5 The governors should agree with the nominations committee a clear process for the 
nomination of a new chairperson and non-executive directors.  

B.2.6 Where an NHS foundation trust has two nominations committees, the nominations 
committee responsible for the appointment of non-executive directors should consist 
of a majority of governors.  

B.2.7 When considering the appointment of non-executive directors, the council should take 
into account the views of the board and the nominations committee on the 
qualifications, skills and experience required for each position.  

B.2.8 The annual report should describe the process followed by the council in relation to 
appointments of the chairperson and non-executive directors.  

B.2.9 An independent external adviser should not be a member of or have a vote on the 
nominations committee(s).  

B.3.3 The board should not agree to a full-time executive director taking on more than one 
non-executive directorship of an NHS foundation trust or another organisation of 
comparable size and complexity.  

B.5.1 The board and the council governors should be provided with high-quality information 
appropriate to their respective functions and relevant to the decisions they have to 
make.  

B.5.2 The board and in particular non-executive directors, may reasonably wish to challenge 
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assurances received from the executive management. They need not seek to appoint 
a relevant adviser for each and every subject area that comes before the board, 
although they should, wherever possible, ensure that they have sufficient information 
and understanding to enable challenge and to take decisions on an informed basis.  

B.5.3 The board should ensure that directors, especially non-executive directors, have 
access to the independent professional advice, at the NHS foundation trust’s expense, 
where they judge it necessary to discharge their responsibilities as directors.  

B.5.4 Committees should be provided with sufficient resources to undertake their duties.  
B.6.3 The senior independent director should lead the performance evaluation of the 

chairperson.  
B.6.4 The chairperson, with assistance of the board secretary, if applicable, should use the 

performance evaluations as the basis for determining individual and collective 
professional development programmes for non-executive directors relevant to their 
duties as board members.  

B.6.5 Led by the chairperson, the council should periodically assess their collective 
performance and they should regularly communicate to members and the public 
details on how they have discharged their responsibilities.  

B.6.6 There should be a clear policy and a fair process, agreed and adopted by the council, 
for the removal from the council of any governor who consistently and unjustifiability 
fails to attend the meetings of the council or has an actual or potential conflict of 
interest which prevents the proper exercise of their duties.  

B.8.1 The remuneration committee should not agree to an executive member of the board 
leaving the employment of an NHS foundation trust, except in accordance with the 
terms of their contract of employment, including but not limited to service of their full 
notice period and/or material reductions in their time commitment to the role, without 
the board first having completed and approved a full risk assessment.  

C.1.2 The directors should report that the NHS foundation trust is a going concern with 
supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary.  

C.1.3 At least annually and in a timely manner, the board should set out clearly its financial, 
quality and operating objectives for the NHS foundation trust and disclose sufficient 
information, both quantitative and qualitative, of the NHS foundation trust’s business 
and operation, including clinical outcome data, to allow members and governors to 
evaluate its performance.  

C.3.1 The board should establish an audit committee composed of at least three members 
who are all independent non-executive directors.  

C.3.3 The council should take the lead in agreeing with the audit committee the criteria for 
appointing, re-appointing and removing external auditors.  

C.3.6 The NHS foundation trust should appoint an external auditor for a period of time which 
allows the auditor to develop a strong understanding of the finances, operations and 
forward plans of the NHS foundation trust.  

C.3.7 When the council ends an external auditor’s appointment in disputed circumstances, 
the chairperson should write to Monitor informing it of the reasons behind the decision. 

C.3.8 The audit committee should review arrangements that allow staff of the NHS 
foundation trust and other individuals where relevant, to raise, in confidence, concerns 
about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting and control, clinical 
quality, patient safety or other matters.  

D.1.1 Any performance-related elements of the remuneration of executive directors should 
be designed to align their interests with those of patients, service users and taxpayers 
and to give these directors keen incentives to perform at the highest levels.  

D.1.2 Levels of remuneration for the chairperson and other non-executive directors should 
reflect the time commitment and responsibilities of their roles.  

D.1.4 The remuneration committee should carefully consider what compensation 
commitments (including pension contributions and all other elements) their directors’ 
terms of appointments would give rise to in the event of early termination.  

D.2.2 The remuneration committee should have delegated responsibility for setting 
remuneration for all executive directors, including pension rights and any 
compensation payments.  

D.2.3 The council should consult external professional advisers to market-test the 
remuneration levels of the chairperson and other non-executives at least once every 
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three years and when they intend to make a material change to the remuneration of a 
non-executive.  

E.1.2 The board should clarify in writing how the public interests of patients and the local 
community will be represented, including its approach for addressing the overlap and 
interface between governors and any local consultative forums.  

E.1.3 The chairperson should ensure that the views of governors and members are 
communicated to the board as a whole.  

E.2.1 The board should be clear as to the specific third party bodies in relation to which the 
NHS foundation trust has a duty to co-operate.  

E.2.2 The board should ensure that effective mechanisms are in place to co-operate with 
relevant third party bodies and that collaborative and productive relationships are 
maintained with relevant stakeholders at appropriate levels of seniority in each.  
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Council of Governors  
This Foundation Trust has a framework of local and national accountability through members, and of 
governance through our Council of Governors and Board of Directors. Our Council of Governors has 
an invaluable role in representing members’ views, contributing to the Trust’s strategic direction and 
ensuring that the Board of Directors meets its terms of authorisation. 
 
Relationship with the Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is collectively responsible for the exercise of the powers and the performance 
of the Trust. The role of the Board of Directors is to provide active leadership of the Trust.  It is 
responsible for the operational running of the Trust and for ensuring compliance with terms of 
authorisation, constitution, mandatory guidance issued by Monitor, relevant statutory requirements 
and contractual obligations. 
 
The Board sets the Trust’s strategic aims, but in setting forward plans takes into consideration the 
views of the Council of Governors. The Board is responsible for ensuring that the necessary finance 
resources are in place for the NHS Foundation Trust to meet its objectives. 
 
The Council has established a policy for engagement with the Board of Directors for those 
circumstances when they have concerns.   
 
The Council of Governors and Board of Directors interaction and relationship is appropriate and 
effective. Two Governors are in attendance at each open Board meeting and Audit Committee 
meeting and Executive and Non-Executive Directors attend the Council of Governors meetings, and 
present information to these meetings to enable interaction with the Council of Governors. 
 
The Council of Governors 
The Council of Governors provides a direct link to our community and represents the interest of 
members and stakeholder organisations in the stewardship and development of the Trust, and 
ensures that the Trust is responsive to the needs and values of all stakeholders; patients, public, staff 
and partners organisations. The Council of Governors holds the Board to account for the performance 
of the Trust.  The Council feeds back information about the Trust, its vision and its performance to the 
members and stakeholder organisations which appointed them.   
 
The Council of Governors roles and responsibilities are set out in the Governors’ Standing Orders 
document. The Trust’s Constitution details the set process for the removal of a governor who 
consistently fails to attend the meetings of the Council of Governors. In addition the Council of 
Governors has statutory responsibilities which are set out on page 42.  
 
Representatives from the Council of Governors attend the Board Meetings on a rotational basis and 
present the views of the Council and the members.  Non-Executive Directors have a link into one of 
three Governors committees: Governance, Service Development and Delivery, and Membership.  
This allows individual members of the Board to understand the views of the Council of Governors.  
Further feedback is directed to the Board through the Chair of the Board who regularly meets with the 
Lead Governor.  Governors have actions for 2014/15 to review their Ways of Working document and 
committee structure. 
 
Governors of the Council are appointed or elected for a two or three-year period.  At the end of this 
period, elected Governors have the opportunity to stand for re-election and appointed Governors may 
be re-appointed by their organisation for a further two or three-year period.  During 2013/14 the 
Constitution was amended to allow the length of a Governors term of office to be extended by one 
year in exceptional circumstances, for example in the case of planned merger, acquisition, separation/ 
dissolution, when an elected governor is coming to the end of their period of office. 
 
Governors held an Annual Members’ Day on 12th December 2013 where they asked members how 
they would like to see RNHRD NHS FT services delivered in the future.  The information they gained 
fed into discussions with the Board of Directors and clinical service leads regarding clinical services’ 
business plans for 2014/15.  Governors also canvassed the opinion of patients, through monthly 
coffee mornings and walkrounds, about the services provided by the hospital and gave this feedback 
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when the service leads presented their forward plans to the Governors.  Appointed governors 
represented key partner organisations, who represent the patients and the conditions treated at the 
hospital, these governors attended Council of Governor meetings and provided the opinion of the 
people they represent to the Board of Directors. 
 
Led by the chair the council has assessed their collective performance.  The governors have 
completed their actions from their 2012/13 self-assessment and have actions for 2014/15 to review 
their Ways of Working document and committee structure.  They communicated to members and 
public on how they have discharged their responsibilities at the Annual Members’ Day in December 
2013. 
 
Constituencies 
The Council of Governors is made up of three constituencies as well as appointed partnership 
organisations as follows: 

• The Public constituency is made up of non-patient members. 
• The Patient constituency is made up of patients of the Trust. 
• The Staff constituency is made up of employees of the Trust. 

 
The table below shows the composition of the Council of Governors during 2013/14, the constituency 
or organisation each Governor represents, how the Governors were elected/ appointed and the length 
of office. There have been six formal meetings of the Council of Governors between April 2013 and 
March 2014. Attendance by Governors, Directors and Non-Executive Directors is also shown in the 
table below. 
 
Elected Governors – Public constituency 
 
Name Date elected 

/ re-elected 
Term of 
Office 

Attendance at 
formal meetings 
(out of 6)  

Judith Beresford Smith 01/04/2011 3 3/6 
Hilary Elms 01/04/2011 3 * 5/6 
Peter Miles (until 07/10/13) 01/04/2011 3 2/2 
Francis Ring 01/04/2011 3 * 5/6 
Ben Rogers 01/04/2011 3 * 6/6 
Shirley Arayan 01/04/2011 3 2/6 
Favre Armstrong 01/04/2011 3 * 6/6 
Rosemarie Cole (until 23/05/13) 01/04/2011 3 0/1 
David Hawkins 07/03/14 3 0/0 
Mary-Jane Middlehurst 07/03/14 3 0/0 
 
Elected Governors – Patient constituency 
 
Name Date 

elected / 
re-elected 

Term of 
Office 

Attendance at 
formal 
meetings 

Judith Plante Cleall 01/04/2011 3 * 3/6 
Donn Boyland 01/04/2011 3 * 6/6 
Robert Slade (Nominated Lead Governor) 01/04/2011 3 * 4/6 
Judy Coles  01/04/2011 3 * 4/6 
Jean Leitner Hartley 01/04/2011 3 4/6 
Vivienne Pozo 01/04/2011 3 * 5/6 
Jackie Vincent 23/05/2013 3  1/6 
Kathy Hawkins 30/07/2013 3 3/4 
Roger Mason 30/07/2013 3 2/4 
Christine Owen 07/03/2014 3 0/0 
Stewart Entwistle 07/03/2014 3 0/0 
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Elected Governors – Staff 
 
Name Date elected / re-

elected 
Term of 
Office 

Attendance at 
formal meetings

Yvonne Glenn 01/04/2011 3 * 6/6 
Nikki Frayling 23/11/2012 3 5/6 
Dr Philip Hamann 23/11/2012 3 5/6 
 
Appointed Governors 
 
Name Organisation Appointed / 

re-appointed  
Term of 
Office 

Attendance at 
formal meetings

Gordon Taylor Bath University 03/11/2013 2 3/3 
Sara Brooks Action for ME (until 26/03/2014) 29/01/2012 2 4/6 
Dr Anthony 
Clarke 

BANES Council 21/05/2010 3* 3/6 

Peter Haines Headway 25/03/2013 2 5/6 
Dr Nick Hall BIRD (until 25/10/2013) 26/05/2012 2 3/3 
Jo Hunt Arthritis Care 24/04/2012 2 0/6 
Debbie Cook National Ankylosing Spondylitis 

Society 
20/11/2011 2* 0/6 

Sue Meadows National Osteoporosis Society 28/02/2013 2 2/6 
*Following a change to the Trust’s constitution, to extend the length of a Governors term of office by 
one year in exceptional circumstances, for example in the case of planned merger, acquisition, 
separation/ dissolution, when an elected governor is coming to the end of their period of office, these 
governors have agreed to extend their term of office. 
 
Directors’ attendance 
 
Name Position Attendance at 

formal meetings
(out of 6)  

Peter Franklyn Trust Chair & Chair of the Council of Governors  
(until August 3) 

2/2 

Eugene Sullivan Trust Chair & Chair of the Council of Governors  
(from August 13) 

4/4 

Luke March NED (from March 13, Chair from April 14) 0/0 
Stephen Cole  Non Executive Director (until August 13) 1/2 
Mike Attenborough-Cox Non Executive Director (from August 13) 1/4 
Niall Bowen  Non Executive Director (until March 13) 5/6 
Christopher Johns Non Executive Director 3/6 
Sir Peter Spencer KCB Non Executive Director 2/6 
Kirsty Matthews Chief Executive 6/6 
Rachel Hepworth Director of Finance (until July 13) 1/1 
Tracey Cotterill Director of Finance (from July 13) 4/5 
Dr Ashok Bhalla Medical Director 1/6 
Rayna McDonald Director of Operations and Clinical Practice 2/6 
Hayley Sewell Director of Governance 6/6 
 
Elections to the Council of Governors 
The following elections were held during 2013/14: 
 
Patient governor elections: 
In April 2013 the Trust completed a successful uncontested nomination process for one patient seat 
of the Council of Governors. 
 
 



41 
 

Patient governor elections: 
In June 2013 the Trust completed a successful uncontested nomination process for two patient seats 
of the Council of Governors. 
 
Patient and Public governor elections: 
In March 2014 the Trust completed a successful uncontested nomination process for two patient and 
two public seats of the Council of Governors. 
 
Vacancies on the Council of Governors 
The vacancies on the Council of Governors at the end of 2013/14 were as follows: 
 
Constituency Vacancies 
Public 3 
Patient 0 
Staff 1 
Appointed 3 
 
The Council of Governors met formally six times and informally once during 2013/14.  Governors are 
requested to attend all of these meetings.  In addition to this time commitment for Council of 
Governors meetings, the Trust holds an Annual Members Day, which the Council are asked to attend. 
The Council of Governors also have the opportunity to be involved in sub-groups and promotional 
work. 
 
All Council of Governors complete an annual declaration of interest. This information is available from 
the Membership Support Team: 
 
RNHRD NHS Foundation Trust 
FREEPOST SN1301 
Upper Borough Walls 
Bath 
BA1 1RL 
Telephone: 01225 465941 x295 
Email: nhsft@rnhrd.nhs.uk, Website: www.rnhrd.nhs.uk  
 
Members can contact the Council of Governors or request information on Council of Governors 
meetings and attendance by Council Governors at these meetings through the Membership Support 
Team. 
 
The Monitor Code of Governance and the Trust’s Constitution set out various powers of, and 
obligations upon Council Governors, as summarised below: 
 
Statutory duties 
The statutory duties of NHS foundation trust governors are set out in the National Health Service Act 
2006 and the Health and Social Care Act 2012. The duties are as follows: 
 
From the National Health Service Act 2006 

• appoint and, if appropriate, remove the chair; 
• appoint and, if appropriate, remove the other non-executive directors; 
• decide the remuneration and allowances, and the other terms and conditions of office, of the 

chair and the other non-executive directors; 
• approve the appointment of the chief executive; 
• appoint and, if appropriate, remove the NHS foundation trust’s external auditor; and 
• receive the NHS foundation trust’s annual accounts, any report of the auditor on them and the 

annual report. 

In addition, in preparing the NHS foundation trust’s forward plan, the board of directors must have 
regard to the views of the council of governors. 
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From the Health and Social Care Act 2012 

• Hold the non-executive directors individually and collectively to account for the performance 
of the board of directors. 

• Represent the interests of the members of the trust as a whole and of the public. 
• 'Significant transactions' must be approved by the governors. Approval means that more than 

half of the governors voting agree with the transaction. The trust may choose to include a 
description of 'significant transactions' in the trust’s constitution. 

• The council of governors must approve an application by the trust to enter into a merger, 
acquisition, separation or dissolution. In this case, approval means more than half of all 
governors agree with the application. 

• Governors must decide whether the trust’s private patient work would significantly interfere 
with the trust’s principal purpose i.e. the provision of goods and services for the health service 
in England or the performance of its other functions. 

• The Council of Governors must approve any proposed increases in private patient income of 
5% or more in any financial year. Approval means more than half of the governors voting 
agree with the increase. 

• Amendments to the Trust's constitution must be approved by the Council of Governors. 
Approval means more than half of the governors voting agree with the amendments. 
Amendments will no longer need to be submitted to Monitor for approval. 

Additional rights and powers 

• The Council of Governors may require one or more of the directors to attend a governors' 
meeting for the purpose of obtaining information about the Trust's performance of its functions 
or the directors' performance of their duties (and for deciding whether to propose a vote on 
the trust’s or directors' performance). 

Members of the Board of Directors attended the Council of Governors’ six formal meetings. The Chief 
Executive provided updates to the Council on the present work of the Trust and the Finance Director 
provided information on the present financial situation. The Council had the opportunity to put 
questions to the Chief Executive and Finance Director and feed-in their views and opinions.  Members 
of the clinical teams presented their forward plans for 2014/15.   
 
Representatives from the Non-Executive Directors attend the Council of Governors’ formal meetings. 
In addition representatives from the Council of Governors attend open board meetings and the Audit 
Committee. NEDs also attend, with the rest of the Board, the Annual Member’s Day to meet 
members. Other Directors attend Governors meetings to provide information on governance, quality 
and operational issues. 
 

Changes to the constitution 
During 2013/14 changes were made to the constitution to ensure compliance with Monitor’s updates 
to the model constitution, in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and to extend the 
length of a Governors term of office by one year in exceptional circumstances, for example in the case 
of planned merger, acquisition, separation/dissolution, when an elected governor is coming to the end 
of their period of office. 
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Board of Directors  
 
Statement about the balance, completeness and appropriateness of the 
membership of the Board 
The Board structure has remained unchanged in 2013/14. The Board consists of 5 Non-Executive 
Directors, of whom one is the Chair, and 4 Executive Directors. The Director of Governance attends the 
Board meetings in a non-voting capacity. 
 
Governance requirements have been met through the Chair and Non-Executive Directors roles on 
committees and their attendance at Board meetings. There is a clear separation of the roles of the Chair 
and the Chief Executive. The Chair has responsibility for the running of the Board and the Council of 
Governors, setting the agenda for the Trust and for ensuring that all directors are fully informed of matters 
relevant to their roles. 
 
All of the Non-Executive Directors are considered to be independent in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Code of Governance. 
 
Members of the Board have a wide range of experience from both the public and private sectors. The 
Chair and Non-Executive Directors have combined experience of health and social care, business 
delivery, corporate finance, education, the charitable sector, the armed forces and the civil service. 
Executive Directors have extensive experience in the NHS and private sector. Short biographies are 
detailed below. 
 
Non-Executive Director appointments to the Board may be terminated at the wish of the incumbent, or by 
the Council of Governors ratified by a two-thirds majority. A term of office for Non-Executive Directors is 
usually three years, however, in exceptional circumstances the nominations committee can make 
appointments on a fixed-term basis as per recent appointments. All Non-Executive Directors are 
Independent Directors in line with the NHS Trust Code of Governance. The Trust holds a public Register 
of Interests which is available from the Chief Executive’s Office. 
 
The Chair conducted appraisals of the Chief Executive and with Governors, forming the Nominations 
Committee, of the Non-Executive Directors in 2013/14. The Executive Directors were appraised by the 
Chief Executive. 
 
During 2013/14 the Board conducted a review against the Code of Governance requirements. 
There was also an external evaluation of the board by an independent trust secretary who had worked at 
another Foundation Trust but had no connection to the RNHRD NHS FT. 
 
The Board is satisfied as to its balance, completeness and appropriateness but will keep this under 
review. 
 
The Board of Directors 
 
Peter Franklyn, Chair (until August 2013) 
Peter was appointed Chair of the Trust in August 2010 for three years. He brought nine years of practical 
experience delivering healthcare as Chief Executive of the Royal Hospital for Neuro-disability. His 
previous career was in the armed services. He is also a Trustee of St John’s Hospital, a charity dedicated 
to meeting the needs of the poor and needy of Bath since 1174. Peter was also Chair of the Trust’s 
Council of Governors, and Chair of the Remuneration Committee. 
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Eugene Sullivan, Chair (from August 2013 - March 2014) 
Eugene was appointed Chair of the Trust in August 2013 for a fixed-term period of eight months. He has 
over 40 years experience as a public sector auditor and accountant, including time as CEO of the Audit 
Commission. Eugene has extensive experience in the strategic and financial management of large 
complex organisations and spent over 20 years as an auditor and advisor to the NHS and other public 
bodies. He is Managing Director and majority shareholder of Converto Consulting Limited, a management 
consultancy company working mainly with public bodies’. Eugene was also Chair of the Trust’s Council of 
Governors and Chair of the Trust’s Remuneration Committee. 
 
Luke March, Non Executive Director (from March 2014, Chairman from March 2014) 
Luke March was appointed in March 2014 and took on the role of Chair of the Trust from April 2014 for a 
period of 12 months. Formerly Chair of Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust he was previously deputy chair of 
Barts and The London NHS Trust. He has served as Chair of the National Friends of Citizens’ Advice 
Bureaux, and is now also Deputy Lieutenant of Wiltshire. He is Chairman of the National Churches Trust 
and a lay Canon on the Chapter of Salisbury Cathedral. He has also been Chairman of the Audit 
Committee of the Financial Services Compensation Scheme, Corporate Governance Director of BT 
Group, Group Company Secretary of TSB Group, and most recently Group Compliance Director of Royal 
Mail Group. He has been a non-executive director in the NHS since 1988. Luke also chairs the 
Trust's Council of Governors, the Trust’s Remuneration Committee, and the Charitable Fund Committee. 
 
Niall Bowen, Non Executive Director  
Niall was appointed in December 2010 for a term of three years and agreed to continue until the end of 
March 2014. Niall has extensive experience of developing, managing and leading businesses in highly 
competitive pharmaceutical and healthcare markets, including the establishment of an award-winning 
homecare service and the integration of a specialist clinical nutrition company.  He has an MBA from Bath 
University and has been awarded an Honorary Doctorate in Business Administration by Queen Margaret 
University of Edinburgh. He is also a Non Executive Director of GP Care UK Ltd, and was the RNHRD 
NHS FT representative on the Bath Institute for Rheumatic Diseases Council of Management, and the 
Chair of the RNHRD NHS FTs’ Charitable Funds Committee. 
 
Stephen Cole, Non Executive Director (until August 2013) 
Stephen was appointed by a Monitor Intervention Order as Interim Chair in April 2009. He stood down as 
Chair in August 2010 agreeing appointment as a Non Executive Director for a term of three years and 
agreed to continue until the end of August 2013. He chaired the Finance and Activity Committee and was 
a member of the Audit and Charitable Funds committees. Stephen, an FCA, was formerly for 21 years a 
Partner at KPMG LLP where he obtained significant corporate experience. Stephen resigned as Honorary 
Treasurer and Trustee of InControl Partnerships Limited, a charity the principal activity of which is acting 
as a proponent of self-directed support (which includes personal health budgets) in September 2012, and 
is a partner of The Brighton Creamery LLP, trading as Boho Gelato. 
 
Mike Attenborough-Cox, Non Executive Director (from August 2013) 
Mike Attenborough-Cox was appointed as Non Executive Director in August 2013 and was reappointed in 
March 2014 for a further 12 months . Mike, a qualified accountant and internal auditor, was a partner at 
Mazars LLP for 13 years. Mike has extensive experience of working with public sector organisations, 
having been appointed UK national public services partner at Mazars in 2001. Previous roles include 12 
years as an independent member of Hampshire Police Authority including three years as Chair. Mike is 
currently Financial Advisor to the Executive and Board of the United Kingdom Central Authority for the 
Exchange of Criminal Records, Chair of the Joint Audit Committee of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
and Chief Constable for Hampshire, and a member of the Foreign and Commonwealth Officer Services 
Department, and of the Audit Committee of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. Mike is chair of the 
RNHRD NHS FT Finance and Activity Committee. 
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Christopher Johns, Non Executive Director – Senior Independent Non Executive 
Director 
Chris was appointed in October 2007 for a period of three years, he was reappointed for a further three 
years in 2010 and in 2013 he was reappointed until the end of March 2014, which has been extended for 
a further 12 months. In September 2010 he became the Senior Independent Non Executive Director. 
Chris has a background in the management and regulation of social care. He has worked extensively in 
local and central government, national commissions, management consultancy and in the voluntary 
sector, and has a BA and MSc in Management Development as well as professional qualifications in 
management and social work. Chris has recently completed a tenure as senior lecturer at Cardiff 
Metropolitan University and is a Trustee of Tubbs Charity. Chris is the Trust lead for health and safety, 
and is the lead Non Executive Director for integrated governance and quality assurance (including 
infection control) at the RNHRD NHS FT, and sits on this committee. 
 
Sir Peter Spencer KCB, Non Executive Director – Vice Chair 
Peter was appointed in December 2007 for a term of three years, which, in December 2010 and was 
extended for a further three years and then further extended in December 2013 until the end of March 
2014, which has been extended for a further 12 months. In September 2010 Peter became Vice Chair. 
Peter had a distinguished career in the Royal Navy where he finished his service as Second Sea Lord 
and Commander in Chief Naval Home Command. In 2003 he retired from the Royal Navy and became a 
senior civil servant in the Ministry of Defence, as Chief of Defence Procurement, until April 2007.  He was 
then Chief Executive of the charity Action for ME from May 2007 until September 2012. He was appointed 
as a Public Appointments Assessor in April 2012. Peter is Chair of the RNHRD NHS FT Audit Committee. 
 
Kirsty Matthews, Chief Executive Officer 
Kirsty was appointed Interim Chief Executive Officer by Monitor in April 2009 and then Chief Executive 
following an interview process in August 2010. Prior to her appointment as Chief Executive, Kirsty had 
served as Interim Chair appointed by a Monitor intervention in December 2008 and as a Non Executive 
Director from December 2007. Kirsty was previously Director of strategy for a private healthcare provider 
and has a background in general management in the NHS and business development in the private 
sector. Kirsty is educated to Masters Degree level. 
 
Rachel Hepworth, Director of Finance (until July 2013) 
Rachel Hepworth was appointed Director of Finance in January 2012.  Rachel is a qualified accountant 
with CIPFA and has a degree in psychology. Rachel has worked in NHS finance since 2002 in a variety of 
organisations, including acute and community services Trusts.   
 
Tracey Cotterill, Director of Finance (from June 2013) 
Tracey Cotterill was appointed Director of Finance in June 2013. She is a member of the Chartered 
Institute of Management Accountants and has a Masters Degree in Business Administration.  She has 
worked for a variety of NHS provider bodies as well as private sector organisations. Tracey has over 25 
years financial experience including delivering change, and establishing financial processes and controls. 
 
Dr Ashok, Medical Director  
Dr Ashok Bhalla joined the hospital as a consultant in rheumatology and metabolic bone disease in 1988, 
and was appointed Medical Director in august 2011. He trained in Manchester and London, and 
completed a medical fellowship in the US at Harvard Medical School and Massachusetts General 
Hospital. Dr Bhalla’s specialist interests include inflammatory arthritis, osteoporosis and other metabolic 
bone diseases, chronic pain and fibromyalgia. He helped to establish the hospital’s pain management 
service. Dr Bhalla is active in research and has presented original work at national and international 
meetings.   
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Rayna McDonald, Director of Operations and Clinical Practice, Director of Infection 
Prevention and Control, and Deputy Chief Executive 
Rayna was appointed as Director of Operations and Clinical Practice at the RNHRD NHS FT in May 
2010. She has over 27 years’ experience of working in public sector healthcare and has held senior 
management posts in a number of acute Trusts in Wales, Hampshire, Bath and Devon. In addition, 
Rayna has held a range of clinical and academic positions in various NHS and academic 
organisations. She is a Registered General Nurse, a graduate of the NHS Management Training Scheme, 
and holds a Postgraduate Diploma in Management (Health) and a degree in Nursing. Rayna has 
published and presented research papers at a variety of international nursing conferences. 
 
Hayley Sewell, Director of Governance 
Hayley was appointed to the Board in 2005 and has responsibility for Governance. She has over 25 years 
experience in the NHS and completed the NHS Clinical Strategist Programme at INSEAD in 2003. Hayley 
gained an MSc from Kings College London in 1994 and began her NHS career as a Chartered 
Physiotherapist. 
 
A full declaration of interests of the members of the Board is available from the Board Secretary.  
 
Board of Directors’ attendance 
 
Name Trust Board 

(From 12 meetings) 
Audit Committee 
(From 5 meetings) 

Remuneration Committee 
(From 3 meetings) 

Peter Franklyn 12/12 1/2 (in attendance) 1/1 
Eugene Sullivan 8/8 - 2/2 
Luke March 1/1 (in attendance) - - 
Mike 
Attenborough-Cox 

7/8 4/4 2/2 

Niall Bowen 11/12 5/5 3/3 
Stephen Cole 5/5 2/2 1/1 
Christopher Johns 12/12 - 3/3 
Sir Peter Spencer 11/12 5/5 2/3 
Kirsty Matthews 12/12 4/5 (in attendance) - 
Rachel Hepworth 3/3 1/1 (in attendance) - 
Tracey Cotterill 10/10 4/4 (in attendance) - 
Dr Ashok Bhalla 11/12 - - 
Rayna McDonald 11/12 - - 
Hayley Sewell  
 
 

11/12 
(Non-voting) 

4/5 (in attendance) - 
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Audit Committee   
Peter Spencer is Chair of the Audit Committee. Stephen Cole (NED until August 2013) and Mike 
Attenborough-Cox (NED from August 2013) and Niall Bowen (NED) were the other two Non-executive 
members. The Chief Executive, Director of Finance and Director of Governance are in attendance at the 
meetings along with two Governors. The Chair of the Board of Directors, Peter Franklyn was also in 
attendance at one committee meeting in 2013/14. There were five meetings of the Audit Committee over 
this period:  
 
Name Role Attendance at meetings 
Peter Spencer Chair of Audit Committee 5/5 
Niall Bowen NED 5/5 
Stephen Cole NED 2/2 
Mike Attenborough-Cox NED 4/4 
 
During 2013/14 the Audit Committee has continued to discharge its responsibilities in accordance with its 
Terms of Reference and the requirements of the Code of Governance and the Audit Code for Foundation 
Trusts. In particular the main performance evaluation activities have been: 
 

• Strategic risk management with particular emphasis on mitigating risks to health standards and 
risks to the financial status of the Trust. 

• The trust outsources the internal audit function to Baker Tilly who are tasked against an agreed 
programme of audits prioritised on a risk basis. The Trust evaluates and continuously improves 
the effectiveness of its risk management and internal controls processes through the review of all 
risks rated moderate and above at each audit meeting, including an in depth review of one risk 
 and the assurance framework 6 monthly together with:   
o Reviewing minutes from the sub committees with responsibility for risk namely the Finance 

and Activity Committee and Integrated Governance and Quality Assurance Committee. 
o Considering the major findings of internal audit investigations (and management’s response), 

and ensuring co-ordination between the Internal and External Auditors to optimise audit 
resources. 

o Conducting the annual self-assessment against the Code of Governance and producing an 
action plan for implementing further improvements. 

• The audit committee reviewed feedback from the local counter fraud service and ensured that 
there was in place an up to date anti-fraud and bribery policy and whistle blowing policy to allow 
staff of the trust, and other individuals where relevant, to raise, in confidence, concerns about 
possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting and control, clinical quality, patient safety 
or other matters. 

• Feedback from the representatives from the Council of Governors who attended Audit Committee 
meetings. 

• Private discussions with the internal and external auditors to get their feedback on Audit 
Committee processes and effectiveness. 

• Tracking the implementation of a consolidated list of all audit recommendations. This is reported 
at every meeting of the Audit Committee. 

• Reviewing its Terms of Reference. 
• The significant issues that the committee considered in relation to the financial statements 

included;  
o The going concern statement - the board has the intention to transfer the Trust’s services to 

other provider(s), therefore the committee considers the going concern assumption to be 
appropriate, whilst noting that disclosures are required to describe the current position and 
significant uncertainties, including factors outside the trust’s control, such as the timing of the 
transfer and the financial support available during the transition. 

o Specialist assets are valued on a depreciated replacement cost (DRC), which recognises the 
specific purpose for which the assets are employed. Modern equivalent asset (MEA) 
assumptions are then applied, to account for the fact that exact like for like replacement is 
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unlikely for aged assets. Under this valuation method, it would be reasonable to consider the 
value of the land in an alternative, non-city centre location that would have a lower cost, 
however, this assumption has not been applied, and at this time the valuation assumes that 
any replacement would be at the current site. 

 
The Audit Committee assessed the effectiveness of the external audit process through the annual 
assessment of the external auditor and following the results of this assessment made a recommendation 
to the Council of Governors about the re-appointment of the external auditor.  
 
The external auditor was independently re-appointed by the Council of Governors on 20 September 2013, 
following a recommendation by the Audit Committee.   
 
The external audit services value was £85K, inclusive of VAT, for 2013/14. The tender for external audit 
was last conducted in 2006/7. The committee has not re-tendered external audit services due to repeated 
incremental delays, outside the control of the trust, in the expected timeline for acquisition by another 
NHS organisation. 
 
To ensure the independence of its external auditors, the Trust is careful not to commission relevant 
PricewaterhouseCoopers staff to perform operational roles.  This assurance is also maintained by the 
firm’s own internal practices. 
 

Nominations Committees 
 
Executive appointments 
There was one executive appointment in 2013/14 for the position of Director of Finance. This role was 
advertised on NHS Jobs. The Nominations Committee for the appointment of the Director of Finance is 
outlined in the table below: 
 

Name  Committee role Attendance at meetings
Kirsty Matthews  CEO  1/1
Stephen Cole  NED  1/1
Peter Franklyn  Chair  1/1
Catherine Phillips  Independent external assessor (RUH) 1/1

Non Executive appointments 
A Nominations Committee of the Council of Governors are responsible for the appointment, appraisal and 
remuneration of the Chair and other Non-Executive Directors of the Trust Board. Three Nominations 
Committee meetings were held in 2013/14;  

• June 2013 committee meeting to discuss Chair and NED appointments, chaired by the SINED; 
• February 2014 Committee meeting to discuss the appointment of the Trust Chair, chaired by the 

SINED, and  
• March 2014 Committee meeting to discuss appraisal and remuneration, chaired by the Lead 

Governor.  
 
Individual attendance by Non-Executive Directors was as follows: 
 

Name Role Attendance at meetings 
Eugene Sullivan Trust Chair (until March 14) 1/1 
Chris Johns NED/Senior Independent Non 

Executive Director (SINED) 
2/3 

 
 
 
 
 



 

49 
 
 

Individual attendance by Governors was as follows: 
 

Name Role Attendance at meetings 
Peter Miles  Lead Governor (until 7 October 2013) 1/1 
Nick Hall  Governor 1/1 
Judith Beresford-Smith  Governor 1/1 
Francis Ring  Governor 1/1 
Jean Snow  Governor 1/1 
Dr Anthony Clarke  Governor 3/3 
Judy Coles Governor 1/1 
Robert Slade  Lead Governor (from Oct 2013) 2/2 
Hilary Elms  Governor 2/2 
Yvonne Glenn Governor 1/1 
Favre Armstrong Governor 2/2 

 
There were three Board appointments made during 2013/14; two for the position of Chairman and one 
Non-Executive Director. 
 
The process used by the nominations committee in relation to these appointments was: 

• A review of the Board of Directors’ skill mix and size prior to the recruitment of each Non-
Executive Director. 

• Agreement of the use of either external search consultancy or open advertising.  In June/ July 
2013 both an external search consultancy and open advertising was used in the recruitment of 
the Trust Chair and Non-Executive Director.  In February 2014 open advertising was used in the 
recruitment of the Trust Chair and Non-Executive Director.  

• Short-listing applications and interviewing the Chair applicants with an external assessor. 
• Presenting the nominations committee with recommendations and decisions, along with 

information of the views of the Board and the qualifications, skills and experience required for 
each position, to the Council of Governors at formal meetings on 30th July 2013 and 19th March 
2014. The Council of Governors approved the appointments. 

 
An independent external advisor was involved in the Chairs appointment process but was not a member 
of, and did not have a vote on, the nominations committee. 
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Membership 
 
Membership is free; there are no obligations for people who sign up as a member.  On the registration 
form there are three levels of membership: 
Level 1 Keep in touch. All members receive information. 
Level 2 Get involved.  Some members choose to be consulted on plans for future development of 

the hospital and its services and attend the Annual Members Day. 
Level 3 Work with us. For further active membership involvement some members stand for 

election to the Council of Governors. There are also individual volunteer opportunities 
within the hospital. 

 
Constituencies 
There are three membership constituencies in the RNHRD NHS FT membership. The criteria are as 
follows: 
 
Public constituency 
Individuals are eligible to become members of the public constituency if: 

• they live in England or Wales, 
• they are not eligible to become a member of the staff constituency, 
• they are not a member of the patient constituency. 

 
The minimum number of members of the public constituency is 400. 
 
Staff constituency 
Individuals are eligible to become members of the staff constituency if they: 

• are employed under a contract of employment by the Trust (provided that Non-Executive 
Directors of the Trust shall not be regarded as employees for this purpose); or 

• are employed or engaged through a designated Trust provider and otherwise exercise functions 
on behalf of the Trust. 

 
Individuals shall only be eligible to become members of the staff constituency if: 

• they are employed by the Trust under a contract of employment which  has no fixed term or a 
fixed term of at least 12 consecutive months; or 

• they have been continuously employed by the Trust for at least 12 months; 
• they have been employed by a designated Trust provider or been exercising the Trust’s functions 

for a continuous period of 12 months. 
 
The minimum number of members of the staff constituency is 100. 
 
Patient constituency 
Individuals are eligible to become members of the patient constituency if: 

• they are a patient or carer;  
• they are not eligible to become a member of the staff constituency; and 
• they are not a member of the public constituency. 

 
Individuals who are eligible to join the patient constituency will be allocated to the patient constituency 
unless they notify the membership office that they wish to be allocated to the public constituency.  The 
minimum number of members of the patient constituency is 500.  
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Membership numbers 
In March 2014, the RNHRD NHS FT had 4745 members, with 3,419 patient and carer members, 986 
public members and 340 staff members. 
 

 Membership 2013/14 
patients/public 

Membership 2013/14 
Staff 

Age   
0-16 0 0 
17-21 6 4 
22+ 4399 336 

Ethnicity   
White 4191 294 
Mixed 15 4 
Asian & Asian British 45 21 

Black or Black British 23 11 
Other 131 10 

Gender   
Male 1438 78 
Female 2967 262 
Gender Reassignment Data not available 0 

Disability   
Declared a disability Data not available 25 

 
Further information on the diversity of the Trust’s membership can be obtained from the Membership 
Support Team. 
 
Membership strategy 
This strategy was written by the Council of Governors’ Membership sub group and: 

• Defines the membership community and how the Trust will establish a more diverse and 
representative membership.  

• Recognises that the process of building a meaningful membership involves effective 
communication between the Trust and members.  

• Sets out the Council of Governor’s accountability and responsibility and how the Trust will work in 
partnership with the Council of Governors to achieve this.  

• Sets out how the members and membership support the marketing and communication strategy 
and promote the Trust and patient choice to the wider-public. 

• Outlines how the Trust evaluates the success of membership. 
 
The Board monitors NHS FT membership through the review of membership against the constitution and 
held elections during 2013/14 to ensure a representative membership.  The effectiveness of member 
engagement is monitored through feedback sessions at the AGM and discussed at Council of Governor 
meetings. 
 
Members can contact Governors or Directors and may do so through the Membership Support Service at 
the hospital.  Email nhsft@rnhrd.nhs.uk  
 
Members were invited to attend our Annual Members Day in December 2013.  The event was our ninth 
members’ day and was combined with our Annual General Meeting.  This was an opportunity to provide 
information on the work of the Trust and its Accounts and gather feedback from members. Sessions 
included: 

• Developments in RNHRD NHS FT clinical services. 
• The development of rheumatology service provision across BANES and Wiltshire. 
• Emerging rheumatology treatment. 
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• How members would like to see services delivered in the future. 
• Update from your Council of Governors to include constitution changes. 
• Question and answer session. 
• Developments in services for cancer survivors. 

 
We also invited members to: 

• Attend Council of Governors meetings.  
• Become governors. 
• Attend the Council of Governors committee meetings.  
• Apply for volunteer roles.  
• Attend the Trust’s AGM. 
• Join the Friends of the Min. 

 
The Trust aims to have a diverse and representative membership.  We have a system which informs all 
new patients about membership opportunities. Our Council of Governors have produced an information 
pack for their use in promoting the Trust and membership to local groups.  They have also organised 
monthly coffee mornings at the hospital to communicate with and obtain feedback from members and 
patients. 

The majority of patient involvement activities through the year have been organised as part of 
membership activities.  However other activities include monthly Patient Literature Group meetings and a 
thriving volunteer programme. 
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Quality report  
 
Part 1: Statement on quality from the Chief Executive 
As Chief Executive Officer I am delighted to acknowledge the high quality of care that our patients’ report 
through the results of the 2013 National Inpatient Survey.  The patients’ responses demonstrate that they 
rated this Trust in the top performing Trusts for the following categories; 
 

• Waiting to get a bed on a ward.  
• The hospital and ward. 
• Leaving hospital. 
• Overall views and experiences. 

 
In addition to the national patient surveys, we receive feedback on the quality of care our patients receive 
through; the Friends and Family Test, walk rounds by members of the Board, 15 Steps walk rounds, the 
Patient-led Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE) assessment, Patient Advice and Liaison 
Service (PALs) and Complaints feedback, monthly surveys of our patients, Governors’ discussions with 
patients at their coffee mornings, reports on NHS Choices, inspections from the Care Quality Commission 
and our host commissioner. The majority of this feedback was positive and any comments or concerns 
are immediately actioned by the operational staff. 
 
The outcome of our unannounced CQC visit in 2013/14 was that the Trust was meeting all the outcomes 
assessed and the Trust declared compliance with the CQC standards of quality and safety throughout 
2013/14. 
 
The Trust met all the key quality performance indicators in Monitor’s Compliance Framework/ Risk 
Assessment Framework throughout 2013/14. The steps we have taken during 2013/14 to further improve 
quality include: 

• Implementing the 15 Steps walk rounds in addition to monthly Board patient safety walk rounds 
which demonstrate to the organisation the Board’s commitment to patient safety 

 
We aim to continuously improve the quality of care provided.  To meet this aim in 2014/15 the Trust will 
continue to develop new ways of patient feedback; including the introduction of the Friends and Family 
Test for staff and outpatients and publication of outcome measures on our website. 
 
To the best of my knowledge, the information in the document is accurate. 
 
 

 
 
 
Kirsty Matthews  
 
Chief Executive       22nd May 2014 
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Part 2. Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance from the 
Board. 
 
Priorities for improvement in 2013/14  
 
The priorities were identified through:- 

1. Feedback from patients through the National 2013 CQC Survey of Adult Inpatients  results for 
RNHRD NHS FT, complaints and PALs 

2. Feedback from the Council of Governors 
3. Feedback from commissioning CCGs through the CQUIN 
4. Feedback from staff through the national patient safety programme and review of the risk register 

and staff survey 
5. Recommendations from root cause analysis 

 
The following quality improvements were agreed by the Board and outcomes for 2013/14 are noted in the 
table below; 
 
Priorities for 
improvement 
2013/14 

Data Source  Outcome for 2012/3 Outcome for 2013/4 

Patient Safety    
To improve 
assessment of 
patients who are 
at risk of falls5 

IGQAC/ 
Patient Safety 
and Quality 
Forum  

Two falls resulted in 
adverse harm 
events during 
2012/13. 

The NICE guidance CG 161 Assessment 
and Prevention of falls in older patient 
was completed and the RNHRD NHS FT 
is compliant. Each fall occurrence is 
individually investigated within 48 hours.  
100% resulted in low harm, there were 
no adverse events resulting in moderate 
or severe harm.  All incidents are audited 
for learning outcomes and changes in 
practice for the trust. This led to the falls 
policy and pathway being updated to 
ensure a robust process is in place to 
reduce adverse events.   

To initiate project 
“Understanding 
Your Medicines” 
to ensure that 
patients 
understand 
reasons for the 
medicines they 
are prescribed”1  

IGQAC/Patient 
Safety and 
Quality Forum 

Not applicable An audit was completed which showed 
the discharge procedure needed to 
encompass understanding your 
medicines. The discharge documentation 
was then adapted to incorporate the 
changes.  Awareness was raised with 
nursing staff to ensure that patients 
received information on discharge about 
their medications when they went home.  
This is now documented for future 
learning outcomes.  

To ensure that 
following an 
incident involving 
a patient there is 
documentation in 
the patients’ 
notes regarding 
the discussion 
with patients in 

IGQAC/ 
Patient Safety 
and Quality 
Forum 

Not applicable Being Open Policy/Duty of Candor audit 
presented quarterly IGQAC. No incidents 
rated moderate and above in 2013/14.  
Clinicians reminded that any incident 
should be discussed with patient. 
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line with the 
Being Open 
policy/Duty of 
Candor5 
Clinical 
Effectiveness 

   

Monitor use and 
effectiveness of 
newly established 
rheumatology 
helpline at the 
RNHRD NHS FT 
for health 
professionals3 

Quarterly 
reports to 
IGQAC and 
host PCT and 
Annual Quality 
Report 

Not applicable The Rheumatology helpline at the 
RNHRD NHS FT for health professionals 
was established in February 2013.  This 
was monitored by medical staff and has 
shown to be very successful.  The 
monitoring process has enabled initial 
issues to be dealt with promptly and 
necessary changes to be made.  
Monitoring showed that GPs could 
access specialist advice.  A presentation 
about the effectiveness and type of calls 
received by the GP helpline was made to 
the CCG quality meeting.   

To develop 
Clinical education 
program for the 
management of 
the Diabetic 
patient for all 
nursing staff to 
complete1 

Quarterly 
reports to 
IGQAC and 
host PCT and 
Annual Quality 
Report 

Not applicable A diabetic audit took place to identify any 
issues, the audit identified the need for 
an improved nurse training program and 
for increased awareness.  Clinical 
practice training took place.  A link nurse 
role was initiated to develop awareness 
training.  Registered general nurses are 
in the process of completing continual 
diabetic training on e- learning on an 
educational program.  An inpatient 
resource folder has been created for 
training awareness. Further training 
resources are being assessed to ensure 
a variety of resources are available to 
meet different learning needs.    

Recording and 
publishing of 
clinical outcomes 
for Ankylosing 
spondylitis2&3 

Quarterly 
reports to 
IGQAC and 
host PCT and 
Annual Quality 
Report 

Not applicable Testing commenced in October 2013 as 
a pilot to collect outcome data from 
patients in the Outpatient department 
using iPads.  This was then rolled out to 
more patients.   At the end of the year 60 
patients have used an iPad to fill in their 
outcome measures. 
 
The system is now fully functional in 2 
rheumatology clinics per week, meaning 
that when patients arrive for their 
appointment they input their data which 
calculates the Health Assessment 
Questionnaire (HAQ) score, ensuring the 
attending doctor has access to live 
reporting screen with the scores to 
inform the consultation. It is planned to 
increase the use of the system to further 
clinics and publish the outcomes on the 
Trust website during 2014/15.  

Patient 
Experience 
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To improve 
appointments 
telephone 
responses to 
ensure calls are 
answered in a 
timely way1&2 

Quarterly 
reports to 
IGQAC and 
host PCT and 
Annual Quality 
Report 

2012/13 
performance = 49 
PALs and 0 written 
complaints  
about 
telephone/email 
access 
to the department 

An action plan was developed and 
completed.  The action plan included an 
increase in the amount of lines available 
for patients to contact the appointment 
team and customer training.  As a result 
switchboard are monitoring calls from 
people who are unable to contact 
appointments. It has been noted that 
there has been an improvement on 
previous levels.  To ensure the standard 
is continued audits are completed weekly 
to monitor the calls.  Patient Advice 
Liaison team carry out random calls to 
the office to check call waiting times.    
 
Improvements are showing as 2013/14 
performance = 28 PALs and 1 written 
complaints 
about telephone/email access to the 
department . 

Reduce delayed 
follow ups in 
rheumatology (to 
a maximum of 6 
weeks)2 
 

Quarterly 
reports to 
IGQAC and 
host PCT and 
Annual Quality 
Report 

At the end 2012/13  
there were 300  
delayed follow up 
appointments 

At the end of 2013/14 there were 611 
delayed follow up appointments. Due to 
planned and unplanned reductions in 
medical capacity and an unplanned 
increase in referrals of 2.5%, the 
proposed reductions in numbers of 
delayed follow ups has not been 
achieved.  Further actions will be 
implemented during 2014-15 to reduce 
the number of delayed rheumatology 
follow up appointments.  
 
A number of actions have been 
implemented which include;  
• Patients who require specific 

appointment dates times. flagged as 
priority by clinicians.  

• Emergency clinic capacity increased.  
• Additional clinics on ad hoc basis.  
• Locum consultant appointments  
• Substantive consultant appointed.  
• Audit of patients requiring follow ups. 
• In depth capacity and demand 

modelling in place.  
• Review and change to booking 

system. 
Patient 
experience 
feedback from the 
day case unit4 

Quarterly 
reports to 
IGQAC and 
host PCT and 
Annual Quality 
Report 

Not applicable Fully completed.  A patient questionnaire 
has been developed including questions 
relating to how compassionate the 
nurses were. “Were you happy that the 
staff were helpful and compassionate?” 
The question related to the NHS 
document: Compassion in Practice.  
DOH. 4 December 2012. The results 
from the questionnaires have been 
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analysed to show positive results from 
patient feedback and no significant 
actions to be taken.  

 
Priorities for improvement in 2014/15  
The priorities have been identified through:- 

1. Feedback from patients through the National CQC Survey of Adult Inpatients in the NHS 2013 
results for RNHRD NHS FT, complaints and PALs  

2. Feedback from the Council of Governors 
3. Feedback from commissioning CCGs through the CQUIN 
4. Feedback from staff through the national patient safety programme and review of the risk register 

and staff survey 
5. Feedback from service leads and clinical leads for their services 
6. Recommendation from Root Cause Analysis 

 
Priorities for 
improvement 2014/15 

Monitoring Measurement Reporting 

Patient Safety    
To analyse the 
outcomes and raise 
awareness of analysis 
of outcome data of 
patients who fall with 
particular focus on pain 
management patients. 
4 and 6 
 

To be reviewed by 
falls group and 
reported in 
executive summary 
to Patient Safety 
and Quality Forum 
(PS&QF)  

Incidents rated 
moderate and above 
 
Monthly audit of falls 
with analysis of 
trends and 
outcomes. 
Review of pain 
management 
patients for the 
strategies and 
patients personal 
outcomes made to 
promote safety.  
Presentation of pain 
management falls 
and type of patients 
to the CCG.  

IGQAC and PS&QF 

To improve accuracy of 
the detection and 
diagnosis of urinary 
tract infections (UTI) by 
trialing an assessment 
sheet for the symptoms 
of UTI in the Outpatient 
department.  This is 
aimed to increase 
accurate diagnosis and 
appropriate use of 
antibiotics.   This will 
improve the early 
detection of infections, 
with appropriate testing 
and treatments4  

To be reviewed by 
Continence group 
and reported in 
executive summary 
to PS&QF 

Audit of health 
records to show 
accuracy in 
detection and 
treatment of UTI.   
 
Appropriate 
specimens to be 
tested, and clinical 
assessment on 
when to start 
treatment.   

IGQAC and PS&QF.   
The Catheter Taskforce 
Meeting group (a local health 
community group).    

Review the emergency 
transfer process and 
criteria, and implement 

To be reviewed by 
the patient safety 
and quality forum 

Root cause analysis 
of transfers 
undertaken in last 

IGQAC and the PS&QF. 
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formal post transfer 
review process4  

and medical staffing 
meeting.  

two years. Followed 
by review of transfer 
criteria, and 
implementation of 
supporting 
recommendations.  

Clinical Effectiveness    
Establish personal 
treatment plans for 
osteoporosis patients3  

To be reviewed the 
Bone group. 

Full implementation 
of treatment plans  

IGQAC 

To implement a formal 
process for clinical 
supervision for nurses4 

To be reviewed by 
the Head of Nursing 

Full implementation 
of a formal 
documented 
process with 
learning outcomes.  

IGQAC 

To review admission 
criteria for day case 
assessment beds to 
ensure appropriate 
referral, admission 
avoidance and rapid 
access to treatment3  

To be reviewed by 
rheumatology 
management group 
and medical 
staffing.  

Outcome of audit of 
the patients who 
access the service.  

IGQAC and Medical staffing.  

Patient Experience    
Introduction of self-
management course 
for patients with 
Rheumatoid Arthritis, 
to survey patient 
reported outcomes 
following course in 
terms of self-
management of 
condition5 

Patient 
questionnaires post 
course.  

Analysis of patient 
questionnaires.  

IGQAC and CCG quality 
meeting.  

To improve the patient 
experience of young 
people within the 
hospital5  

Collect information 
from feedback 
forms and develop 
improvement plans.  

Implementation of 
plan and evaluation 
post improvement of 
patient feedback. 

IGQAC and CCG quality 
meeting  

To improve the ladies 
ward bathroom 
facilities for privacy and 
dignity1 and2 

Progress to be 
monitored by 
Matron.  

Completion of 
refurbishment of the 
ladies bathroom 
facilities.  

IGQAC 

 
Statements of assurance from the Board  

• Information on the review of services: 
 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS FT commenced a new highly specialised 
service, the Breast Radiation Injury Rehabilitation Service in September 2012 which continued throughout 
2013/14. The Trust leads the service, which is also delivered by Barts Health NHS Trust and the Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust under sub-contract.  The trust complex regional pains service transferred to 
specialist commissioning during 2013/14. 
 
During 2013/14 the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS FT Sub-contracted one 
relevant health service.  
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS FT has reviewed all the data available to them 
on the quality of care in all of these relevant health services. The volume of activity delivered by these 
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partner organisations during 2013/14 was low, given the very small number of patients covered by the 
service.    
 
The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2013/14 represents approximately 1% 
of the total income generated from the provision of relevant health services by the Royal National Hospital 
for Rheumatic Diseases NHS FT for 2013/14. 
 

• Information on participation in clinical audits and national confidential enquiries:  
 
During 2013/14 two national clinical audits and no national confidential enquiries covered NHS services 
that the RNHRD NHS FT provides. 
 
During 2013/14 the RNHRD NHS FT participated in 100% of the national clinical audits and 100% of the 
national confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries which it 
was eligible to participate in. 
 
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that the RNHRD NHS FT was eligible to 
participate in during 2013/14 are as follows: 
 
Acute Care – National Cardiac Arrest Audit 
Long Term Conditions – Rheumatoid and early inflammatory arthritis 
 
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that the RNHRD NHS FT participated in 
during 2013/14 are as follows: 
 
Acute Care – National Cardiac Arrest Audit 
Long Term Conditions – Rheumatoid and early inflammatory arthritis 
 
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that the RNHRD NHS FT participated in, 
and for which data collection was completed during 2013/14, are listed below alongside the number of 
cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by 
the terms of that audit or enquiry. 
 
National Clinical Audit RNHRD 
was eligible to participate in 
during 2013/14 

Number of cases submitted to each audit 
as percentage of number of registered 
cases required by the terms of that audit

Acute Care – National Cardiac 
Arrest Audit 

No cardiac arrests occurred during data 
collection period therefore no cases 
submitted.

Long Term Conditions – 
Rheumatoid and early 
inflammatory arthritis 

100% 

The reports of 0 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2013/14 as none were relevant to the 
services provided by the RNHRD NHS FT.    

The reports of 771 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2013/14 and the RNHRD NHS FT 
intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided; 

• Infection control - continuing to monitor antibiotic usage to support the reduction of antibiotic 
resistant infections: this included the implementation of the National guidelines on 
carbapenemase-producing enterobacteriaceae and a gap analysis against NICE guidelines.  

• Continence – the Safety Thermometer measure to monitor occurrences of catheter urinary tract 
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infections. Active use of bladder scanner with initial data to reduce the use urinary catheters; 
monitored through audit.  

• Falls – Real-time audit of all falls in the Trust recorded and analysed at the falls group: reported to 
patient safety and quality forum (PS&QF). Bed rail audit will be completed on a monthly basis and 
monitored through the patient safety and quality forum. 

• Nutrition – recent improvements in use of the Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUST) to be 
monitored through monthly audit until sustainable improvement has been demonstrated. MUST 
score will be incorporated in discharge letters, spot check audits to be used to monitor 
implementation of process 6 months after information has been added to the Trakcare. 

• Medicines - Introduction of the Medication Safety Thermometer PS Thermometer, which will focus 
on; Reconciliation, Allergy Status, Medication Omission, and Identifying harm from high risk 
medicines in line with Domain 5 of the NHS Outcomes Framework. This will enable our 
organisation to understand the burden of medication error and harm, to measure improvement 
over time and to connect frontline teams to the issues of medication error and harm, enabling 
immediate improvements to patient care. Data can be used as a baseline to direct improvement 
efforts and then to measure improvement over time. This audit will follow the process for the 
‘classic’ thermometer audit. 

• Further development and embedding of risk evaluation in everyday practice - Introduction of a 
new, cross trust clinical audit form with an increased focus on evaluation of risk level of audit 
actions identified to promote timely escalation of key actions identified through audit. 

• Patient experience – analysis of patient satisfaction feedback audit to inform practice. 

• Tissue Viability – SKIN bundle implementation to be reported on a 6 monthly basis, to date robust 
process indicate through 3 monthly audit. Relevant ward staff to receive annual pressure ulcer 
prevention update audited to measure compliance with goal set. 

• Patient Safety – Monthly audit of all resuscitation equipment across the Trust. 

• Clinical excellence – clinical supervision for nurses formal programme to be initiated and audited 
after 6 months to monitor the quality of the programme. 

 
• Information on participation in clinical research:  

 
The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided or subcontracted by the RNHRD NHS 
FT in 2013/14 that were recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a research 
ethics committee was approximately 745.  
 
 

• Information on the use of the CQUIN framework:  
 
A proportion of Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS FT income in 2013/14 was 
conditional upon achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed between the Royal National 
Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS FT and any person or body they entered into a contract, 
agreement or arrangement with for the provision of relevant health services, through the Commissioning 
for Quality and Innovation payment framework.  Further details of the agreed goals for 2013/14 and for 
the following 12 month period are available online at: 
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http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/sites/all/modules/fckeditor/plugins/ktbrowser/_openTKFile.php?id=3275 
 
The monetary total for the amount of income for 2013/14 conditional upon achieving quality improvement 
and innovation goals was £230k which was received in full. 
 
The monetary total for the amount of income for 2012/13 conditional upon achieving quality 
improvements and innovation goals was £212k which was received in full. 
 

• Information relating to registration with the Care Quality Commission and periodic/special 
reviews:  

 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS FT is required to register with the Care Quality 
Commission and its current registration status is that there are no conditions related to this Trust’s 
registration.   
 
The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against the Royal National Hospital for 
Rheumatic Diseases during 2013/14. 

The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS FT has participated in special reviews or 
investigations by the Care Quality Commission relating to the following areas during 2013/14:  

The Care Quality Commission completed an unannounced inspection visit at the RNHRD NHS FT on 
16,17&19 December 2013. 

The Care Quality Commission concluded that the Trust was meeting all the essential standards of quality 
and safety inspected, therefore there were no actions to the RNHRD NHS FT to address. 

• Information on the quality of data:  
 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS FT submitted records during 2013/14 to the 
Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the latest 
published data.  The percentage of records in the published data: 
 

• which included the patient’s valid NHS number was: 99.7% for admitted patient care; 99.8% for 
outpatient care; and there is no percentage for accident and emergency care as there is no 
accident and emergency service provided by the Trust. 

• which included the patient’s valid General Practitioner Registration Code was: 100% for admitted 
patient care; 99.8% for outpatient care; and there is no percentage for accident and emergency 
care as there is no accident and emergency service provided by the Trust.  

 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS FT Information Governance Assessment 
Report overall score for 2013/14 was 83% and was graded green. 
 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS FT was not subject to the Payment by Results 
clinical coding audit during the reporting period by the Audit Commission. 
 
RNHRD NHS FT will be taking the following actions to improve data quality;  
 - Training for all nursing staff in the vital aspects of care audit. 
 - Data provided to the board extracted directly from performance card. 
 - Audit documentation includes source data identification to ensure sample can be subsequently  
   reviewed if required. 
 - Regular audit of clinical records to ensure clinical record keeping standards are met and falls    
   risk assessment is completed and recording of patient self-administration of drugs. 



 

62 
 
 

 - Monthly audit of discharge information. 
 
Performance against key national priorities and National Core Standards 
Performance against the indicators relevant to the services provided by the RNHRD NHS FT are detailed 
in the table below; 
 
Core Indicator   
The percentage of patients 
aged 

• 0-15 and 
• 16 or over, 

Readmitted to a hospital which 
forms part of the trust within in 
28 days of being discharged 
from a hospital which forms 
part of the Trust during the 
reporting period 

National Average The percentage of patients aged 
• 0-15 and = 7.55% 
• 16 or over = 9.73% 

Acute specialist trust data 2011/12  
from health and social care indicator 
portal 

Highest for trusts The percentage of patients aged 
• 0-15 and = 8.36% 
• 16 or over = 14.09% 

Acute specialist trust data 2011/12  
from health and social care indicator 
portal 

Lowest for trusts The percentage of patients aged 
• 0-15 and = 3.75% 
• 16 or over = 0% 

Acute specialist trust data 2011/12  
from health and social care indicator 
portal 

RNHRD NHS FT 2013/14 0-15 = 0 
16 and over (n = 3) 0.7% 
Note that the above is based on trust 
data as portal data is not currently 
available 

RNHRD NHS FT 2012/13 n = 1 (0.18%) 
Note that the above is based on trust 
data as portal data is not currently 
available 

RNHRD NHS FT 2011/12 n = 2 (0.2%) 
As reported by the trust in the 
2012/13 Annual Report 

The RNHRD NHS FT 
considers that this data is as 
described for the following 
reasons 

The number of readmissions are as reported due to admission, 
transfer and discharge policies and procedures in place. 

The RNHRD NHS FT intends 
to take/has taken the following 
actions to improve this 
percentage/proportion/score 
rate/number as so the quality 
of its services, by ; 

The RNHRD NHS FT will continue to review admission, transfer and 
discharge policies following new guidance or incidents 

 
The trust’s responsiveness to 
the personal needs of its 
patient during the reporting 
period. 

National Average 68.7 
Per data from the 2013 national 
inpatient survey 

Highest for trusts 84.2 
Per data from the 2013 national 
inpatient survey 
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Lowest for trusts 54.4 
Per data from the 2013 national 
inpatient survey 

RNHRD 2013/14 74.7 
Trust calculation from the 2013 
national inpatient survey 

RNHRD 2012/13 76.6 
RNHRD 2011/12 69.9 

The RNHRD NHS FT 
considers that this data is as 
described for the following 
reasons 

The data is a summary of scores for specific questions from the 2013 
national inpatient survey.  The trust identified the areas for 
improvement to improve this score and incorporated these into the 
priorities for improvement plan for 2013/14. 

The RNHRD NHS FT intends 
to take/has taken the following 
actions to improve this 
percentage/proportion/score 
rate/number as so the quality 
of its services, by ; 

The trust has identified the areas for improvement to improve this 
score which have been incorporated into the priorities for improvement 
plan for 2014/15.  

   
The percentage of staff 
employed by, or under 
contract to the trust during the 
reporting period who would 
recommend the trust as a 
provider of care to their family 
or friends 

National Average 67.1 
Per data from the 2013 national staff 
survey 

Highest for trusts 93.9 
Per data from the 2013 national staff 
survey 

Lowest for trusts 39.5 
Per data from the 2013 national staff 
survey 

RNHRD NHS FT 2013/14 89 
RNHRD NHS FT 2012/13 80 
RNHRD NHS FT 2011/12 84 

The RNHRD NHS FT 
considers that this data is as 
described for the following 
reasons 

The data is from the 2013 national staff survey.  The score is higher 
than the national average for specialist acute trusts  

The RNHRD NHS FT intends 
to take/has taken the following 
actions to improve this 
percentage/proportion/score 
rate/number as so the quality 
of its services, by ; 

Staff survey action plan and implementation of the Friends and Family 
Test for staff during 2014/15. 

   
The percentage of patients 
who were admitted to hospital 
and who were risk assessed 
for venous thromboembolism 
during the reporting period 

National Average 96% 
Per Feb 2014 portal data 

Highest for trusts 100% 
Per Feb 2014 portal data 

Lowest for trusts 77% 
Per Feb 2014 portal data 

RNHRD NHS FT 2013/14 100% 
The above is based on trust data as 
portal data is not currently available. 

RNHRD NHS FT 2012/13 100% 
RNHRD NHS FT 2011/12 99.53% 

Per Feb 2014 portal data 
The RNHRD NHS FT The national average is the percentage of adult patients admitted to 
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considers that this data is as 
described for the following 
reasons 

NHS funded care in Feb 2014 as published by NHS England.  The 
RNHRD NHS FT has policies and procedures in place for the risk 
assessment of venous thromboembolism and conducts clinical audits 
against these policies and procedures. 

The RNHRD NHS FT intends 
to take/has taken the following 
actions to improve this 
percentage/proportion/score 
rate/number as so the quality 
of its services, by ; 

The RNHRD NHS FT will continue to review any new national 
guidance and existing policies and procedures to maintain this score. 

   
The rate per 100,000 bed days 
of cases of C. difficile infection 
reported within the trust 
amongst patients aged 2 or 
over during the reporting 
period 

National Average 16.1 per 100,000 bed days  
Based on acute trust data as per the 
portal as at March 2013. 

Highest for trusts 30.8 per 100,000 bed days  
Based on acute trust data as per the 
portal as at March 2013 

Lowest for trusts 0 per 100,000 bed days  
Based on acute trust data as per the 
portal as at March 2013 

RNHRD NHS FT 2013/14 n=0 
The above is based on trust data as 
portal data is not available as at 
21.5.14 

RNHRD NHS FT 2012/13 13.8 per 100,000 bed days 
Based on acute trust data as per the 

portal as at March 2013 
RNHRD NHS FT 2011/12 25.6 cases per 100,000 bed days 

Based on acute trust data as per the 
portal as at March 2013 

The RNHRD NHS FT 
considers that this data is as 
described for the following 
reasons 

The RNHRD NHS FT has in place policies and procedures to reduce 
the risk of infection. 

The RNHRD NHS FT intends 
to take/has taken the following 
actions to improve this 
percentage/proportion/score 
rate/number as so the quality 
of its services, by; 

The RNHRD NHS FT will continue to review any new national 
guidance and existing policies and procedures to prevent and control 
infection. 

   
The number and where 
available, rate of patient safety 
incidents reported within the 
trust during the reporting 
period, and  

National Average 7.14 incidents reported per 100 
admissions 
For acute specialist organisations 
April – September 2013 as reported 
by NRLS. 

Highest for trusts 27.88 incidents reported per 100 
admissions 
For acute specialist organisations 
April – September 2013 as reported 
by NRLS. 

Lowest for trusts 3.69 incidents reported per 100 
admissions 
For acute specialist organisations 
April – September 2013 as reported 
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by NRLS. 
RNHRD NHS FT 2013/14 5.86 (n = 91) incidents reported per 

100 admissions and middle 50% of 
reporters for acute specialist 
organisations April – September 
2013 as reported by NRLS. 

RNHRD NHS FT 2012/13 5.63 (n = 99) incidents reported per 
100 admissions April – September 
2012 as reported by NRLS. 
9.9  incidents reported per 100 
admissions October 2012 – March 
2013 as reported by NRLS 

RNHRD NHS FT 2011/12 4.63 (n=88) incidents reported per 100 
admissions April 2011 – September 
2011 as reported by NRLS. 
3.48 incidents reported per 100 
admissions October 2011 – March 
2012 as reported by NRLS. 

The RNHRD NHS FT 
considers that this data is as 
described for the following 
reasons 

Data reported for acute specialist organisations April – September 
2013 by NRLS report published 30.04.14. Staff continue to report 
incidents on trust incident reporting system and trust uploads these 
monthly to national system NRLS.  NRLS have yet to publish feedback 
reports for 2013/14.  

The RNHRD NHS FT intends 
to take/has taken the following 
actions to improve this 
percentage/proportion/score 
rate/number as so the quality 
of its services, by ; 

Continue culture of incident reporting through training in incident 
reporting at induction and access to incident reporting for all staff and 
review of incidents and feedback to staff. 

   
The number and percentage 
of such patients safety 
incidents that resulted in 
severe harm or death 

National Average 0.5% of incidents April – September 
2013 for all acute specialist 
organisations as reported by NRLS. 

Highest for trusts 2.5% (n=14) April – September 2013 
for all acute specialist organisations 
as reported  by NRLS. 

Lowest for trusts 0% (n=0) April – September 2013 for 
all acute specialist organisations as 
reported  by NRLS. 

RNHRD NHS FT 2013/14 0% (n=0) April – September 2013 for 
all acute specialist organisations as 
reported  by NRLS 

RNHRD NHS FT 2012/13 0% (n = 0) April 2012 – September 
2012 as reported by NRLS 
1.1% (n=2) October 2012 – March 
2013 as reported by NRLS 

RNHRD NHS FT 2011/12 0% (n=0) April 2011 – September 
2011 as reported by NRLS 
0% (n=0) October 2012 – March 
2013 as reported by NRLS 

The RNHRD NHS FT 
considers that this data is as 
described for the following 
reasons 

Data published for acute specialist organisations April – September 
2013 by NRLS report published 30.04.14.There were 0 incidents that 
were reported as resulting in severe harm or death for the RNHRD 
NHS FT. 

The RNHRD NHS FT intends Any incidents which result in severe harm or death would be 



 

66 
 
 

to take/has taken the following 
actions to improve this 
percentage/proportion/score 
rate/number as so the quality 
of its services, by; 

investigated by root cause analysis and resulting actions for 
improvement would be monitored by the clinical risk committee. 

 
For the reporting period the trust provided services in rheumatology, pain and fatigue management and 
endoscopy.  The trust has not reported against the following indicators as the indicators were not relevant 
to the above services provided by the trust for the reporting period;  

• The value and banding of the summary hospital-level mortality indicator and the percentage of 
patient deaths with palliative care coded at either diagnosis or specialty level for the trust for the 
reporting period. 

• The percentage of patients on Care Programme Approach. 
• The percentage of Category A telephone calls resulting in an emergency response. 
• The percentage of patients with a pre-existing diagnosis of suspected ST elevation myocardial 

infarction. 
• The percentage of patients with suspected stroke assessed face to face. 
• The percentage of admission to acute wards for which Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team 

acted as a gatekeeper. 
• The trust’s patients reported outcome measures scores for groin hernia surgery, varicose vein 

surgery, hip replacement surgery, knee replacement surgery. 
• Patient experience of community mental health services. 

 
Part 3.  Other information  
 

• An overview of the quality of care offered by the RNHRD NHS FT based on performance in 
2013/14 against indicators selected by the Board in consultation with stakeholders.  The 
indicators were selected following feedback from national patient surveys, complaints, governors 
and commissioners.  

 
Quality overview 
 
Indicator Data Source 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09  2007/08 
Patient 
Safety 

        

MRSA 
bacteraemia 

Data 
reported 
nationally 
and data 
governed by 
standard 
national 
definition 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

C.difficile Data 
reported 
nationally 
and data 
governed  by 
standard 
national 
definition 

0 1 4 1 0 3 7 

Meet 
essential 
/core 

Data 
reported to 
Care Quality 

Met Met Met 
during 
Q1, Q2 

Met Met Met  Met 
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standards 
regarding 
quality & 
safety 

Commission 
and reported 
through 
quality report 
to CCG/PCT 

and Q4 

 
Indicator Data Source 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09  2007/08 
         
Clinical 
Effectivene
ss 

        

The Trust 
will continue 
to implement 
NICE 
Guidelines 
relevant to 
the Trust 
services 

Data 
reported 
through 
Healthcare 
Commission  
special data 
collection 
and reported 
through 
quality report 
to CCG/PCT 

Met Met Met Met Met Met Met 

Improve 
availability of 
follow up 
appointment
s  

Number of 
written 
complaints 
regarding 
availability of 
follow up 
appointments 
reported 
through 
quality report 
to CCG/PCT 
and annual 
report. 

0 1 5 2 3   15 0 

Meet core 
standards 
regarding 
clinical 
effectiveness 

Data 
reported 
through 
quarterly 
quality report 
to Board and 
CCG/PCT 

Met Met Met Met Met Met Met 

         
Patient 
Experience 

        

Improve 
Bathroom 
facilities and 
signage on 
wards 

National 
CQC Survey 
of Adult 
Inpatients in 
the NHS 
2012 results 
for the 
RNHRD NHS 
FT question 
on mixed-sex 

8.1 
(about 
the 
same as 
other 
Trusts 
and an 
improve
ment on 
the 

7.8 
(about 
the 
same as 
other 
Trusts 
and an 
improve
ment on 
the 

7.5 74% 79% 39% 40% 
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bathroom or 
shower areas 
by 
percentage 
who 
answered no 
to the 
question 
“Whilst 
staying in 
hospital, did 
you ever 
share the 
same 
bathroom or 
shower area 
as patients of 
the opposite 
sex?” 

2012 
survey 
score) 

2011 
survey 
score) 

Improve 
telephone 
access for 
appointment
s 

Number of 
Complaints 
or PALs on  
this issue 
reported in 
Quality 
Report to 
CCG/PCT 

25 49 85 10 34 30 6 

All written 
complaints 
to continue 
to be 
managed 
effectively 
locally within 
policy 
timescales. 
 
 

Number of 
written 
complaints 
received and 
number 
managed 
locally within 
national 
complaints 
policy 
timescales. 

12 
complai
nts 
received 
11 of 
which 
were 
manage
d locally 
within 
the 
national 
complai
nts 
policy 
timescal
es. 
For one 
complai
nt the 
investig
ation 
took 
longer 
than 
anticipat
ed and 
an 
interim 

17 out 
of 17 

23  
complai
nts 
received 
20 of 
which 
were 
manage
d locally 
within 
the 
national 
complai
nts 
policy 
timescal
es.  

11 
complai
nts 
received
. 
10 of 
which 
were 
manage
d locally 
within 
the 
national 
complai
nts 
policy 
timescal
es. 

17 18 8 
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letter 
was 
sent to 
the 
patient 
to 
explain 
the 
reason 
for the 
delay. 

 
The RNHRD NHS FT met all national quality performance targets during 2013/14.  Those that are set out 
in Monitor’s Compliance Framework/Risk Assessment Framework and relevant to the Trust are: 
 
C.difficile:  

• Patients aged 2 or more.  
• A positive laboratory test result for CDI recognised as a case according to the Trust's diagnostic 

criteria. 
• Positive results on the same patient more than 28 days apart should be reported as separate 

episodes, irrespective of the number of specimens taken in the intervening period, or where they 
were taken.  

• The Trust is deemed responsible. This is defined as a case where the sample was taken on the 
fourth day or later of an admission to that Trust (where the day of admission is day one).  

 
• Clostridium difficile year on year reduction (to fit the trajectory for the year as agreed with CCG = 

6 cases in 6 separate patients). The Trust met this performance target as there were 0 cases of 
Clostridium difficile in 2013/14 against a locally agreed trajectory of 6. 

• Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA); number of infections.  The Trust had a 
target of 0 cases. The Trust met this performance target as there were no MRSA bacteraemia 
infections in 2013/14. 

• Referral to treatment waiting times; non-admitted (95th percentile).  The Trust met this 
performance target throughout 2013/14. 

• Referral to treatment waiting times; admitted (95th percentile). The Trust met this performance 
target throughout 2013/14. 

• Certification against compliance with requirements regarding access to healthcare for people with 
a learning disability. The  trust  continued  to  monitor  28  day  readmissions  and  provided 
commissioners with an exception report for any cases.  

 
28 day readmissions 
 
Numerator 
The number of finished and unfinished continuous in-patient spells that are emergency admissions within 
0 to 27 days (inclusive) of the last, previous discharge from hospital (see denominator), including those 
where the patient dies, but excluding the following: those with a main speciality upon re-admission coded 
under obstetric; and those where the re-admitting spell has a diagnosis of cancer (other than benign or in 
situ) or chemotherapy for cancer coded anywhere in the spell.  

Denominator 

The number of finished continuous in-patient spells within selected medical and surgical specialties, with 
a discharge date up to March 31 within the year of analysis. Day cases, spells with a discharge coded as 
death, maternity spells (based on specialty, episode type, diagnosis), and those with mention of a 
diagnosis of cancer or chemotherapy for cancer anywhere in the spell are excluded. Patients with 



 

70 
 
 

mention of a diagnosis of cancer or chemotherapy for cancer anywhere in the 365 days prior to admission 
are excluded.  

Rheumatology follow up appointments 
The Trust is required to report a local indicator, this year the Governors have requested that the 
external auditors look at follow up appointment delays which has been defined as follows; 

The indicator is expressed as the percentage of all Rheumatology Follow Up appointments where the 
patient was waiting over two months from their scheduled follow up month.  

• The numerator includes patients whose follow up appointment has been delayed by more than 2 
months from when it was due  

• The denominator includes all patients that had an appointment in the period 1 April 2013 - 31 
March 2014 and comprises patients who attended their appointment and those patient who did 
not attend their appointment.  It does not include those patients who cancelled their appointment. 

The trust’s data indicates that 9% of patients have a delay of 2 months or more to their planned follow 
up rheumatology appointment. 

CQC registration and compliance with essential standards of quality and 
safety  

• The Board declared full compliance with the CQC Essential Standards of Quality and Safety  
throughout 2013/14. 

• The Care Quality Commission completed an unannounced inspection visit at the RNHRD NHS 
FT on 16,17 & 19 December 2013 as part of the CQC’s routine schedule of planned reviews.  The 
CQC concluded that the Trust was meeting all the standards inspected;  

 
Outcome  Essential Standards CQC report 
2 Consent to care and treatment Met this standard 
6 Cooperating with other providers Met this standard 
8 Cleanliness and infection control Met this standard 
12 Requirements relating to workers Met this standard 
13 Staffing Met this standard 
16 Assessing and monitoring the quality of 

service provision 
Met this standard 

 
Complaints 
 
Information on complaints handling 
The Trust has an established Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS).  This service is available to 
provide patients and their carers and families with confidential information, advice and support.  PALS 
provide information about the hospital, the NHS, and organisations and support groups outside the NHS.  
They help resolve concerns, including verbal and written complaints, when patients are using hospital 
services.  PALs work with patients to improve hospital services, by listening to their experiences and 
ensuring that staff who deliver the services are aware of and address any issues raised. 
 
Written complaints 
The Trust received 12 written complaints in 2013/14. 11 of the responses were within the timeframes set 
out in the national complaints policy.  For one complaint the investigation took longer than anticipated and 
an interim letter was sent to the patient to explain the reason for the delay. 
 
No complaints received in 2013/14 were referred to: 
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• the Health Service Commissioner to consider  

The subject matter of complaints that the responsible body received;  
 
Appointments Delay/ Cancellation 1 
Attitude of staff 3 
All aspects of clinical treatment/ care 6 
Communication verbal/ written 2 
Total 12 
 
Issues arising out of those complaints, or the way in which the complaints were handled and action taken 
are detailed in the table below.   
 
Issues arising out of 
complaints 

Action taken as a result of written complaints  

Attitude of a member of staff  Improvement plan with timescales established between the 
employee and their line-manager and placed on employees file 
for agreed time.

Information in clinic letter was 
not as discussed during 
consultation 

Amendments to clinic letter were made and sent with a letter of 
apology from the doctor. 

Actions by staff prior to and 
following an incident between 
two patients on the inpatient 
ward 

Root Cause Analysis was conducted by a trained manager not 
attached to the service.  Recommendations and actions for 
improvement were identified and these were monitored by the 
Trust’s Clinical Risk Committee.

GP concern regarding a 
decision by a doctor to refer a 
patient back to their GP for an 
urgent ultrasound 

Ongoing education identified to advise doctors of access to local 
services to avoid the delay to diagnostics and the inconvenience 
caused to patients. 

Patient reported that unable to 
access the appointments office 
by telephone. 

Action plans to improve this service were put in place.  Actions 
included:  
•All phone lines to be ‘live’ increasing phone capacity from three 
lines to six and an answer machine on line seven. 
•Phones to ring to raise awareness that calls are waiting. 
•Switchboard and PALS to monitor calls from patients that have 
rung them as they are not able to get through to appointments. 
In quarter four 2013/14 there were no reports from patients to 
PALS that they were unable to access the appointments office 
by telephone.

Parent’s concerned about delay 
in child receiving treatment. 

Another trust involved in the complaint took lead and responded 
to this complaint.  Clinicians working at both trusts met with the 
family to resolve their concerns.

Father of patient attending a 
residential programme 
concerned about the 
communication and actions of a 
member of staff. 

Complaint investigated by a Senior Manager not attached to the 
service.  No actions were identified from the investigation. 

Patient concerned regarding the 
pain and symptoms 
experienced following an 
injection. 

Medical Director met with patient on two occasions to explain 
risks of the injection. 

Patient concerned about the 
attitude of a doctor during an 
outpatient appointment and 

Doctor apologised to the patient in the response letter. 
Inaccurate information regarding medication amended and 
amended letter sent to GP.
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inaccurate information in the 
clinic letter to GP. 
Pain and symptoms 
experienced following an 
injection. 

Medical Director discussed patient’s complaint with the 
Consultant, reviewed the patient’s clinical notes, complaint letter 
and a photograph provided by the patient and considered the 
correct clinical practice was followed.  The Consultant wrote a 
letter directly to the patient explaining the clinical practice, 
benefits and risks.

Concerns regarding the 
contents of a ‘closed’ letter from 
one doctor to another. 

Following investigation by the Director of Operations with the 
clinical team it was found that it was clinically appropriate to 
include the teams concerns regarding the patient to another 
doctor treating the patient.

Concerns of patient regarding 
decisions and delay in diagnosis 

Following investigation by the Director of Operations and review 
by the Medical Director it was found that the decisions made by 
the clinical team were appropriate.

 
Improvements in patient/carer information 
The Patient Experience and Membership Manager is the Chair of the Trust’s Patient Literature Group.  
This group’s membership represents patients from all of the hospital’s specialties.  Since it began in 
November 2005 the group has reviewed approximately 280 leaflets and pieces of information produced 
for patients and carers by staff in the Trust.  All literature is reviewed to ensure information is accessible 
to and appropriate for patients, and produced to Trust standard.  The group has also developed a policy 
to assist staff when producing patient information and literature, and a monitoring system to ensure the 
literature is meeting the Trust’s standards.  
 
Equality delivery system 
During 2013/14 the Trust has used the Equality Delivery System (EDS) to review its equality performance 
and to identify future priorities and actions.  The EDS is designed to support NHS organisations to deliver 
better outcomes for patients and communities and better working environments for staff.  It is a tool to 
help organisations start the analysis that is required by section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 – the public 
sector Equality Duty. 
 
The EDS comprises of 18 outcomes grouped around four goals.  Every year the Trust reviews 
performance against each outcome and agreed actions for improvement.  The resulting prioritised quality 
objectives and associated actions are incorporated into the Trust plans. 
 
Feedback from patients identified a need for improved information for visitors to the Trust.  Particularly it 
was noted that the Trust should improve the signage and directions around the hospital.  Patients also 
identified the need to consider equality and diversity issues during the update and re-design of the 
outpatient department and involve patients in decision making throughout this work.  This work was 
designed and planned during 2013/14 and will be undertaken during 2014/15. 
 
Equality & Diversity is reported quarterly to the executive management group (EMG). Further information 
regarding equality and diversity can be viewed on the Trust’s website. 
 
A summary of workforce equality statistics are detailed on the following page: 
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 Employees 
2013/14 

Employees 
2012/13 

Employees 
2011/12 

Employees
2010/11 

Employees 
2009/10 

Employees 
2008/09 

Membership 
2013/14 

Age        
0-16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
17-21 4 9 9 9 12 12 6 
22+ 336 466 451 451 455 402 4399 

Ethnicity        
White 294 388 400 399 399 359 4191 
Mixed 4 14 9 8 9 6 15 
Asian & Asian 
British 

21 40 23 23 26 19 45 

Black or Black 
British 

11 16 18 14 21 22 23 

Other 10 13 10 9 12 9 131 
Gender        

Male 78 97 79 78 81 67 1438 
Female 262 378 381 380 386 348 2967 
Gender 
Reassignment 

0 0 0 0 0 0 Data not 
available 

Disability        
Declared a 
disability 

25 10 7 7 7 8 Data not 
available 

 
Clinical Effectiveness  
Clinical effectiveness is a quality improvement process that seeks to improve patient care and outcomes 
through a systematic review of care against explicit criteria and the implementation of change. The Trust 
has a commitment to clinical effectiveness and audit, to evidence-based medicine, monitoring practice 
and continuously improving local and national standards. 
 
Members of staff from the Trust have significant input to clinical guidelines developed by national 
professional bodies and bodies such as the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). 
In 2013/14 the following staff have contributed to the development of national guidelines: 
Anne Johnson, Consultant Occupational Therapist was invited by NHS England to consult on the 
emerging national rehabilitation standards project and is a member of the national Macmillan Allied 
Health Professions Learning and Development group to design the evolving Learning and Development 
support to therapists nationally.  
 
Professor McHugh is current ARUK national lead of the clinical study group for spondyloarthropathy. 
 
Dr Raj Sengupta, Consultant Rheumatologist and Research and Development Director is Co Chair of the 
BSR Spondyloarthritis Special Interest Group and Vice Chair of the BSR Informatics Group. He is on the 
BSR Working Group on anti TNF guidelines in AS, member of the Arthritis Research UK Spondyloarthritis 
(SpA) Clinical Studies Group and a member of the international axial SpA interest group, ASAS. 
 
Dr Louise Tarrant – Specialist Clinical Psychologist has been a member of the working group updating 
the Assessment of Pain in Older Adults National Guidelines on behalf of the British Pain Society and 
British Geriatric Society.  These guidelines were last published in 2007 and an update was required.  It is 
hoped, and planned, for these guidelines to also be accepted by NICE. 
 
There is an opportunity for publications to follow from this extensive review and the production of these 
guidelines.  Dr Tarrant remains involved in this. 
 
Structures are in place to ensure that we audit against any national guidelines relevant to this Trust. 
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National CQC Survey of Adult Inpatients in the NHS 2013 results for the 
RNHRD NHS FT  
To improve the quality of services that the Trust delivers, it is important to understand what patients think 
about their care and treatment. One way of doing this is by asking patients who have recently used the 
Trust’s services to tell us about their experiences.   
 

National CQC Survey of Adult Inpatients in the NHS 2013 results for the RNHRD NHS 
FT 
164 patients who were inpatients at the RNHRD NHS FT during 2013 completed the National CQC 
Survey of Adult Inpatients in the NHS 2013, a response rate of 62% compared with 49% nationally.  
 
The benchmark report presents the data as a score out of 10 and describes whether Trusts are 
performing better, worse or about the same as most other Trusts in the survey. 
 
The results for the RNHRD NHS FT for the 2013 survey are as follows; 
 
Section heading Score out of 10 for RNHRD 

NHS FT 
How this score compares 
with other Trusts 

Waiting list and planned 
admissions 9.0   About the same 

Waiting to get a bed on a ward 9.6 Best performing Trusts 
The hospital and ward 8.9 Best performing Trusts 
Doctors 9.0 About the same 
Nurses 8.8 About the same 
Care and treatment 8.0 About the same 
Leaving hospital 8.0 Best performing Trusts 
Overall views and experiences 6.8 Best performing Trusts 
 
The results of the 2013 inpatient survey showed that the RNHRD NHS FT had the highest score 
achieved for Trusts for the following section score; 

• waiting to get a bed on a ward. 

There were no questions where the Trust was rated as performing worse than most other Trusts. 
 
The results of the 2013 inpatient survey showed that the RNHRD NHS FT had the highest Trust score 
achieved for the following 12 individual questions: 
 

• Was your admission date changed by the hospital? 
• From the time you arrived at the hospital, did you feel that you had to wait long time to get to a 

bed on the ward? 
• Were you ever bothered by noise at night from hospital staff? 
• Were hand-wash gels available for patients and visitors to use? 
• Did you get enough help from staff to eat your meals? 
• Did a member of staff explain what would be done during the operation or procedure? 
• Did a member of staff answer your questions about the operation or procedure? 
• Discharge delayed due to wait for medicines/to see doctor/for ambulance? 
• How long was the delay? 
• Did hospital staff discuss with you whether you may need any further health or social care 

services after leaving hospital? 
• Did you receive copies of letters sent between hospital doctors and your family doctor (GP)? 
• Did you see or were you given any information explaining how to complain to the hospital about 

the care you received? 
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In addition, the RNHRD NHS FT was rated as one of the best performing Trusts in the following 
questions; 
 
The hospital and ward 

• Were you ever bothered by noise at night from other patients? 
• How would you rate the hospital food? 

Doctors 
• Did doctors talk in front of you as if you weren’t there? 

 
Nurses 

• In your opinion, were there enough nurses on duty to care for you in hospital? 
 

Care and treatment 
• Did you find someone on the hospital staff to talk to about your worries and fears? 
• Do you feel you got enough emotional support from staff during your stay? 
 

Leaving hospital 
• Did hospital staff discuss with you whether additional equipment or adaptations were needed in 

your home? 
 

Overall views and experiences 
• During your hospital stay, were you ever asked to give your views on the quality of your care? 

 
 
 

Annex to the quality report 
 
 
 
The Trust invited our commissioners, BANES/Wiltshire OSC, local Healthwatch and Council of Governors 
to comment about our 2013/14 Quality Account. The following comments were received: 
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2013/14 Quality Report  feedback from Healthwatch 12.05.14   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Healthwatch Bath and North East Somerset response to The Royal Hospital for 
Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust Quality Report 2013 / 2014 
Healthwatch Bath and North East Somerset welcomes the opportunity to comment on 
the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust Quality 
Account 2013 / 2014. 
 
Healthwatch Bath and North East Somerset were pleased to read the outcomes of the 
unannounced Care Quality Commission visit that declared compliance by the Royal 
Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust with the standards of quality 
and safety throughout 2013 / 2014. 
 
The implementation of the 15 steps walk rounds in addition to the monthly Board patient 
safety walk around demonstrates the Trusts commitment to patient safety. Healthwatch 
Bath and North East Somerset look forward to hearing how the new ways of 
implementing patient feedback and the introduction of the Friends and Family Test for 
staff and outpatients in 2014/ 2015 will be reported. 
 
With regard to the project ‘Understanding Your Medicines’ and the audit of the 
discharge procedure along with the awareness raising with nursing staff has ensured 
patients receive information on discharge about their medication before they go home. 
Healthwatch Bath and North East Somerset are pleased that this has been documented 
for future learning outcomes as discharge is an area of concern nationally through 
Healthwatch England. 
 
Healthwatch Bath and North East Somerset would like to ask how the Trust will be 
working with patients with visual impairments in collecting outcome data in the 
outpatient department using i Pads at the rheumatology clinics. Accessibility is 
important particularly as the Trust plans to increase the use of the system to further 
clinics. Healthwatch Bath and North East Somerset are happy to see that patient 
concerns are well documented and actioned by the Trust and that the Trust have taken 
actions to reduce the delays in follow ups in rheumatology. 
 
From a patient and public view the Quality Report is clear in showing the performance 
against the key national priorities and the National Care Standards.  
Healthwatch Bath and North East Somerset look forward to being able to contribute 
ongoing constructive feedback to the Trust from our staff and volunteers. 
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Quality report feedback from B&NES Wellbeing Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel 
 
 

Quality Account Response Form For 2013-4: 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust 

 
The Guidance issued to OSCS on 16/3/11 suggested that OSCs’ might like to comment on’ the 
4 areas below.  
 
Please use this template to make your response and return it to me at: 
Emma_Bagley@bathnes.gov.uk 

 
 Details / Comments 
Local Authority 
 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 

Official Title of the  
OSC 

Wellbeing Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel 
 

 
 
Does a providers 
priorities match those 
of the public? 

We believe that the RNHRD’s priorities match those of the public.   

Do you believe that 
there are significant 
omissions of issues of 
concern that had 
previously been 
discussed with 
providers in relation to 
Quality Accounts? 

We do not believe there have been any major omissions in the RNHRD’s 
quality accounts.  
 
However, we note there is concern regarding effective liaison between 
RNHRD, GPs and the RUH. This concurs with one of the identified priorities of 
the CCG 5 year strategy. 

Has the provider 
demonstrated they 
have involved patients 
and the public in the 
production of the 
Quality Account? 

There is evidence of patient surveys being used to inform the quality 
accounts, though more qualitative data such as quotes from patients or 
members of the public would be welcomed in future.  

any comment on 
issues the OSC is 
involved in locally? 

The BaNES panel is aware of ongoing work in the area of organisational and 
financial risk, and has received updates throughout the year. 
 
During May 2013, the panel discussed a Secretary of State referral regarding 
early engagement of HOSCs before service variation.    
 
During Nov 2013, the panel received an update on neuro-rehab, endoscopy, 
the pain service and rheumatology follow-ups. 

Any  other Comments Because of the delay in the possible acquisition by the RUH we remain 
hesitant over the RNHRD’s ability to deliver some of its more specialist 
services. 
 
We continue to recognise the RNHRD’s high clinical and care standards. 
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We again feel that the final draft of this year’s quality accounts would benefit 
from a glossary of terms to aid lay reader’s understanding.  
 
We note the proposed improvements to tackle delayed rheumatology follow-
up appointments. 
 
We were encouraged to see a decrease in the number of cases of c difficile 
from 1 case last year to 0 cases this year.  
 
We note the decrease in complaints from 17 to 12.  
 
An account was given of the high financial risk rating of 1. We also note 
remarks around the funding and organisational future.  
 
 

Your contact details: 
• Committee 
• Chairman 
• Scrutiny Contact 

 
Wellbeing Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel 
Councillor Vic Pritchard (Chair) 
Emma Bagley (scrutiny@bathnes.gov.uk)  
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2013/14 Quality Report feedback from the RNHRD NHS FT Council of 
Governors 01.05.14   
 
How does the trust engage with the Council of Governors re Quality? 
The Trust engages with the Governors in the following ways: 

• 2 Governors in attendance at all Board meetings; 
• Invitation to all Governors to attend open board meetings; 
• 2 Governors in attendance at Audit Committee meetings; 
• Presentations by Directors at Council of Governors meetings; 
• Presentations by Directors and members of the clinical teams at Annual Members Day. 
• Chairs of Governor sub-committees meet with Chair prior to Council of Governor meetings to 

discuss quality issues 
 
The Trust provides quality information to the Council of Governors in the following ways: 

• Board reports from all Board meetings which are open meetings 
• The Governors who attend the Board receive monthly performance reports on national quality 

indicators and vital aspects of care and quarterly more detailed reports e.g. complaints and PALs 
which includes Council of Governor coffee morning feedback from patients regarding quality;   

• The Quality Report was presented to the Governors for comment on 23 April 2014, following an 
initial presentation to the Council of Governors in March 2014.   

 
The Council of Governors are satisfied that the information within the Quality Report is consistent 
with information collected and received by the Council of Governors: 

• For example, information continues to be obtained through Board reports and feedback from 
patients and carers to Council of Governors at regular monthly coffee mornings. 

• Through the AGM Governors and the Executive collected data on member’s feedback using a 
questionnaire on priority areas for information. 

 
The Trust has engaged with the Council of Governors for their feedback on priority areas for 
improvement and these have been included in the Quality Report. 
 
These priority areas were identified following a presentation by Directors at the Annual Members Day and 
feedback from members that attended.  The Director of Governance gave a presentation at March 2014 
CoG meeting requesting feedback on priority areas for improvement for including in the Quality Report.    
Feedback from the Governors’ regarding priority areas for quality improvement was agreed at the 
meeting on 1 May 2014.   
 
The Governors have no concerns about the quality of care provided at the trust.  The Governors are 
concerned that following the proposed acquisition of the FT by another NHS provider the high quality care 
continues. 
 
J Coles, H Elms & R Slade for the Council of Governors. 1 May 2014 
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2013/14 Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Quality 
Report 
 
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) 

Regulations to prepare quality accounts for each financial year.  

 

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual quality 

reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the arrangements that NHS foundation 

trust boards should put in place to support data quality for the preparation of the quality report.  

In preparing the quality report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:  

 

• the content of the quality report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 

Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14;  

• the content of the quality report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of 

information including:  

• Board minutes for the period April 2013 to the date of signing this limited assurance 

report (the period); 

• Papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2013 to the date of 

signing this limited assurance report; 

• Feedback from the Commissioners Bath and North East Somerset Clinical 

Commissioning Group dated 19th May 2014; 

• Feedback from Governors dated 1st May 2014;  
• Feedback from local Healthwatch organisations Healthwatch Bath and North East 

Somerset dated 12th May 2014; 

• The trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social 

Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009; 

• The 2013 national patient survey dated 8th April 2014;  

• The 2013 national staff survey dated 25th February 2014;  

• Care Quality Commission quality and risk profiles dated 30th June 2013;  

• Intelligent Monitoring Reports dated 21st October 2013 and 13th March 2014; and  
• The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment dated 

20th May 2014. 

• Feedback from the Bath & North East Somerset Council Wellbeing Policy Development 

and Scrutiny Panel dated 21st May 2014. 
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• the quality report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s performance over the 

period covered;  

• the performance information in the quality report is reliable and accurate;  

• there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of 

performance included in the quality report, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that 

they are working effectively in practice;  

• the data underpinning the measures of performance in the quality report is robust and reliable, 

conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate 

scrutiny and review; and the quality report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s 

annual reporting guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts Regulations) (published at 

www.monitor.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to support data quality for 

the preparation of the quality report (available at www.monitor.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual). 

 
 
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the quality report.  
 
By order of the Board  
 

 
22nd May......................Date.............................................................Chairman  
 
 
 

 
22nd May......................Date............................................................Chief Executive   
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AUDITORS REPORT FROM PWC 
 
Independent Auditors’ Limited Assurance Report to the Council of Governors of 
the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust on the 
Annual Quality Report  
 
We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of the Royal National Hospital for 
Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement 
in respect of the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust’s 
Quality Report for the year ended 31 March 2014 (the ‘Quality Report’) and specified 
performance indicators contained therein. 
 
Scope and subject matter  
 
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2014 in the Quality Report that have been subject to 
limited assurance  (the “specified indicators”) consist of the following national priority 
indicators as mandated by Monitor:  
 

Specified Indicators Specified indicators criteria (exact page number 
where criteria can be found) 

The rate per 100,000 bed days of cases of 
C.difficile infection reported within the trust 
amongst patients aged 2 or over during the 
reporting period. 

Part 3 ‘Other Information’ page 69. 

The percentage of patients aged— 
(i) 0 to 15; and 
(ii) 16 or over, 
readmitted to a hospital which forms part of the 
trust within 28 days of being discharged from a 
hospital which forms part of the trust during the 
reporting period. 

Part 3 ‘Other Information’ page 69-70. 

 
Respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditors  
 
The Directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report in 
accordance with the specified indicators criteria referred to on pages of the Quality Report as 
listed above (the "Criteria").  The Directors are also responsible for the conformity of their 
Criteria with the assessment criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual (“FT ARM”) and the “Detailed requirements for quality reports 2013/14”  issued by the 
Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).  
 
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether 
anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that: 
 

• The Quality Report does not incorporate the matters required to be reported on as 
specified in Annex 2 to Chapter 7 of the FT ARM and the “Detailed requirements for 
quality reports 2013/14”; 

• The Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified 
below; and 

• The specified indicators have not been prepared in all material respects in accordance 
with the Criteria and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the “2013/14 Detailed 
guidance for external assurance on quality reports”. 
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We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of the 
FT ARM, and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any material 
omissions.  
 
We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider whether it is 
materially inconsistent with the following documents:   
  
• Board minutes for the period April 2013 to the date of signing this limited assurance report 

(the period);  
• Papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2013 to the date of 

signing this limited assurance report;  
• Feedback from the Commissioners Bath and North East Somerset Clinical Commissioning 

Group dated 19th May 2014;  
• Feedback from Governors dated 1st May 2014; 
• Feedback from local Healthwatch organisations Healthwatch Bath and North East Somerset 

dated 12th May 2014;  
• The trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social 

Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009;  
• The 2013 national patient survey dated 8th April 2014;  
• The 2013 national staff survey dated 25th February 2014;  
• Care Quality Commission quality and risk profiles dated 30th June 2013;  
• Intelligent Monitoring Reports dated 21st October 2013 and 13th March 2014;  
• The Head of Internal Audit’s  annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment dated 

20th May 2014; and 
• Feedback from the Bath & North East Somerset Council Wellbeing Policy Development and 

Scrutiny Panel dated 21st May 2014. 
 
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements 
or material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the “documents”). Our 
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.  
 
We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (“ICAEW”) Code of Ethics. Our team 
comprised assurance practitioners and relevant subject matter experts.  
 
This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors of 
the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist 
the Council of Governors in reporting the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS 
Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and activities. We permit the disclosure of this 
report within the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2014, to enable the Council of 
Governors to demonstrate they have discharged their governance responsibilities by 
commissioning an independent assurance report in connection with the indicators. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Council of Governors as a body and the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases 
NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this report save where terms are expressly agreed and 
with our prior consent in writing.  
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Assurance work performed  
 
We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on 
Assurance Engagements 3000 ‘Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of 
Historical Financial Information’ issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited assurance procedures included:  
 

• reviewing the content of the Quality Report against the requirements of the FT ARM and 
“Detailed requirements for quality reports 2013/14”; 

• reviewing the Quality Report  for consistency against the documents specified above;  
• obtaining an understanding of the design and operation of the controls in place in 

relation to the collation and reporting of the specified indicators, including controls over 
third party information (if applicable) and performing walkthroughs to confirm our 
understanding; 

• based on our understanding, assessing the risks that the performance against the 
specified indicators may be materially misstated and determining the nature, timing and 
extent of further procedures;  

• making enquiries of relevant management, personnel and, where relevant, third parties; 
• considering significant judgements made by the NHS Foundation Trust in preparation of 

the specified indicators;  
• performing limited testing, on a selective basis of evidence supporting the reported 

performance indicators, and assessing the related disclosures; and 
• reading documents. 

 
A limited assurance engagement is less in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement. The 
nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are 
deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance engagement.  
 
Limitations  
 
Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial 
information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for 
determining such information.  
 
The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the 
selection of different but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially 
different measurements and can impact comparability. The precision of different measurement 
techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and methods used to determine such 
information, as well as the measurement criteria and the precision thereof, may change over 
time. It is important to read the Quality Report in the context of the assessment criteria set out 
in the FT ARM and the Criteria referred to above.  
 
The nature, form and content required of Quality Reports are determined by Monitor. This may 
result in the omission of information relevant to other users, for example for the purpose of 
comparing the results of different NHS Foundation Trusts.  
 
In addition, the scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or non-
mandated indicators in the Quality Report, which have been determined locally by the Royal 
National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust. 
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Staff Survey  
 
CQC 2013 National NHS Staff Survey Results for RNHRD NHS FT 
The Board and the Links Partnership Committee (staff representative body) discussed the CQC 2013 
National NHS Staff Survey Results for RNHRD NHS FT and jointly agreed an action plan which was 
monitored through its meetings. This was communicated with colleagues through employee meetings, 
the monthly ‘face-to-face’ Chief Executive’s briefing and its written follow up. Updates on progress 
against the actions were communicated once a month through the Executive Management meeting. 
Response rates for the CQC 2013 National NHS Staff Survey are outlined in the table below: 
 

 2012 2013 Trust Improvement/Deterioration 

Response 
Rate Trust National 

Average Trust 

National 
Average 
for Acute 
Specialists 
Trusts 

 

 60% 52% 67% 54% 7% improvement 
 

 
The Trust’s response rate was 67% in 2013, which equals the maximum when compared against 
other acute specialist Trusts. 
 
The top 4 ranked scores for 2013: 
 

 2012 2013 Trust 
Improvement/Deterioration 

Top 4 Ranking 
Scores 2013 Trust National 

Average Trust 

National 
Average 
for Acute 
Specialists 
Trusts 

 

Staff job 
satisfaction 3.58 3.66 3.79 3.69 0.21 improvement 

Percentage of 
staff witnessing 
potentially 
harmful errors, 
near misses or 
incidents in last 
month (lower is 
better) 

21% 30% 9% 30% 12% improvement 

Percentage of 
staff saying 
hand washing  
materials are 
always 
available 

81% 61% 87% 61% 6% improvement 

Percentage of 
staff feeling 
pressure in last 
3 months to 
attend work 
when feeling 
unwell (lower 
score is better) 

21% 23% 17% 24% 4% improvement 
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The bottom 4 ranked scores for 2013: 
 

 2012 2013 Trust 
Improvement/Deterioration 

Bottom 4 
Ranking 
Scores 2013 

Trust 

National 
average 
for acute 
specialist 
trusts 

Trust 

National 
average 
for Acute 
Specialist 
Trusts 

 

Percentage of 
staff reporting 
errors, near 
misses or 
incidents 
witnessed in the 
last month 

100% 92% 59% 92% 41% deterioration 

Percentage of 
staff receiving 
job-relevant 
training, 
learning or 
development in 
last 12 months 

75% 81% 81% 81% 6% improvement 

Percentage of 
staff believing 
the trust 
provides equal 
opportunities for 
career 
progression or 
promotion 

87% 88% 91% 91% 4% improvement 

Effective team 
working 3.68 3.77 3.77 3.81 0.08 improvement 

 
Action plan 
The action plan as a result of the CQC 2013 National NHS Staff Survey will be put together jointly with 
the Links Partnership Committee and the Board to continue to build on the improvements made in 
2013/2014 and to address those areas where a deterioration was highlighted through the 2013 staff 
survey results.  

 
The priority for our 2014/15 year will be an action plan to focus on the bottom four ranked scores and 
other key factors identified in the HR plan to continue the marked improvement in our staff survey 
responses and overall employee engagement score. These headlines are; 

• Employee engagement. 
• Leadership and management development. 
• Change management at management and individual level. 
• Continuous professional development. 

 
The progress and performance against priority areas and individual actions described in the HR plan and 
approved by the Board are monitored and reviewed by the Head of HR, LPC, and the Board monthly, or 
sooner if required. 
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Regulatory ratings 
 
Monitor publishes two risk ratings for each NHS Foundation Trust: 
 
Under the Compliance Framework to the end of Q2; 

• financial risk rating (rated 1-5, where 1 represents the highest risk and 5 the lowest); and  
• governance risk rating (rated red, amber-red, amber-green or green).  

 
The Financial Risk Rating (FRR) of the Trust assessed by Monitor through their annual risk assessment 
of the Trust’s Annual Plan for 2013/14 produced a rating of ‘1’. This was based on a scorecard approach 
in measuring key financial metrics and was intended to reflect the likelihood of a financial breach of the 
authorisation. (The ratings run from ‘1’ as high risk to ‘5’ as low risk).  

 
Under the Risk Assessment Framework from Q3; 

• continuity of services rating [which incorporates two common measures of financial 
robustness; liquidity and capital servicing capacity] (rated 1-4, where 1 represents the highest 
risk and 4 the lowest); and 

• governance risk rating (rated red or green). 

The rating assigned to the Trust requires the provision of additional information on a monthly basis. The 
actual quarterly ratings were: 

 

 
Annual Plan 
2013-14 

Q1 
2013-14 

Q2 
2013-14 

Q3 
2013-14 

Q4 
2013-14 

Under the Compliance Framework 
Financial risk rating 1 1 1    
Governance risk 
rating Red Red Red   
Under the Risk assessment framework 
Continuity of service 
rating 

   3 3 

Governance rating    Red Red 
 Annual Plan 

2012-13 
Q1 
2012-13 

Q2 
2012-13 

Q3 
2012-13 

Q4 
2012-13  

Under the Compliance Framework 
Financial risk rating 1 1 1  1 1 
Governance risk 
rating Red Red Red Red Red 

 
The governance rating in the 2013/14 annual plan was red as the RNHRD NHS FT was informed by 
Monitor, in a letter dated 23 May 2012, that it had been placed in significant breach of one term of its 
Authorisation, namely: Condition 2; the general duty to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically' due to financial concerns. Enforcement undertakings are in place pursuant to section 106 
of the health and Social Care Act 2012 due to financial issues and resulting non compliance with the 
Licence conditions. The Trust met all other requirements detailed in the Compliance Framework/Risk 
Assessment Framework during 2013/14. 

 
The financial risk rating was 1 under the Compliance Framework and the continuity of service rating was 
3 under the Risk assessment framework as a consequence of the financial position and the fact that the 
Trust required additional non-recurrent funding. 

  
The key financial constraint the Trust faces is its current liability position and underlying deficit. This is 
due to historic income and expenditure deficits, and the difficulties it faces in achieving economies of 
scale, a proportionate level of overhead and maintaining a sufficient volume of services to recover its 
costs. 
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Enforcement Undertakings were in place pursuant to section 106 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
to address the financial issues leading to non-compliance with the Licence conditions.  The trust is 
working with Monitor and local stakeholders to ensure continuity of services is maintained and determine 
the long term solution. It is expected that the Trust will remain at a continuity of services rating of 3 until 
the services can be transferred to an alternative organisation or organisational form. 
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Public interest disclosures 
 

Income disclosure 
The Trust can confirm that income from the provision of goods and services for the purposes of Health 
Service in England is greater than its income from the provision of goods and services for any other 
purpose.  The Trust receives income from other services including private patients and catering. The 
income generated from these additional activities serves to enhance patient care and further knowledge 
and understanding of the conditions treated at the Trust. 
 
Communication and consultation 
No formal consultations took place with employees during 2013/2014, and there are no consultations in 
progress at the time of this report. Formal consultation may be undertaken in the future, as appropriate, 
as the Trust seeks to develop its new organisational form. 
 
Consultations with local groups and organisations 
No formal consultations took place with local groups and organisations during 2013/2014, and there are 
no formal consultations in progress at the time of this report. 
 
Patient and public involvement activities 
Patient and public involvement activities during 2013/14 have included: 

 
• Patient involvement in the 15-steps challenge, a tool to assist patients and staff to work 

together to identify both good practice and areas for improvements that will enhance the 
patient experience.  During 2013/14 patients were involved in assessing the Trust’s outpatient 
department, therapy outpatient department and the inpatient wards. 

• Patient Literature Group met monthly to review information produced by the Trust to ensure it 
is accessible to and appropriate for patients. 

• Patient and public volunteers complement and support the services that we deliver and help 
to build bridges with the local community. 

• Patients have been involved in improvements in service delivery.  For example patients 
provided their views during the planning and the implementation of a self-check in for patients 
attending the outpatient department. 

• Patients have been involved in the plans for the refurbishment of the Trust’s outpatient 
department. 

 
Health & wellbeing 
The Trust has no current health and safety enforcement notices. 
 
An Occupational Health service including an Employee Assistance scheme providing confidential 
counselling services for employees and their families is available via a contract with the Royal United 
Hospital Bath NHS Trust Occupational Health providers. 
 
In June 2013, the Trust invited NHS Employers to undertake a health and wellbeing survey and has 
since monitored its recommended action plan through monthly meeting with staff side. During 2014-2015 
the Trust will continue to invest in the resilience of its managers and employees and health and well-
being of staff. 
 
Sickness absence data  
Due to an improved health management and sickness absence policy and procedure, sickness absence 
figures have fallen dramatically over the calendar year and at year end (Jan - Dec) we are reporting a 
figure of 3%. This was below the Trust set target of 4% and as a result the target set for 2014 – 2015 is 
3%. 

 
The breakdown of sickness absence over the calendar year is set out below: 
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Period % WTE Total sickness absence 
January 6% 
February 5% 
March 4% 
April 3% 
May 3% 
June 2% 
July 3% 
August 2% 
September 2% 
October 2% 
November 4% 
December 4% 
Year  3% 

*Figures correct as of 08.05.14 
 

Better payment practice code  
The Better Payment Practice Code requires NHS organisations to aim to pay all valid non-NHS invoices 
within 30 days of receipt or the due date whichever is later. 

 
Better Payment Practice Code – measure of compliance: 
 2013/14 2012/13 
 Number £000 Number £000 
Total non-NHS bills paid in 
the year 

3,720 7,475 3,986 7,388 

Total non-NHS bills paid 
within target 

2,615 5,415 2,610 4,234 

Percentage of non-NHS 
bills paid within target 

70.30% 72.44% 65.48% 57.31% 

 
Performance improved compared with 2012/13.  Full compliance with this code was compromised by 
pressures on the organisation’s short-term liquidity arising from ongoing financial deficits, but 
improvements have been delivered in the year with funding support from the Department of Health being 
available to underpin the cash position.  
 
Cost allocation and charges 
The RNHRD NHS FT has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements set out in HM 
Treasury and Office of Public Sector Information guidance. 
 
Policies and procedures with respect to countering fraud and corruption 
The Trust has policies and procedures in place with respect to countering fraud and corruption.  It takes a 
pro-active approach to raising awareness of the potential for fraud amongst its staff and works closely 
with the local counter-fraud service to ensure preventative measures are in place. 
 
Data and confidentiality 
There were no serious incidents involving data loss or confidentiality breach during 2013/14. 

 
Charitable Funds  
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS FT Charitable Funds is the main fundraising 
charity for research, building and equipment projects across the Trust. We would like to thank all those 
patients, friends and relatives who have contributed to the charity over the past year.   
 
In accordance with IAS 27 (revised), the financial statements of the Trust have been consolidated to 
incorporate the Charitable Funds accounts. The accounts for 2012/13 have been restated.  The 
Charitable Funds Annual Report and Accounts is also published separately and is available on request. 
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Financial Accounts for 
Year Ended  
31st March 2014  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Presented to Parliament pursuant to Schedule 7,  

paragraph 25(4)(a) of the National Health Service Act 2006 
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Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the Accounting 
Officer of the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS 
Foundation Trust  
 
The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer of the NHS Foundation 
Trust.  The relevant responsibilities of the Accounting Officer, including their responsibility for the 
propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of 
proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by 
Monitor.  
 
Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases 
NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on 
the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and 
must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic 
Diseases NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses 
and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 
 

• make judgments and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
 

• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in 
the accounts; 

 
• ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated 

authorities and guidance; and 
 

• prepare the accounts on a going concern basis. 
 

The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic 
Diseases NHS Foundation Trust and to enable her to ensure that the accounts comply with 
requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act.  The Accounting Officer is also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation 
Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 
 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in 
Monitor's NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
 
 

 
 
Kirsty Matthews 
 
Chief Executive                                                                                                             22nd May 2014 
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Annual Governance Statement  
 
Scope of responsibility  
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of the NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds 
and departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned 
to me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation Trust is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities 
as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
 
The purpose of the system of internal control  
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk 
of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of the Royal National Hospital for 
Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of 
internal control has been in place in the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts. 
  
Capacity to handle risk 
Leadership is given to the risk management process through; 

• the Audit Committee and Board developing and agreeing the Assurance Framework, 
• the board sub committees structures which are now well embedded to strengthen risk management. 

The Finance and Activity Committee meets monthly and the Integrated Governance and Quality 
Assurance Committee meets quarterly, both committees report to the Audit Committee and Board, 

• the Finance and Activity Committee considers financial risks associated with finance and activity plans,  
• the Integrated Governance and Quality Assurance Committee considers risks associated with clinical 

quality and governance, 
• the Audit Committee reviews all risks on the risk register rated moderate and above and ensures that 

appropriate controls are in place to minimise risks, 
• the Clinical Risk Committee reviews all clinical risks rated moderate and above and receives reports on 

complaints, claims and reviews reports from the following committees; health and safety, infection 
prevention and control, medical devices, drugs and therapeutics, safeguarding and reports from the 
National Patient Safety Agency and reports to the Integrated Governance and Quality Assurance 
Committee, 

• staff are trained or equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to their authority and duties 
• all staff receive training at induction on risk management policy and process and staff responsibilities 

and duties, 
• all staff have access to electronic incident reporting which is encouraged and supported by line 

managers.  Line Managers aim to complete their approval of incident reports within 2   weeks and the 
trust reports patient safety incidents to the National Reporting and Learning Service and patient safety 
incidents are reviewed at the Clinical Risk Committee, 

• the Trust seeks to learn from good practice through; membership of local safeguarding committees and 
the Patient Safety Campaign and implementation of a range of patient safety initiatives, 

• regular briefings for the Senior Managers.  
 

The risk and control framework 
The objective of the Risk Management Strategy is to ensure that the Trust will conduct its business to the best 
possible standard and provide the highest quality of care in a safe environment, through identifying, prioritising 
and managing all aspects of risk.  
 
The Trust Risk Management Strategy aims to achieve the key objective above and ensure: 

• management processes are in place to minimise risks, 
• high patient safety standards are maintained, 
• the cost of risk is reduced, 
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• safe practices exist, 
• safe systems exist, 
• safe premises, 
• awareness of dangers and liabilities. 

 
The strategy harnesses the knowledge and expertise of individuals within the organisation and translates it with 
their help into positive action, to help the Trust to achieve its objectives. 
 
Risk management is embedded in the activity of the organisation through risk management policies and 
monitoring against these at various committees.  All staff receive training at induction on the management of 
risk and reporting of incidents.   
 
Risks to data security are managed and controlled through implementation of the Code of Conduct in Respect 
of Confidentiality and Data Security Policy and procedures and staff training at Induction on Information 
Governance and through national Information Governance training.  There have been no incidents of significant 
data loss during 2013/14. 
 
Risk (or change in risk) is identified, evaluated and controlled through reporting of risks on a trust risk register, 
risks are then reviewed at the relevant sub committee level to ensure all risks have been identified, evaluated 
and controlled.   
 
Quality assurance is obtained through reporting to the IGQAC committee on a range of quality governance 
areas including patient safety, clinical risk, clinical effectiveness, patient experience and any external visits, 
information governance, human resources and a 6 monthly review of compliance against the NHS Constitution.  
Assurance is obtained routinely on CQC registration requirements through quarterly declarations to the Board 
by the Directors with responsibility for each key standard and a review of the evidence to support the 
declarations and review of the CQC Quality and Risk Profiles at the IGQAC meeting which reports to the Board. 
 
Financial assurance is obtained through reporting to the monthly Finance and Activity committee. 
 
Risk appetites are determined by the review of all risks on the risk register, rated moderate and above, at each 
Audit Committee meeting which then reports to the Board.   The Audit Committee and Board also review the 
Assurance Framework on a 6 monthly basis. 
 
These governance structures ensure that detailed information is analysed prior to presentation to the board and 
consequently the IGQAC and Finance and Activity Committees provide assurance. The committees review the 
content of the Governance declarations prior to presentation to the board to ensure they are consistent with a 
range of information presented. 
  
The trust is able to assure itself of the validity of its Corporate Governance Statement required under NHS 
foundation trust condition 4(8)(b) as; 
 

• In 2013/14 the board approved an assessment of the arrangements in place at the RNHRD NHS FT 
regarding compliance with the Code of Governance.  The board reviewed the controls and assurance 
in place against these recommendations, together with any actions where there were gaps in controls 
and assurance. 

• The board sub–committees review the content of the governance declarations prior to presentation to 
the board to ensure they are consistent with a range of information presented. 

• The governance declarations are presented to the board for approval and signature prior to submitting 
to Monitor. 

 
 
Major risks - In year:  
 
 Principal risks and 

uncertainties 
Mitigating actions 

1 Risk to occurrence of the 
potential acquisition by RUH. 
(High) 

Submission of strategic intent to Monitor end of 
June 2013, and submission of strategic plan end of 
October 2013. Regular meetings between all 
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 external stakeholders, update to RNHRD NHS FT 
Board through CEO strategic update in closed 
session. 

2 Loss of key personnel leading 
to a business continuity risk. 
(High) 

Business continuity plan. Detailed presentation 
given at the Audit Committee January 2014 by 
CEO against this risk, presentation subsequently 
shared with Monitor and the Trust Board.  Risk will 
be reviewed and updated once the strategic plan 
has been agreed, target date end of March 2014. 

3 Delay in rheumatology follow 
ups. (High) 

New Consultant appointed and due to start 1 June 
2014.  Detailed demand and capacity planning 
underway for 2014/15.  Monthly audit of longest 
delays to help facilitate discharge if appropriate.  
Outstanding rheumatology follow ups monitored 
monthly by the Finance and Activity Committee 
and Trust Board and sub committees.  Goal to 
reduce maximum wait to 6 weeks over stated 
follow up. 

4 Failure to meet cash targets 
and/or obtain funding required 
to meet the cash shortfalls 
forecast (Moderate) 

Rolling 3 month forecasts of daily cash balances by 
the finance team as well as monthly reports to the 
Finance and Activity Committee and Board of the 
forecast position to year end. Support from 
Department of Health was provided during 
December 2013 as part of the agreed drawdown 
facility, and the Trust ended the financial year with 
£1,652k cash balance. 
 

5 Failure to achieve activity and 
cost levels underpinning the 
plan in 2013/14 (Moderate) 

Monitoring of Financial plan presented to April 
2013 Board.  Forecasting, monitoring and reporting 
monthly to Finance and Activity Committee, Board 
and Monitor.  Activity levels were achieved and 
plan was exceeded in the year as can be seen in 
the comparative analysis of activity on page 16. 
Costs were controlled during the year to ensure 
successful delivery of the financial plan. 

6 Failure to meet provider licence 
conditions due to risks detailed 
above (Moderate) 

Agreement of and compliance with strategic plans 
submitted to Monitor at end of October 2013.   

7 Single Consultant Specialty 
(Moderate) 

Consultant Endoscopist attends monthly MDT and 
is receiving supervised training at the RUH.  As 
RNHRD NHS FT is not part of G.I. cancer pathway 
most high risk patients are not referred to RNHRD 
NHS FT for endoscopy. 
Provisional arrangements in place for service to be 
delivered at RUH endoscopy unit if quality 
compromised. 

8 Breach of C. difficile threshold 
by exceeding 6 cases in 6 
separate patients. (Moderate) 

Infection prevention and control policies and 
procedures in place.  Root cause analysis 
completed on all cases and any resulting action 
plans are reviewed by Infection Prevention and 
Control Committee and Clinical Risk Committee, 
IGQAC and Trust Board.  External assessments by 
host commissioner.   

 
 
The risks noted by the Board in the CQC Intelligent Monitoring March 2014 report were; 
 
One red elevated risk which relates to the Monitor Governance Risk Rating as a consequence of the financial 
risks. 
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One red elevated risk which relates to staff turnover rate being higher than expected when compared to 
national data, due to the closure of neuro rehabilitation on 31.3.13.  This risk rating will not change until there 
has been 12 months of data since the closure of neuro rehabilitation i.e. from April 2014. 
 
One amber rated risk which relates to consistency of incident reporting to NRLS (National Reporting and 
Learning System) in the past the trust reported incidents quarterly due to the relatively low number of incidents 
but has been reporting monthly since October 2013 to reduce this apparent risk and therefore this risk is 
expected to decrease once the data is refreshed after 12 months of monthly reporting i.e. from October 2014.   
 
 
Future risks:  
 
'The RNHRD NHS FT was informed by Monitor, in a letter dated 23 May 2012, that it had been placed in 
significant breach of one term of its Authorisation,  namely Condition 2; the general duty to exercise its 
functions effectively, efficiently and economically.  As a foundation trust, the RNHRD NHS FT was issued a 
Provider Licence by Monitor on 1st April 2013.  The circumstances in which the NHS Foundation Trust was in 
significant breach of its authorisation also gave rise to the NHS Foundation Trust being in breach of its Provider 
Licence and consequently Monitor issued enforcement undertakings.  
 
The trust submitted a strategic plan in line with these enforcement undertakings in October 2013.  Monitor has 
worked with the trust and the local health economy to agree the optimum strategic solution to ensure continuity 
of services within the requirements of patient benefit and value for money criteria. 
 
The principle risks to compliance with the NHS foundation trust condition 4 (FT governance) remain that the 
trust is not compliant with the duty to operate efficiently, economically and effectively due to the significant 
financial challenges it faces and enforcement undertakings in place.  This results in a governance risk rating of 
red, although there have been no other national target breaches throughout the year. 
 
The future risks for 2014/15 are: 

• Risk to occurrence of the potential acquisition by another NHS trust (High). 
• Loss of key personnel – business continuity risk (High). 
• Failure to meet provider licence conditions (Moderate). 
• Failure to meet cash targets and/or obtain funding required to meet the cash shortfalls forecast 

(Moderate). 
• Failure to achieve activity and cost levels underpinning the plan in 2014/15 (Moderate). 

Equality impact assessments are integrated into core Trust businesses through completion of standard equality 
impact assessment forms in Trust policies and procedures and review by the appropriate ratifying committee. 
 
Public stakeholders are involved in managing risks which impact on them through:  

• Governor representatives attendance at Board meetings and Audit Committee meetings and through 
discussion with Executive Directors at Council of Governor meetings. Local Involvement Committee 
member representatives also attend Council of Governor meetings.  

• Board meetings monthly in public.  
 
The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission. 
 
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in place 
to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme regulations are complied with. This includes 
ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in 
accordance with the Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in 
accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations. 
 
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and 
human rights legislation are complied with. 
 
The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans are in place in 
accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 
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weather projects, to ensure that this organisation’s obligations under Climate Change Act and the Adaption 
reporting requirements are complied with. 
 
Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 
The Trust has had an underlying deficit through the 2 preceding financial years (2012/13 £2,605k before 
restructuring costs and additional funding and 2011/12 £1006k), and the budget for 2013/14 reflected an 
expectation of further deterioration in the position.  There was a recognition that with such a small revenue 
base, and little scope for further reduction in fixed and semi-fixed overheads, further cost improvements would 
be challenging.  The budget for 2013/14 was approved by the Trust Board as a deficit of £3,590k. 
 
Increased activity and a close control over costs, including tight vacancy control and a cost improvement 
schedule of £136k enabled the Trust to deliver a deficit of £1,125k.  
 
The Finance & Activity Board subcommittee has actively scrutinised the financial performance of the Trust 
against the 2013/14 plan on a monthly basis and provided reports to the Trust Board and Audit Committee 
accordingly.  The external auditors have been kept appraised of the situation throughout.   
 
Annual Quality Report  
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.  Monitor has issued 
guidance to NHS Foundation Trust boards on the form and content of annual Quality Reports which incorporate 
the above legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 
 
The steps which have been put in place to assure the Board that the Quality Reports presents a balanced view 
and that there are appropriate controls in place to ensure the accuracy of the data; 

• Governance and leadership 
• The role of policies and plans in ensuring quality of care provided 
• Systems and processes 
• People and skills; and  
• Data use and reporting (comments on the systems in place to review and report the quality metrics, 

focusing on both data collection and reporting) 
 
Governance and leadership 

• during 2013/14 the RNHRD NHS FT Board approved the overall strategy for quality which included 
Trust-wide quality goals covering safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience which 
incorporated national and local priorities.  The local priorities were identified by our patients, 
members, governors and local Healthwatch representatives, commissioning Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and staff. (see page 57 - 58), 

• during 2013/14 the board held open board meetings every month, 
• quality is the first Board key standing agenda item, 
• the Board reviewed performance against national quality goals every month and the local quality 

goals each quarter, 
• the Board quality governance structure has an established Board sub committee; the Integrated 

Governance and Quality Assurance Committee (IGQAC) chaired by the Chief Executive with a Non 
Executive Director (NED) and Executive Director Membership.  The IGQAC committee receives 
reports on a range of quality issues and provides assurance to the Board on quality performance 
throughout the Trust including; compliance with CQC essential standards of quality and safety, 
clinical risks and incidents, patient safety, patient experience, complaints, Patient Advice and 
Liaison Service (PALs), National CQC Survey of adult inpatients in the NHS results for the RNHRD 
NHS FT, clinical effectiveness including national guidance such as National Institute for Health and 
Clinical Excellence (NICE), and training reports, 

• the Board is advised of any risks to clinical quality through an up to date risk register report which 
covers all Trust services and is presented to each quarterly meeting of IGQAC and the Audit 
Committee. Each risk has a designated lead Director, 

• there is a process in place for capturing front-line staff concerns, including a whistle blowing policy,   
• the Trust has in place a bespoke audit system, Vital Aspects of Care (VACs), which provides early 

warning indicators for patient safety.  The Board receives a report on the VACs outcomes at each 
month, 
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• to ensure the Quality Report presents a balanced view a draft version was approved by the IGQAC 
committee prior to presentation to the Audit Committee and Board. 

The role of policies and plans in ensuring quality of care provided 
• the organisation structure ensures clear responsibilities for delivering quality performance, 
• the Trust has policies in place to ensure quality of care provided and updates to policies are ratified 

by the sub committees, 
• there are clear rules within Trust policies to cover escalation of serious untoward incidents and 

complaints,  
• a statement regarding occurrences of any serious untoward incidents and complaints is included in 

the monthly quality performance report to the Board, 
• action plans to address quality performance issues are reviewed at IGQAC to ensure that actions 

are completed and lessons are learned, 
• there is a continuous rolling programme of clinical (national and local) and internal audit in relation 

to quality governance, which includes action plans competed from the audit and a programme of 
re-audits are undertaken to assess improvement.  This process is reviewed at IGQAC and the 
Audit Committee. 
 

Systems and processes 
• quality outcomes are made public through Board meetings in public, presentation and feedback at 

Council of Governor meetings, Annual Members Day and posting information on the Trust web site, 
• patient feedback is reviewed by the Board through the monthly patient walk rounds and the 

quarterly quality reports which include feedback through complaints, PALs, feedback to Governors, 
National CQC Survey of Adult inpatients in the NHS results for RNHRD NHS FT, 

• the Board actively engages other stakeholders on quality through; 
o quarterly quality reports reporting at the IQGAC meeting attended by a representative of the 

host commissioner, 
o meeting and sharing quality reports with the host commissioner, and  

• Governors are in attendance at all Board meetings. 
 
People and skills 

• quality governance is subject to rigorous challenge, including full NED engagement and review 
through participation in Audit Committee and IGQAC, 

• the capabilities required in relation to delivering good quality governance are reflected in the make 
up of the Board, 

• the Audit Committee has conducted self-assessments during the year against the Code of 
Governance, 

•  the Board members have taken a proactive approach to improving quality through a monthly walk 
rounds to identify areas for improvement, the outcome of the walk rounds are reported to the 
Board.  The resulting action plans are presented to the Board, 

• the Board have received training including quality issues prior to each Board meeting, 
• staff throughout the Trust are involved in national patient safety initiatives,  
• The Chief Executive Briefing sessions for all staff include items on quality. 

 
Data use and reporting 

• the trust’s Information Governance Strategy, Policy and Annual Plan include data quality 
requirements of accuracy, validity, reliability, timeliness, relevance and completeness,    

• the Board received a monthly dashboard on national priority indicators and regulatory requirements 
and local performance measures, including Monitor’s Risk Ratings and adverse event reporting.  
These include performance against targets in conjunction with a Red/Amber/Green (R/A/G) rating 
and historic own performance and benchmarking where available, 

• granular reports are reviewed by IGQAC and the Finance and Activity Committee, 
• the reports cover all the Trust’s services and are challenged at the individual service level, 
• there were no compliance or improvement actions following the outcome of the Care Quality 

Commission unannounced inspection visit during 2013/14,  
• there are no major concerns with coding accuracy performance, 
• there were no high risks identified through the internal audit of data quality. 
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Review of effectiveness 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, 
clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS Foundation Trust who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the 
content of the quality report attached to this annual report and other performance information available to me. 
My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other 
reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control by the board, the audit committee and the Integrated Governance Quality and Assurance 
Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place. 
 
The board received reports from: 

• The Audit Committee on systems of internal control. 
• Monthly finance reports. 
• The Finance and Activity Committee which considers the potential impact of finance and activity risks. 
• The Integrated Governance and Quality Assurance Committee which includes clinical risks rated as 

moderate or above and the information governance toolkit annual assessment results and action plan. 
• Assurance framework. 

 
The Audit Committee completed a review of the assurance framework and received reports from the Finance 
and Activity Committee, Charitable Funds and Integrated Governance and Quality Assurance Committee.  All 
organisational risks rated as moderate or above and all audit recommendations rated as high priority are 
considered by the Audit Committee, and the committee monitors and enforces implementation of those 
recommendations.  
As part of the approved internal audit plan for 2013/14, an audit of the Assurance Framework and Governance 
was undertaken.  

Taking account of the issues identified, the Head of Internal Audit opinion was that based on the work 
undertaken in 2013/2014, significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of internal 
control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied 
consistently. 
 
Based on the work undertaken in 2013/2014, significant assurance can be given that there is a generally 
sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are 
generally being applied consistently. 
 
This opinion should also be viewed in the context of the following high and moderate risk areas faced by the 
Trust, as they may have an impact on the Trust’s ability to continue to operate including, but not limited to 

• Risk to occurrence of the potential acquisition by the RUH (High) 
•  Loss of key personnel – business continuity risk (High) 
•  Failure to meet provider licence conditions (Moderate) 
•  Failure to meet cash targets and/or obtain funding required to meet the cash shortfalls forecast 

(Moderate) 
•  Failure to achieve activity and cost levels underpinning the plan in 2013/14 (Moderate) 

The Trust continues to work towards its acquisition by the RUH with interim financial support. 

These risks are consistent with those noted both in the risk register and the risks described on pages 97 - 98   
in the report and appropriate risk mitigation plans are in place. 
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Conclusion  
Having regard to the processes in place and matters raised in committee reports and reports from internal and 
external auditors I am able to conclude that no significant internal control issues have been identified. 
 
Further, on the basis that the Board has resolved that the patient services of the Trust should be transferred as 
noted within this Annual Report, the requirement of paragraph 3.20 of the Monitor NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14 has been met and accordingly the Accounts have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. 
 
Signed 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Kirsty Matthews 
Chief Executive        22nd May 2014 
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Independent auditors’ report to the Council of Governors 
of the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases 
NHS Foundation Trust 
 
Report on the financial statements 

Our opinion 

In our opinion the financial statements, defined below: 

• give a true and fair view, of the state of the group’s and of the parent NHS Foundation Trust’s affairs as 
at 31 March 2014 and of the group’s income and expenditure and group’s and parent NHS Foundation 
Trust’s cash flows for the year then ended; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14. 

This opinion is to be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this report. 

What we have audited 

The group financial statements and parent NHS Foundation Trust financial statements (the “financial 
statements”), which are prepared by the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust, 
comprise: 

• the group and parent NHS Foundation Trust Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2014; 

• the group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended; 

• the group and parent NHS Foundation Trust Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended; 

• the group and parent NHS Foundation Trust Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the year 
then ended; and 

• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14 issued by the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”). 

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for 
example in respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions 
and considered future events. 

What an audit of financial statements involves 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & 
Ireland)”). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:  

• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and the parent NHS Foundation Trust’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;  

• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and  

• the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report. 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Audit Code for 
NHS Foundation Trusts 

In our opinion:  
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• the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance 
with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14. 

Emphasis of Matter- Going Concern 

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of 
the disclosures made in note 1 (Accounting Policies) and note 26 (Contingent Liabilities) to the financial 
statements concerning the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Trust is currently developing plans 
for the continuity of its services involving transfer to another entity. It anticipates that it will receive external 
financial support to ensure that it is properly resourced during the intervening period. However, the extent and 
the nature of any financial support, including whether such support will be forthcoming or sufficient, is not yet 
known. In addition, it is not yet known with certainty when the acquisition will take place, as it is dependent on a 
number of uncertain factors outside of the control of the Trust. These conditions indicate the existence of 
material uncertainties, which may cast significant doubt about the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
The financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Trust was unable to continue as a 
going concern. 

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception 
The Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts requires us to report where we have not been able to satisfy ourselves 
that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. We draw your attention to the Trust’s Annual Governance Statement on pages 96 - 103  and Note 26 to 
the financial statements. On 1st April 2013, the Trust was issued a Provider Licence by the regulator Monitor.  
The Trust requires a Provider Licence in order to provide NHS services, in accordance with the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012.  At this time, Monitor stated that they had reasonable grounds to suspect that the Licensee has 
provided and is providing health care services for the purposes of the NHS in breach of the following conditions 
of its license: CoS3(1) and FT4(5)(a). These breaches by the Licensee demonstrate a failure of financial 
governance arrangements and financial management standards, in particular but not limited to a failure by the 
Licensee to establish and effectively implement systems and/or processes to ensure compliance with the 
Licensee’s duty to operate efficiently, economically and effectively 

Consequently, we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the financial year, and our certificate is 
qualified in this respect. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 
requires us to report to you if:  

• in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out 
in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14 or is misleading or inconsistent with 
information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or whether 
risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls; or 

• we have qualified,  on any aspect, our opinion on the Quality Report.   

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 
Our responsibilities and those of the directors 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibility set out on page 95 the directors 
are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14.  

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with the National 
Health Service Act 2006, the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor and ISAs (UK & Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.  

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Council of Governors of the Royal 
National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraph 24 of Schedule 7 
of the National Health Service Act 2006 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or 
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose 
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
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Foreword to the Accounts 
 
These accounts for the year ended 31st March 2014 have been prepared by the Royal National 
Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust under Schedule 7 paragraphs 24 and 25 of 
the National Health Service Act 2006 in the form which Monitor has, with the approval of the Treasury, 
directed. 
 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report and 
Accounts are presented to Parliament pursuant to Schedule 7, paragraph 25(4)(a) of the National 
Health Service Act 2006. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Kirsty Matthews 
 
Chief Executive         22nd May 2014 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2014 
 

   
Group  Foundation Trust 

   2013-14 2012-13 (restated)  2013-14 2012-13 
   Total Continuing 

Operations 
Discontinued 
Operations Total  Total Continuing 

Operations 
Discontinued 
Operations Total 

Income Note  £000 £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 £000 
Income from activities 3,4  16,670 15,676 1,673 17,349  16,670 15,676 1,673 17,349 
Non-recurrent non SLA Income 5  0 4,648 0 4,648  0 4,648 0 4,648 
Other Operating Income 3,6  1,783 2,145 0 2,145  1,775 1,751 0 1,751 
Operating Income   18,453 22,469 1,673 24,142  18,445 22,075 1,673 23,748 
            
Operating Expenses including 
Impairments 7,8 

 
(19,630) (19,228) (2,367) (21,595)  (19,535) (19,161) (2,367) (21,528) 

Restructuring Costs 7,8  113 0 (1,121) (1,121)  113 0 (1,121) (1,121) 
Operating (Deficit) /Surplus    (1,064) 3,241 (1,815) 1,426  (977) 2,914 (1,815) 1,099 
            
Finance income and expenditure          
Finance income 9  17 15 0 15  7 5 0    5 
PDC dividends payable 10  (155) (182) 0 (182)  (155) (182) 0 (182) 
(Deficit) /Surplus for the year   (1,202) 3,074 (1,815) 1,259  (1,125) 2,737 (1,815) 922 
          
Other comprehensive income and expenditure – amounts that will not be reclassified subsequently to income and expenditure 
     
Revaluation gains /(impairment losses)  
property, plant and equipment 416 0 (467) (467)  416 0 (467) (467) 
Net gains on revaluation of financial assets 6 27 0 27  0 0 0 0 
        
Total Comprehensive (expenditure)  / 
income for the year (780) 3,101 (2,282) 819  (709) 2,737 (2,282)  455 
 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust recorded a deficit in 2013/14 of (£1,125k) (2012/13 surplus of £922k).  The 2012/13 year end 
position, however, included items of significant non-recurrent income and expenditure.  The underlying position in 2012/13 was a deficit of (£2,605k),  £113k of restructuring 
costs has been released in 2013/14 as these were not required.  
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31ST MARCH 2014 
  

Note 
Group Foundation Trust

  31st March 
2014 

31st March 
2013 

1st April 2012  31st March 
2014 

31st March 
2013 

11st April 2012 

  £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 
Non-current assets       
Intangible assets 13 58 78 126  58 78 126 
Investments 14 252 246 219  0 0 0 
Property, plant and equipment 15 6,627 6,604 7,162  6,627 6,604 7,162 
Total non-current assets  6,937 6,928 7,507  6,685 6,682 7,288 
       
Current assets       
Inventories 16 41 81 44  38 81 44 
Trade and other receivables 17 867 2,539 1,811  896 2,561 1,863 
Cash and cash equivalents 22 1,960 2,533 763  1,652 2,130 690 
Total Current assets  2,868 5,153 2,618  2,586 4,772 2,597 
       
Total assets  9,805 12,081 10,125  9,271 11,454 9,885 
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables 18 (1,580) (3,861) (2,833)  (1,575) (3,834) (2,829) 

Borrowings  0 0 (1)  0 0 (1) 
Deferred income 21 (715) (411) (273)  (715) (411) (273) 
Total current liabilities  (2,295) (4,272) (3,107)  (2,290) (4,245) (3,103) 
Non-current liabilities       
Trade and other payables 18 0 (4) (22)  0 (4) (22) 
Provisions 19 0 (10) (15)  0 (10) (15) 
Deferred income 21 (22) (27) (32)  (22) (27) (32) 
Total non-current liabilities  (22) (41) (69)  (22) (41) (69) 
       
Total liabilities  (2,317) (4,313) (3,176)  (2,312) (4,286) (3,172) 
         
Total assets employed  7,488 7,768 6,949  6,959 7,168 6,713 
       
Financed by taxpayers’ and others’ equity       
Public dividend capital  6,515 6,015 6,015  6,515 6,015 6,015 
Revaluation reserve  896 480 947  896 480 947 
Income and expenditure reserve  (452) 673 (249)  (452) 673 (249) 
Charitable Reserves  529 600 236  0 0 0 
Total taxpayers’ and others’ equity  7,488 7,768 6,949  6,959 7,168 6,713 
 
The notes on pages 112 - 139 form part of these accounts. 
The Accounts on pages 108 – 139 were approved by the board of directors on 22nd May 2014 and signed on its behalf by Kirsty Matthews, Chief Executive 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2014 
 

 Public 
Dividend 
Capital 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve 
Charitable 
Reserves Total 

 Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
 

Taxpayers’ and Others’ equity at 1st  April 2013  6,015  480  673 600 7,768 
       
Deficit for the year   0 0 (1,125) (77) (1,202) 
       
New PDC received  500 0 0 0 500 
       
Revaluation gains on property, plant and equipment 15 0 416 0 0 416 
       
Realised and unrealised gains on investment assets  0 0 0 6 6 
       
Taxpayers’ and Others’ equity at 31 March 2014  6,515 896  (452) 529 7,488 
       
       
       
Taxpayers’ and Others’ equity at 1st  April 2012  6,015 947 (249) 0 6,713 
       
Prior Year adjustment – consolidation of Charity  0 0 0 236 236 
       
Balance brought forward 1st  April 2012 (restated)  6,015 947 (249) 236 6,949 
       
Surplus for the year including impairments  0 0 922 337 1,259 
       
Revaluation gains/(losses) and impairment losses property, 
plant and equipment 

15 
0 (467) 0 0 (467) 

       
Realised and unrealised gains on investment assets  0 0 0 27 27 
       
Taxpayers’ and Others’ equity at 31st March 2013  6,015 480 673 600 7,768 
 
Public Dividend Capital represents capital provided by the Department of Health to fund the initial net assets employed when the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic 
Diseases NHS Foundation Trust was created plus additional Public Dividend Capital provided in 2013/14. (See Note 1.15) 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluations of non-current assets relating principally to the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Disease NHS Foundation Trust's land 
and property. 
The Income and Expenditure Reserve is the aggregate of the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust’s previous years' operating surpluses or 
deficits. The Charitable Reserves are the aggregate of previous years’ excesses of income over expenditure in the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases Charitable 
Fund.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2014 
 
  Group  Foundation Trust
  2013/14 2012/13  2013/14 2012/13 
 Note £000 £000  £000 £000 
Cash flows from operating activities      
Operating (deficit) /surplus of continuing 
operations 

 
(1,064) 3,241  (977) 2,914 

Operating (deficit) of discontinued operations  0 (1,815)  0 (1,815) 
Operating (deficit) / surplus  (1,064) 1,426  (977) 1,099 
     
Non-cash income and expenses     
Depreciation and amortisation 13,15 471 429  471 429 
Impairments  0 55  0 55 
Decrease / (Increase) in trade and other 
receivables 

 
17 1,669 (727)  1,662 (698) 

Decrease/(Increase) in Inventories 16 40 (37)  43 (37) 
(Decrease) in trade and other payables 18 (2,285) (35)  (2,263) (57) 
Increase in other liabilities 21 299 133  299 133 
(Decrease) in provisions 19 (10) (5)  (10) (5) 
Movements in operating cash flow of 
discontinued operations 

 
0 1,060  0 1,060 

Net cash (used in) / generated from 
operations 

 (880) 2,299  (775) 1,979 

     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Interest and investment income received  17 15  7 5 
Purchase of intangible assets 13 (9) 0  (9) 0 
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment 15 (49) (345)  (49) (345) 
Net Cash used in investing activities  (41) (330)  (51) (340) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities       
Public dividend capital received  500 0  500 0 
Capital element of finance lease rental 
payments 

 
0 (1)  0 (1) 

PDC dividend paid  (152) (198)  (152) (198) 
Net cash generated from / (used in) 
financing activities 

 348 (199)  348 (199) 

     
(Decrease) / Increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
(573) 1,770  (478)   1,440 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1st  April  2,533 763  2,130 690 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31st March  1,960 2,533  1,652 2,130 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 2013-14 
 

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Monitor has directed that the accounts of Foundation Trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trusts Annual Reporting Manual (FT ARM) which shall be agreed with HM Treasury.  Consequently, the 
following accounts have been prepared in accordance with the FT ARM 2013/14 issued by Monitor.  The accounting 
policies contained in the manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury's FReM to the 
extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS Foundation Trusts.  The accounting policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts. 
 
1.1 Accounting Convention 
 
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of land 
and buildings and investments. 
 
1.2 Going Concern 
 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust was issued a Provider License by Monitor on 
1st April 2013 which replaced its terms of authorization.  The circumstances in which the Foundation Trust was in 
significant breach of the terms of its authorisation gave Monitor reasonable grounds to give enforcement undertakings in 
April 2013. 
 
International Accounting Standards (IAS1) require the directors to assess, as part of the accounts preparation process, the 
Foundation Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. In accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual paragraph 3.20, the financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis unless the directors either 
intend to apply to the Secretary of State for the dissolution of the Foundation Trust without the transfer of the services to 
another entity, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.   
 
The Trust intends to transfer its services to another entity by the end of 2014/15.  Negotiations to transfer the services are 
on-going, and consequently the directors believe the going concern assumption remains appropriate. This transfer may 
take the form of the Trust being acquired by another Trust. The Trust is putting in place plans to enable the continuity of its 
services and is seeking to obtain non-recurrent funding such that the services are properly resourced and can be safely 
delivered during the intervening period.   
 
The Trust presented its strategic plan to Monitor in October 2013, reaffirming its preferred option of acquisition by an 
identified partner.  The date of acquisition is dependent on a number of uncertain factors outside of the control of the Trust 
and it is not yet known with certainty when the services will be acquired.  The nature of the acquisition may impact on the 
carrying value of assets and liabilities currently recognized in the accounts.  In particular, there is a risk that exceptional 
costs such as restructuring or redundancies may be incurred in 2014/15 if the strategic plan is not delivered. 
 
There are two material uncertainties around these plans; whether the funding being sought to support the cash position to 
enable the Trust’s delivery of the Services in the intervening period will be awarded to the Trust, and whether the Trust will 
be successful in reaching agreement with another Trust in transferring its services.   These material uncertainties identified 
by the directors may cast significant doubt about the ability of the Trust to continue as a going concern, but the directors 
believe that the going concern basis remains appropriate. 
 
The Foundation Trust received additional Public Dividend Capital of £500,000 during the year to 31st March 2014. It is 
expected that further non-recurrent funding will be secured to ensure continuity of services.   
 
The accounts do not include any adjustments that would result if the Foundation Trust was unable to continue as a going 
concern. 
 
1.3  Consolidation 
 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust is the corporate trustee to the Royal National 
Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases Charitable Fund (the Charitable Fund).  The Foundation Trust has assessed its 
relationship to the Charitable Fund and determined it to be a subsidiary because the Foundation Trust has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of the Charitable Fund so as to obtain benefits from its activities for itself, its 
patients and its staff. 
 
Prior to 2013/14, the FT ARM permitted the Foundation Trust not to consolidate the Charitable Fund.  From 2013/14 the 
Foundation Trust has consolidated the Charitable Fund and has applied this as a change in accounting policy.
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1.3 Consolidation (continued) 
The Charitable Fund’s statutory accounts are prepared to 31st March in accordance with the UK Charities Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP) which is based on UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP).  On 
consolidation, necessary adjustments are made to the charity’s assets, liabilities and transactions to: 

- Recognise and measure them in accordance with the Foundation Trust’s accounting policies; and 
- Eliminate intra-group transactions, balances, gains and losses. 

 
1.4 Income Recognition 
 
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is measured at 
the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic 
Diseases NHS Foundation Trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services.    
 
Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.  
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met, and is 
measured as the sums due under the sale contract. 
 
Financial support was received from the Department of Health in the form of additional Public Dividend Capital during 
2013/14; this was not recognised as income.   
  
1.5  Expenditure on employee benefits 
 
Short term employee benefits  
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from 
employees.  The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is 
recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following 
period. 
 
Pension costs 
 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the scheme can be 
found at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, 
General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It is not 
possible for the NHS Foundation Trust to identify its share of the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is 
accounted for as a defined contribution scheme.   
 
Employers pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due. 
 
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the retirement is 
due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the time the 
trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 
 
1.6  Expenditure on goods and services 
 
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is measured 
at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where it results in 
the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment. 
 
1.7 Property, plant and equipment 
 
Recognition 
Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where  

- it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 
- it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Foundation Trust; 
- it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;   
- the cost of the item can be measured reliably and; 
- has an individual  cost of at least £5,000;  or  
- the items form a group of assets which individually have a cost of more than £250, collectively have a cost of at 

least £5,000, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, 
are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control;  or 

- form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building or refurbishment of a ward or unit, 
irrespective of their individual or collective cost. 

- where a component is separable from its host asset and is considered significant it is capitalised separately. 
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1.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
Valuation 
 
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable to 
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating 
in the manner intended by management. Property assets are measured subsequently at fair value. 
 
Property 
 
The fair value of land and buildings are determined by valuations carried out by professionally qualified valuers in 
accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. The valuations are 
carried out primarily on the basis of modern equivalent cost for specialised operational property and existing use value for 
non-specialised operational property.  For non-operational properties, including surplus land, the valuations are carried out 
at open market value. For property assets the frequency of revaluations will be at least every five years, in line with 
Monitor's view, but more frequently in volatile times in the property market. 
 
Assets under construction are valued at cost and are subsequently revalued by professional valuers when brought into use 
or when factors indicate that the value of the asset differs materially from its carrying value. 
 
Other assets 
Other assets include plant, machinery and equipment and the depreciated historical cost basis has been adopted as a 
proxy fair value in respect of these assets which have short lives or low values. 
 
Subsequent expenditure 
 
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant or equipment is recognised as an increase in the carrying 
amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost 
incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be determined reliably.  
Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition 
above.  The carrying amount of the part it replaces is de-recognised.  Other expenditure that does not generate additional 
future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred. 
 
Depreciation 
 
Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful lives in a manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not 
depreciated.  The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust depreciates its non-current 
assets on a straight-line basis over the expected life of the asset after allowing for the residual value.  Useful lives are 
determined on a case by case basis.  The typical lives for the following assets are: 
 
Asset category Useful life 

(years) 
Freehold property - buildings 10 - 29 
Plant & machinery  5 – 15 
Equipment - transport   7 – 10 
Equipment - information technology 5 
Equipment - furniture and fittings  5 - 10 
 
Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use. 
 
Revaluation gains and losses 
 
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a 
revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in 
operating income. 
 
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset 
concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. 
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1.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
Gains and losses recognized in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an 
item of “other comprehensive income”. 
 
Impairments 
 
In accordance with the FT ARM, impairments that are due to a loss of economic benefits or service potential in the asset 
are charged to operating expenses.  A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and 
expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the 
balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment. 
 
An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when, and to the extent that, the 
circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed.  Reversals are recognised in operating income to the extent that the 
asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never been recognised.  Any remaining 
reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve.  Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from 
the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve 
when the impairment reversal is recognised. 
 
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses.  Reversals of “other impairments” are treated as revaluation gains. 
 
De-recognition 
 
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as “Held for Sale” once all of the following criteria are met: 
 

- the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and 
customary for such sales; 

- the sale must be highly probable i.e.: 
management are committed to a plan to sell the asset; 
an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale; 
the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price; 
the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as “Held for Sale”; 
and 
the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant 
changes made to it. 
 

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their “fair value less 
costs to sell”.  Depreciation ceases to be charged.  Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions 
have been met. 
 
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as “Held for Sale” 
and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life adjusted.  The asset is de-recognised when 
scrapping or demolition occurs. 
 
Donated, government grant and other grant funded assets 
 
Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt.  The 
donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future economic 
benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation/grant 
is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward in future financial years to the extent that the condition has not yet been 
met. 
 
The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property, plant 
and equipment. 
 
1.8 Intangible assets 
 
Recognition 
 
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately from the 
rest of the NHS Foundation Trust's business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights.  Subject to a £5,000 
threshold, they are recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be 
provided to, the Trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 
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1.8 Intangible assets (continued) 
Software licences 
 
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, e.g., an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item 
of property, plant and equipment.  Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. application software, is 
capitalised as an intangible asset. 
 
Measurement 
 
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost. 
 
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or “fair value less costs to sell”. 
 
Amortisation 
 
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of 
economic or service delivery benefits.  All intangible assets are currently amortised over a 5 year life. 
 
1.9 Revenue government and other grants 
 
Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from NHS bodies for the provision of services.  
Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that 
expenditure. 
 
1.10 Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a first in first out basis.  High turnover items such as 
drugs are held in the financial statements at cost.   
 
1.11 Financial instruments and financial liabilities 
 
Recognition 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as 
goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS 
Foundation Trust's normal purchase, sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, 
performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.  
 
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases 
NHS Foundation Trust becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.                       
 
De-recognition 
 
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the NHS 
Foundation Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
Classification and measurement 
 
Financial assets are categorised as ‘Loans and receivables’ (trade debtors and cash) or as ‘Available-for-sale financial 
assets’ (investments held by the Charitable Fund). Financial liabilities are classified as ‘ financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost’ (trade creditors) 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an 
active market. They are included in current assets.      
 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust's loans and receivables comprise: current 
investments, cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued income and ‘other receivables’.  
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1.11 Financial instruments and financial liabilities (continued) 
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.  The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset.   
 
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets (Charitable Fund only) 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets which are either designated in this category or not 
classified in any of the other categories.  They are included in long-term assets unless the Charitable Fund intends to 
dispose of them within 12 months of the Statement of Financial Position date. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are recognized initially at fair value, including transaction costs, and measured 
subsequently at fair value, with gains or losses recognized in reserves and reported in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as an item of “other comprehensive income”.  When items classified as “available-for-sale” are sold or impaired, 
the accumulated fair value adjustments recognized are transferred from reserves and recognized in “Finance Costs” in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured 
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts 
exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.  
 
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of Financial 
Position date, which are classified as non-current liabilities.  
 
Determination of fair value 
 
For financial assets carried at fair value, the carrying amounts are determined from quoted mid - market prices of the 
underlying investments held by the COIF.    
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
At the date of the Statement of Financial Position, the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation 
Trust assesses whether any financial assets are impaired.  Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are 
recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.  
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset's original 
effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced through the use of a bad debt provision that is determined specifically on individual assets. 
 
1.12 Leases 
 
Operating leases 
 
Leases not classified as finance leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating 
expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease 
rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease. 
 
Leases of land and buildings 
 
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the 
classification for each is assessed separately.  
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1.13  Provisions 
 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust recognizes a provision where it has a present 
legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of 
cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount.  The amount recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation.  Where the effect of the time value 
of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount rates published by HM 
Treasury. 
 
Clinical negligence costs 
 
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Foundation Trust pays an annual 
contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is administratively 
responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Foundation Trust. The total value of clinical 
negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Foundation Trust is disclosed at note 19 but is not recognised 
in the Foundation Trust's accounts. 
 
Non-clinical risk pooling 
 
The Foundation Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme.  Both are 
risk pooling schemes under which the Foundation Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA and in return receives 
assistance with the costs of claims arising.  The annual membership contributions, and any 'excesses' payable in respect 
of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when the liability arises. 
 
1.14  Contingencies 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in Note 26, unless the probability of a transfer of economic 
benefits is remote.  Contingent liabilities are defined as (1) possible obligations arising from past events whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the Foundation Trust's 
control or (2) present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic 
benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.  Advice from the 
senior executive team is taken when reporting contingencies.  However, the nature of contingencies is such that 
uncertainty is inherent. 
 
1.15  Public Dividend Capital 
 
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the 
time of establishment of the predecessor NHS trust, the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Trust.  HM 
Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS32. 
 
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Foundation Trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend. The 
charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the Foundation 
Trust during the financial year. 
 
Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets, (ii) 
average daily net cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS) excluding cash balances held in GBS 
accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility, and (iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable. In 
accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year 
is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the ‘pre-audit’ version of the financial statements. The 
dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result of the audit of the annual 
accounts. 
 
Additional Public Dividend Capital of £500,000 was drawn down by the Foundation Trust in the year ended 31st March 
2014 (£Nil in year ended 31st March 2013). 
 
1.16  Value Added Tax 
 
Most of the activities of the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust are outside the scope 
of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.  Irrecoverable VAT is 
charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of non-current assets. Where 
output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.   
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1.17  Corporation Tax 
 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust does not foresee that it will have any material 
commercial activities on which corporation tax liability will arise under the guidance issued by HM Revenue and Customs. 
 
1.18 Third party assets 
 
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the 
Foundation Trust has no beneficial interest in them.  However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts in 
accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM. 
 
1.19  Losses and special payments 
 
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health 
service or passed legislation.  By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise.  They are therefore subject to 
special control procedures compared with the generality of payments.  They are divided into different categories, which 
govern the way that individual cases are handled.  Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional 
headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance 
cover had the Foundation Trusts not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal 
revenue expenditure). 
 
However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which 
reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses. 
 
1.20 Accounting standards and amendments issued but not yet adopted in the ARM 
 
The following accounting standards have been issued but have not yet been adopted.  NHS bodies cannot adopt new 
standards unless they have been adopted in the HM Treasury FReM, which generally does not adopt an international 
standard until it has been endorsed by the European Union for use by listed companies. 
 

Change published Financial year for which the change first applies
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Uncertain.  Not likely to be adopted by the EU until the 

IASB has finished the rest of its financial instruments 
project. 

IRFS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements Effective from 2014/15 * 
IFRS 11 Joint arrangements Effective from 2014/15 * 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in Other entities Effective from 2014/15 * 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by HM 

Treasury 
IAS27 Separate Financial Statements Effective from 2014/15 * 
IAS28 Associates and joint ventures Effective from 2014/15 * 
IAS32 Financial Instruments: Presentation amendment 
Offsetting financial assets and liabilities 

Effective from 2014/15 * 

 – * This reflects the EU-adopted effective date rather than the effective date in the standard. 
 
1.21 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Critical accounting judgements 
 
In the application of the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust's accounting policies, 
management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from those estimates 
and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
In terms of the valuation of non current assets, where a formal revaluation is undertaken, all values are based on the 
accepted principle of the modern equivalent asset (MEA) which bases values by estimating the cost to create a modern 
equivalent of the existing asset, taking into account modern material and building techniques.  The valuation takes into 
account both the current and intended future use of the asset. 
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1.21 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Only key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed. 
 
The calculation of the provision for impaired receivables is based on management's estimation of the possible level of 
irrecoverable debt by reference to a detailed review of outstanding balances at the end of the financial year. 
 
NHS receivables includes accruals for services provided but not invoiced at the end of the financial year.  This is 
calculated by reference to activity data and for the most part invoices to commissioners have been raised since year end. 
 
1.22 Change of accounting policy 
 
Following Treasury’s agreement to apply IAS27 to NHS Charities from 1st April 2013, the Royal National Hospital for 
Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust has established that, as it is the corporate trustee of the linked NHS Charity 
the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases Charitable Fund, it effectively has the power to exercise control so as 
to obtain economic benefits. The Charitable Fund is therefore treated as a group entity and is consolidated.  
 
As this is a change in the accounting policy, the prior year has been restated. The consolidation is for reporting purposes 
only and does not affect the charity’s legal and regulatory independence and day to day operations. 
 
1.23 Subsidiaries 
 
Material entities over which the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust has the power to 
exercise control so as to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as subsidiaries and are consolidated. Their 
income and expenses; gains and losses; assets, liabilities and reserves; and cash flows are consolidated in full into the 
appropriate financial statement lines. Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary’s 
accounting policies are not aligned with the Foundation Trust. 
 
From 2013-14, the Foundation Trust consolidates the results of Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases Charitable 
Fund, over which it considers it has the power to exercise control in accordance with IAS27 requirements.  The principal 
place of business of the Charitable Fund is Upper Borough Walls, Bath, BA1 1RL 
 
2 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
 
The provision of Neurological Rehabilitation inpatient and outpatient services by the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic 
Diseases NHS Foundation Trust ceased as at 31st March 2013.   
 
As a consequence of the service closure, the income, costs and cash flows relating to the service were separately 
identified as a discontinued operation in the 2012/13 comparatives.  The summary income and costs are shown on the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, with further detail provided in notes 3.2 and 7.1. The building was impaired by 
£55,000 due to the change of use of the facility, and this was allocated to the discontinued operation.  The Statement of 
Financial Position is not segregated by service, however, the impact of the Neurological Rehabilitation services' direct 
revenue is shown in the comparatives in the Cash flow Statement and Statement of Comprehensive income and 
expenditure. 
 
3 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS – GROUP AND FOUNDATION TRUST  
 
3.1 Segmental analysis – explanation of the services provided by specialties 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 
maker.  The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments, has been identified as the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust’s 
Board of Directors.  The individual segments are consistent with the organizational structure of the Foundation Trust which 
is based on clinical specialties. 
The Operating income for each segment is mainly derived from Clinical Commissioning Groups as a result of delivery of 
patient care in these specialties.  In addition, income is sourced from NHS England to fund education and training costs in 
line with national policy. 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust’s income and activities are for the provision of 
health and health related services within the UK.  The services provided by the Foundation Trust are designated between 
specialties. Details of the services provided within each of the NHS Foundation Trust’s main clinical specialties are 
included below. The Information is a summary of activity by specialty level. 
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3.1 Segmental analysis – explanation of the services provided by specialties (continued) 
 
Service Area   Examples of services provided 
 
Rheumatology Outpatients, inpatients and day cases including clinical measurement services, such 

as bone scans. 
 
Neuro rehabilitation Care was provided principally in an inpatient but also an outpatient setting for patients 

requiring intensive neuro rehabilitation.  This service ceased on 31st March 2013 and 
is shown throughout the accounts as a discontinued operation. 

 
Pain Management  Inpatient and outpatient services for patients with chronic pain. 
 
Chronic Fatigue Syndrome  Care provided in an outpatient setting in clinics with therapies, for example 

physiotherapy. 
 
PbR excluded drugs income Income for drugs provided to patients, directly recharged to partner NHS 

organisations. 
 
3.2 Segmental analysis by service area       
2013/14     Rheumatology 

 
Neuro 

Rehabilitation 
Pain 

Management 
CFS High 

cost 
drugs 

other Total 

     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
            
Income     7,785 0 1,445 965 6,235 2,015 18,445 
            
Expenditure     5,409 (113) 693 609 6,235 6,589 19,422 
            
Contribution to operating result 2,376 113 752 356 0 (4,574) (977) 
Finance Income n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 7 7 
PDC dividends payable n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a (155) (155)
Operating (deficit) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a (1,125) 
Revaluation n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 416 416 
Total comprehensive expenditure n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a (709) 
            
2012/13     Rheumatology 

 
Neuro 

Rehabilitation 
Pain 

Management 
CFS High 

cost 
drugs 

other Total 

     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
            
Income     7,055 1,673 1,144 713 5,836 7,327 23,748 
            
Expenditure     5,452 3,488 808 568 5,836 6,497 22,649 
            
Contribution to operating result 1,603 (1,815) 336 145 0 830 1,099 
Finance Income n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 5 5 
PDC dividends payable n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a (182) (182)
Operating (surplus) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 922 
Revaluation n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a (467) (467) 
Total comprehensive income n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 455 

 
Rheumatology includes Clinical Measurement Services, Diagnostics and Complex Regional Pain Services 
CFS – Chronic Fatigue Syndrome – services for adults and children 
Other includes Research and Development and Breast Radiation Injury Rehabilitation Service 
The Neuro Rehabilitation service ceased on 31st March 2013 

The above analysis is consistent with reports presented to the Main Board 
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3.2 Segmental analysis by service area (continued) 
 
The group financial statements include amounts in respect of the RNHRD Charitable Fund that do not form part of the 
segments reported above. 
 
The income and expenditure included in the group financial statements in respect of the charity are as follows: 
 
 2013/14 2012/13 
Operating Income 78 517 
Operating Expenditure 165 190 
Finance Income 10 10 
   
   
 
 
 
4  PATIENT RELATED ACTIVITY – GROUP AND FOUNDATION TRUST 

  Total Continuing 
Operations 

Discontinued 
Operations 

Total 

4.1 Income from activities 2013/14 2012/13 2012/13 2012/13 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Elective income 2,013 2,128 1,428 3,556 
 Non-elective income 2,265 1,667 140 1,807 
 Outpatient income 5,746 5,174 73 5,247 
 Private patient income 219 146 13 159 
 Other clinical income  6,427 6,561 19 6,580 
  16,670 15,676 1,673 17,349 
     
    Commissioner requested services 16,471 15,530 1,660 17,190 
 Non-Commissioner requested services 219 146 13 159 
  16,670 15,676 1,673 17,349 
     
4.2 Income from activities - by source   
 NHS Foundation Trusts 0 19 1 20 
 NHS Trusts 31 53 0 53 
 NHS England (2012/13 SHA's) 0 176 0 176 
 Clinical Commissioning Groups (2012/13 PCTs) 15,985 14,284 1,609 15,893 
 Department of Health - Other 6 77 0 77 
 NHS Other 233 612 0 612 
 Non-NHS:  Private Patients 219 146 13 159 
 NHS injury scheme 62 58 0 58 
 Non-NHS:  Other 134 251 50 301 
 Total Patient Related Income 16,670 15,676 1,673 17,349 
     
4.3 Income from activities by type    
 CCG (2012/13 PCT) and other NHS Income 10,024 9,422 1,623 11,045 
 Other Clinical Income 192 259 50 309 
 PbR excluded drugs Income 6,235 5,836 0 5,836 
 Private Patient Income 219 159 0 159 
 Total Patient Related Income 16,670 15,676 1,673 17,349 
     
5 NON-RECURRING NON-CONTRACT INCOME  Continuing 

Operations 
Discontinued 
Operations 

Total 

  2013/14 2012/13 2012/13 2012/13 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Non-recurring non-contract income 0 4,648 0 4,648 
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6 OTHER OPERATING INCOME  Group Foundation Trust
   2013-14 2012-13  2013-14 2012-13 
   Total Continuing 

Operations 
Discontinued 
Operations Total  Total Continuing 

Operations 
Discontinued 
Operations Total 

   £000 £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Research and development 972 1,160 0 1,160  972 1,160 0 1,160 
 Education and training 323 338 0 338  323 338 0 338 
 Charitable and other contributions to 

expenditure 
0 0 0 0  70 123 0 123 

 Other income 410 130 0 130  410 130 0 130 
 Voluntary charitable income  78 517 0 517  0 0 0 0 
  1,783 2,145 0 2,145  1,775 1,751 0 1,751 
7 OPERATING EXPENSES  Group  Foundation Trust 
7.1 Expenses by type  2013-14 2012-13  2013-14 2012-13 
   Total Continuing 

Operations 
Discontinued 
Operations Total  Total Continuing 

Operations 
Discontinued 
Operations Total 

   £000 £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Services from NHS Foundation Trusts 207 79 29 108  207 79 29 108 
 Services from NHS Trusts 752 844 42 886  752 844 42 886 
 Services from other NHS bodies 0 50 0 50  0 50 0 50 
 Purchase of Healthcare from non-NHS 

bodies 90 10 0 10  90 10 0 10 
 Executive directors’ costs 569 571 0 571  569 571 0 571 
 Non-executive directors’ costs 85 71 0 71  85 71 0 71 
 Staff costs 8,570 8,322 2,166 10,488  8,537 8,322 2,166 10,488 
 Drug costs 6,541 6,167 0 6,167  6,541 6,167 0 6,167 
 Clinical supplies and services (excluding 

drug costs) 240 418 47 465  240 418 47 465 
 Supplies and services – general 117 313 2 315  117 313 2 315 
 Establishment 348 303 14 317  348 303 14 317 
 Transport 23 36 0 36  23 36 0 36 
 Premises 986 878 0 878  986 878 0 878 
 Increase in provision for impairment of 

receivables 
15 110 0 110  15 110 0 110 

 Depreciation and amortisation 471 429 0 429  471 429 0 429 
 External audit fees 68 100 0 100  63 95 0 95 
 Internal audit fees 46 54 0 54  46 54 0 54 
 External auditor’s other remuneration 17 17 0 17  22 22 0 22 
 (Release of) Restructuring costs (113) 0 1,121 1,121  (113) 0 1,121 1,121 
 Other 485 456 12 468  423 389 12 401 
 Subtotal before impairments 19,517 19,228 3433 22,661  19,422 19,161 3,433 22,594 
 Impairments – building 0 0 55 55  0 0 55 55 
 Total operating expenses 19,517 19,228 3,488 22,716  19,422 19,161 3,488 22,649 
Depreciation in 2013/14 includes accelerated depreciation as detailed in note 15.1.
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7. OPERATING EXPENSES (continued) Group  Foundation
Trust 

7.2.1 External auditors’ other remuneration 2013/14 2012/13  2013/14 2012/13 
  £000 £000  £000 £000 
 Auditing of accounts of an Associate of the 

Foundation Trust: 
    

 Audit of Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic 
Diseases Charitable Fund 

0 0  5 5 

 Audit-related assurance services:     
 Quality Report 17 17  17 17 
  17 17  22   22 
 Auditors’ remuneration includes irrecoverable VAT. 

 
7.2.2 Auditors' liability cap      
  

The Board of Governors appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as external auditors for the financial year ending 
31st March 2014. The engagement letter signed on 27th January 2014, states that the liability of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, its members, partners and staff (including but not limited to negligence) shall in no 
circumstances exceed £1 million in the aggregate in respect of all services (2012/13 - £1 million). 

  
7.3.1 Operating leases      
  

The Foundation Trust's obligations under operating leases mainly relate to a lease for the hiring of apartments used 
for accommodating patients attending training courses. This lease will expire in September 2014.  Other payments 
relate to minor items of equipment.  There are no contingent rents or sublease arrangements. 
 

  Group  Foundation trust 
  2013/14 2012/13  2013/14 2012/13 
  £000 £000  £000 £000 
      
 Operating lease rentals 88 75  88 75 
  88   75  88   75 
      
7.3.2 Total future minimum lease payments are:      
 Not later than one year 44 75  44 75 
 Later than one year and not later than five years 0 37  0 37 
 Later than five years 0 0  0 0 
  44 112  44 112 
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7. OPERATING EXPENSES (continued)  
7.4 Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers  
 Remuneration 

 
Salary Taxable Benefits Employer’s 

pension scheme 
contributions 

Total

 Name and Title
 

(bands of £5,000) (Nearest  £100) (bands of £5,000) 

 2013/14 £000 £ £’000 £’000

 Executive Directors     
 Kirsty Matthews, Chief Executive  85-90 0 12 95-100 
 Dr Ashok Bhalla, Medical Director  135-140 100 17 155-160 
 Rachel Hepworth, Director of Finance (to July 2013) 20-25 0 3 25-30 
 Tracey Cotterill, Director of Finance (from June 2013) 60-65 100 9 70-75 
 Rayna McDonald, Director of Operations & Clinical Practice, Deputy 

Chief Executive 
 

75-80 
 

0 
 

11 
 

85-90 
 Hayley Sewell, Director of Governance 60-65 0 9 70-75 
 Non-Executive Directors     
 Peter Franklyn, Chair (to August 2013) 10-15 0 0 10-15 
 Luke March (from March 2014) 0-5 0 0 0-5 
 Eugene Sullivan, Chair (from August 2013) 30-35 0 0 30-35 
 Stephen Cole (to August 2013) 0-5 100 0 0-5 
 Christopher Johns  5-10 100 0 5-10 
 Peter Spencer 5-10 100 0 5-10 
 Niall Bowen  5-10 0 0 5-10 
 Mike Attenborough-Cox (from August 2013) 5-10 600 0 5-10 
 
 
 
 
 
There were no further benefits paid or payable to senior managers other than those available to all NHS employees.  No annual or long-term performance-related bonuses 
were paid in the year. 
 
Further details of Directors’ remuneration are recorded in the remuneration report on pages 27 - 31  of the Annual Report. 
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7 OPERATING EXPENSES (continued)
7.4 Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers
 Remuneration  

 
Salary Taxable Benefits Employer’s 

pension scheme 
contributions 

Total 

 Name and Title
 

(bands of £5,000) (Nearest  £100) (bands of £5,000) 

 2012/13 £000 £ £’000 £’000

 Executive Directors     
 Kirsty Matthews, Chief Executive  85-90 0 12 95-100 
 Dr Ashok Bhalla, Medical Director  150-155 0 19 170-175 
 Rachel Hepworth, Director of Finance  75-80 100 11 85-90 
 Rayna McDonald, Director of Operations & Clinical Practice, Deputy 

Chief Executive 
 

50-55 
 

0 
 

11 
 

60-65 
 Annie Kelly Director of Operations & Clinical Practice(to July 2012)  30-35 0 4 25-30 
 Hayley Sewell, Director of Governance 60-65 0 9 70-75 
 Non-Executive Directors     
 Peter Franklyn, Chair  25-30 0 0 25-30 
 Stephen Cole  5-10 0 0 5-10 
 Christopher Johns  5-10 0 0 5-10 
 Peter Spencer 5-10 0 0 5-10 
 Niall Bowen  5-10 0 0 5-10 
 
 
 
There were no further benefits paid or payable to senior managers other than those available to all NHS employees. 
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7 OPERATING EXPENSES (continued)       
7.5 Pension entitlements of senior managers (all Foundation Trust)    
 Pension Benefits        
 Name and Title 

 
Real increase / 
(decrease) in 

pension at age 
60 at 31st March 
2014 (bands of 

£2,500) 
 

Real increase/ 
(decrease) in 

lump sum 
at age 60 

at 31st March 
2014 (bands of 

£2,500) 
 

Total accrued 
pension at 

age 60 at 31st 
March 2014  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 

Lump sum at 
age 60 related 

to accrued 
pension at 31st 

March 2014  
(bands of 

£5,000) 
 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 

31st March 
2014 

 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 

31st March 
2013 

 

Real 
Increase/ 

(decrease) 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value 
 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Kirsty Matthews, Chief Executive 0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 5-10 127 106 21 
 Dr Ashok Bhalla, Medical Director  0-2.5 5-7.5 55-60 170-175 0 0 0 
 Hayley Sewell, Director of Governance 0-2.5 2.5-5 10-15 40-45 248 225 23 
 Rayna McDonald, Director of Operations & 

Clinical Practice, Deputy Chief Executive  
0-2.5 2.5-5 15-20 50-55 276 252 24 

 Rachel Hepworth, Director of Finance (To 
July 13) 

0-2.5 2.5-5 10-15 30-35 149 131 18 

 Tracey Cotterill, Director of Finance (From 
June 13) 

n/a n/a 5-10 15-20 115 n/a n/a 

         
  Real increase / 

(decrease) in 
pension at age 
60 at 31st March 
2013 (bands of 

£2,500) 
restated 

Real increase/ 
(decrease) in 

lump sum 
at age 60 

at 31st March 
2013  (bands of 

£2,500) 
restated 

Total accrued 
pension at 

age 60 at 31st 
March 2013  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 

Lump sum at 
age 60 related 

to accrued 
pension at 31st 

March 2013  
(bands of 

£5,000) 
 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 

31st March 
2013 

 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 

31st March 
2012 

restated 

Real 
Increase/ 

(decrease) 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value 
restated 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Kirsty Matthews, Chief Executive 0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 5-10 106 86 20 
 Dr Ashok Bhalla, Medical Director  2.5-5.0 5.0-7.5 55-60 165-170 0 1,192 (1,192) 
 Hayley Sewell, Director of Governance 0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 35-40 225 205 20 
 Rayna McDonald, Director of Operations & 

Clinical Practice, Deputy Chief Executive 
(returned from maternity leave  September 
2012) 

0-2.5 0-2.5 15-20 45-50 252 233 19 

 Annie Kelly, Director of Operations & Clinical 
Practice (to July 2012) 

(0-2.5) (5.0-7.5) 25-30 75-80 471 489 (18) 

 Rachel Hepworth, Director of Finance 2.5-5.0 7.5-10.0 5-10 25-30 131 85 46 
         
 Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration.  Members of the pension scheme cannot transfer a cash equivalent once they have reached pensionable age.   When a 

newly appointed Director had prior NHS Pension entitlement, but none accruing in the previous Financial Year, the NHS Pensions Agency does not provide a valuation of the value of their 
pension rights at the date of re-joining the scheme. The note has been restated based on new information received in 2013/14 from the NHS Pensions Agency. (n/a = not available) 
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7 OPERATING EXPENSES (continued)    
7.5 Pension entitlements of senior managers (all Foundation Trust) (continued) 
 A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits 

accrued by a member at a particular point in time.  The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any 
contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or 
arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to the 
benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just 
their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies.  The CETV figures, and from 2004-05 the other 
pension details, include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has 
transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a 
result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are calculated 
within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. 

  
 Real increase in CETV - This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes account of the 

increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits 
transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and 
end of the year. 

  
 Employers' contributions to the pension scheme in respect of directors was £61,000 in the year 2013/14 (£66,000 in 

2012/13).  Benefits are accruing to 6 directors (6 directors 2012/13) under the defined benefit scheme. 
       
8 STAFF COSTS AND NUMBERS      
8.1  Staff Costs Group Foundation Trust 

  2013/14 2012/13 2013/14 2012/13 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Salaries and wages 7,658 10,494 7,631 10,463 
 Social Security costs 556 676 554 676 
 Employer contributions to NHSPA 925 1,041 921 1,041 
  

9,139 
 

12,211 
 

 
9,106 

 
12,180 

 
 
Pension costs 
 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits 
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The 
scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way 
that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the 
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 
 
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those 
that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period 
between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these 
follows: 
The contributions to the plan for the next annual reporting period are expected to be in line with contributions made in 
2013/14 
 
a) Accounting valuation 
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. 
This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and 
financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial 
reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31st March 2014, is based on valuation data as 31st 
March 2013, updated to 31st March 2014 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this 
actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate 
prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. 
 
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the 
annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can be 
viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 
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8 Staff costs and numbers (continued) 
The most recent set of accounts of NHS Pensions show that as at 31 March 2013 the pension liabilities of the Scheme 
were valued at ￡284.2 billion. This is an increase of ￡37.2 billion from the liabilities at 31 March 2012 of ￡247.0 
billion. This is due to an actuarial gain of ￡23.0 billion (￡18.9 billion relating to the impact of the change in discount 
rate and ￡4.1 billion to changes in assumption and experience) and current year net additions to the liability of ￡14.2 
billion. As the NHS Pension Scheme is an unfunded scheme, these liabilities are underwritten by the Exchequer. 
 
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking 
into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates. 
 
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31st 
March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation would have been due for the year ending 31st March 2008. 
However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public service schemes were suspended by HM Treasury on value 
for money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions, and while future scheme 
terms are developed as part of the reforms to public service pension provision due in 2015. 
 
The Scheme Regulations were changed to allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with 
the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and 
employer representatives as deemed appropriate. 
 
The next formal valuation to be used for funding purposes will be carried out at as at March 2012 and will be used to 
inform the contribution rates to be used from 1st April 2015. 
 
c) Scheme provisions 
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide 
only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met 
before these benefits can be obtained: 
 
The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the 
best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay 
per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual 
pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service. 
With effect from 1st April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free 
lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension 
commutation”. 
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are 
based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-
12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI). 
 
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable 
of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for 
death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable. 
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. 
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer. 
 
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the 
Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers. 

 
8.2 Monthly average number of persons employed (Group) 

  2013/14 2013/14 2013/14 2012/13 
  Total Permanently Other Total 
  Number Employed  Number 
 Medical and dental 17 17 0 18 
 Administration and estates 80 80 0 115 
 Nursing, midwifery & health visiting staff 68 68 0 84 
 Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 47 47 0 57 
 Bank and agency staff 19 0 19 16 
 Total 231 212 19 290 
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8.2 Monthly average number of persons employed (Group continued) 
The Charitable Fund employs one full time member of staff as an administrator.  The monthly average number of 
persons employed by the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust were as above 
minus one administrator.  The average number of persons employed includes directors on a service contract.  The 
numbers above refer to whole time equivalents, rather than the number of staff employed. 
 

8.3 Employee benefits 
  

An NHS corporate account was set up with Wiltshire DC Leisure Centres, which enables all employees to receive 
15% discount off the membership subscription.  There is no cost to the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic 
Diseases NHS Foundation Trust (2012/13: £nil). 

8.4 Retirements due to ill-health 
 

 There were no retirements at any additional cost to the Pension Scheme.  (2012/13: One costing £34,000)
 

8.5 Staff exit packages 
   

 There were no staff exit packages in 2013/14.  During 2012/13 compulsory redundancies were made in relation to the 
closure of the Neurological Rehabilitation service on 31st March 2013 and related to staff directly employed in that 
service.  None of the 2012/13 staff exit packages related to senior managers disclosed in the Directors' Remuneration 
Report at note 7.4. 

  2012/13 2012/13 2012/13 
 Exit package cost band Number of compulsory 

redundancies 
Number of other 

departures agreed 
Total number of exit 

packages by cost band 
< £10,000 7 0 7 
£10,001 – £25,000 9 0 9 
£25,001 - £50,000 11 0 11 
£50,001 - £100,000 3 0 3 
£100,001 - £150,000 1 0 1 
£150,001 - £200,000 1 0 1 
Total number of exit 
packages by type 
 

32 0 32 

 Total resource cost £1,060,142 0 £1,060,142 
 

9. FINANCE INCOME Group  Foundation Trust
  2013/14 2012/13  2013/14 2012/13 
  £000 £000  £000 £000 
 Finance income 17 15  7 5 
  

Finance income relates to interest received on bank account balances and dividend income from investments  
  
10 PDC DIVIDENDS PAYABLE Group  Foundation Trust
  2013/14 2012/13  2013/14 2012/13 
  £000 £000  £000 £000 
 Public dividend capital (PDC) dividend paid 159 189  159 189 
 Actual public dividend capital dividend incurred during 

the year 
155 182  155 182 

 Overpaid recoverable 4 7  4 7 
  
11 BETTER PAYMENT PRACTICE CODE Foundation Trust 
    
 Measure of compliance 2013/14  2012/13 
 Non-NHS trade invoices 

 
Number £000  Number £000 

 Total bills paid in the year 3,720 7,475  3,986 7,388 
 Total bills paid within target 2,615 5,415  2,610 4,234 
 Percentage of bills paid within target 70.30% 72.44%  65.48% 57.31% 
  

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation 
Trust to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 
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12 THE LATE PAYMENT OF COMMERCIAL DEBTS (INTEREST) ACT 1998   
  

There was no  Interest Payable arising from claims made by businesses under this legislation (2012/13 £Nil). 
 

     
13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS – GROUP AND FOUNDATION TRUST  2013/14 2012/13 
 Software Licences  £000 £000 
 Cost at 1st  April    316 351 
 Additions: Purchased  9 0 
 Reclassifications  0 (35) 
 Disposals  (31) 0 
 Cost at 31st March  294 316 
    
 Accumulated amortisation at 1st  April   238 225 
 Provided during the year  31 34 
 Reclassifications   (2) (21) 
 Disposals  (31) 0 
 Accumulated amortisation at 31st March   236 238 
      
 Net book value   
 -Purchased assets at 1st  April  74 120 
 -Donated assets at 1st  April  4 6 
 -Total Net Book Value of intangible assets at 1st April 2013  78 126 
    
 -Purchased assets at 31st March  58 74 
 -Donated assets at 31st March  0 4 
 -Total Net Book Value of intangible assets at 31st  March 2014  58 78 
  

 
 

   

14 INVESTMENTS – ALL CHARITABLE FUND  2013/14 2012/13 
   £000 £000 
 Valuation at 1st  April    246 219 

Revaluation Gain   6 27 
Valuation at 31st  March   252 246 

     
The investments are held under the powers conferred on the Charitable Fund by clause D (10) of the Charity deed.  
Investments are valued at market value, which is calculated as being the mid-point value excluding dividends on 
the day of valuation. 
£246,000 (£241,000 at 31st March 2013) of the investment is held in a Charity Investment Fund managed by CCLA 
Investment Management Limited consisting of a holding of 21,341 units.  Asset allocation of the fund at 31st March 

comprised of: 

  
• Fixed interest     
• U.K. equities      
• Overseas equities     
• Cash       
• Property / infrastructure    

 

   
2.3% 

45.5% 
36.6% 
3.7% 

11.9% 

 
4.7% 

40.8% 
42.2% 
2.4% 
9.9% 
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – GROUP AND FOUNDATION TRUST      
15.1 Property, Plant and Equipment at the statement of financial position date comprise the following elements: 
  

Freehold 
Land 
£000 

Freehold 
buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

£000 

Plant & 
Machinery 

£000 

Transport 
Equipment 

£000 

Information 
Technology 

£000 

Furniture 
& fittings 

£000 

Assets 
under 

construction 
£000 

Total 
 

£000 

 Cost or valuation at 1st  April 2013 2,082 3,911 1,182 34 792 94 0 8,095 
 Additions - purchased  0 18 9 0 22 0 0 49 
 Revaluations 0 175 0 0 0 0 0 175 
 Disposals 0 0 (246) 0 (328) (16) 0 (590) 
 At 31st  March 2014 2,082 4,104 945 34 486 78 0 7,729 
          
 Accumulated depreciation at 1st April 2013 0 0 787 34 625 45 0 1,491 
 Provided during the year 0 241 135 0 49 15 0 440 
 Reclassifications 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 
 Revaluations 0 (241) 0 0 0 0 0 (241) 
 Disposals 0 0 (246) 0 (328) (16) 0 (590) 
 Accumulated depreciation at 31st  March 

2014 0 0 678 34 346 44 0 1,102 
          
 Net book value 

 
        

 - Purchased at 31st  March 2014 2,082 3,841 231 0 138 10 0 6,302 
 - Donated at 31st  March 2014 0 263 36 0 2 24 0 325 
 Total at 31st  March 2014 2,082 4,104 267 0 140 34 0 6,627 
          
  

The NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual requires all foundation trusts to prepare their financial statements in accordance with IFRS and the HM Treasury 
FReM, except in cases of specific divergence.   This guidance does not specify any departure from Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) standards, for which 
valuation on the modern equivalent asset (MEA) basis is the accepted norm.  The effective date of the last full formal revaluation of land and buildings was 31st March 
2013 and was undertaken by the District Valuer using MEA value.  This revaluation was updated as at 31st March 2014 using RICS’ indices.  The MEA basis values 
assets by estimating the costs to create a modern equivalent of the existing asset, taking into account modern materials and building techniques. 
 
Depreciation charged in the year of £440,000 includes accelerated depreciation of £75,000 relating to plant and machinery whose remaining useful life was revised 
during the year (No accelerated depreciation in year ended 31st March 2013). 
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)      
15.2 Property, Plant and Equipment at the prior year’s  statement of financial position date comprise the following elements: 
  

Freehold 
Land 
£000 

Freehold 
buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

£000 

Plant & 
Machinery 

£000 

Transport 
Equipment 

£000 

Information 
Technology 

£000 

Furniture 
& fittings 

£000 

Assets 
under 

construction 
£000 

Total 
 

£000 

 Cost or valuation at 1st  April 2012 2,082 4,722 1,286 34 734 63 134 9,055 
 Additions - purchased  0 155 0 0 74 0 0 229 
 Additions - donated 0 67 15 0 3 31 0 116 
 Impairments 0 (467) 0 0 0 0 0 (467) 
 Reclassifications 0 134 35 0 0 0 (134) 35 
 Other revaluations 0 (700) 0 0 0 0 0 (700) 
 Disposals 0 0 (154) 0 (19) 0 0 (173) 
 At 31st  March 2013 2,082 3,911 1,182 34 792 94 0 8,095 
          
 Accumulated depreciation at 1st  April 

2012 0 376 850 34 594 39 0 1,893 
 Provided during the year 0 269 70 0 50 6 0 395 
 Impairments 0 55 0 0 0 0 0 55 
 Reclassifications 0 0 21 0 0 0 0 21 
 Other revaluations 0 (700) 0 0 0 0 0 (700) 
 Disposals 0 0 (154) 0 (19) 0 0 (173) 
 At 31st March 2013 0 0 787 34 625 45 0 1,491 
          
 Net book value         
 - Purchased at 31st  March 2013 2,082 3,654 336 0 164 19 0 6,255 
 - Donated at 31st  March 2013 0 257 59 0 3 30 0 349 
 Total at 31st  March 2013 2,082 3,911 395 0 167 49 0 6,604 
 Net book value         
 - Purchased at 31st  March 2012 2,082 4,011 377 0 140 24 134 6,768  
 - Donated at 31st  March 2012 0 335 59 0 0 0 0 394  
 Total at 31st March 2012 2,082 4,346 436 0 140 24 134 7,162  
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16 INVENTORIES 31st March 
2014 

31st  March 
2013 

 31st  March 
2014 

31st  March 
2013 

  £000 £000  £000 £000 
 Raw materials and consumables 41 81  38 81 
       
 The movement in inventories is recognised in operating expenses. 
 
  Group Foundation Trust
17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 31st March 

2014 
31st  March 

2013 
 31st  March 

2014 
31st  March 

2013 
 Current: £000 £000  £000 £000 
 NHS and other related parties receivables 686 2,216  686 2,216 
 Provision for impaired receivables (187) (235)  (187) (235) 
 Prepayments 133 120  133 120 
 Accrued income 38 221  38 216 
 PDC overpaid, recoverable 4 7  4 7 
 Other receivables 193 210  222 237 
 Total current trade and other receivables 867 2,539  896 2,561 
      
 Provision for impairment of receivables     
 At 1st April 235 138  235 138 
 Increase in provision 136 110  136 110 
 Amounts utilized (63) (13)  (63) (13) 
 Unused amounts reversed (121) 0  (121) 0 
 At 31st  March 187 235  187 235 
 
17.1 Analysis of Impaired receivables     
 Ageing of impaired receivables     
 0 – 30 days 0 0  0 0 
 30 - 60 days 0 0  0 0 
 60 – 90 days 0 0  0 0 
 90 – 180 days 79 36  79 36 
 Over 180 days 108 199  108 199 
  187 235  187 235 
 
17.2 Ageing of non-impaired receivables past 

their due date 
    

 0 – 30 days 315 0  345 0 
 30 - 60 days 86 0  86 0 
 60 – 90 days 22 36  22 36 
 90 – 180 days 15 16  15 16 
 Over 180 days 0 0  0 0 
 Overdue 438 52  468 52 
 Not yet due 429 2,487  428 2,509 
  867 2,539  896 2,561 
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  Group Foundation Trust
18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 31st March 

2014 
31st  March 

2013 
 31st March 

2014 
31st  March 

2013 
 Current trade and other payables: £000 £000  £000 £000 
 NHS and other related parties payables 329 552  329 552 
 Other trade payables 397 708  397 708 
 Other taxes payable 0 206  0 206 
 Other Payables 169 175  169 175 
 Accruals 685 2,220  680 2,193 
 Total Current 1,580 3,861  1,575 3,834 
  
 Accruals in the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust and the Group as at 31st  March 

2014 include an amount of £Nil in relation to redundancy costs (31st  March 2013 £1,121,000) 
 In accordance with IFRS and HM Treasury's FReM The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS 

Foundation Trust has made an accrual of £26,000 for cost of untaken leave at 31st March 2014.  This is an increase of 
£10,000 from the accrual of £16,000 at 31st March 2013. 

 
  Group Foundation Trust
19 PROVISIONS 31st  March 2014 31st  March 2013 31st March 2014 31st  March 2013 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 At 1st  April 10 15 10 15 
 Arising during the year 10 0 10 0 
 Reversed Unused 0 (5) 0 (5) 
 Utilised during the year - cash (20) 0 (20) 0 
 At 31 March 0 10 0 10 
       
 The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) has advised disclosure of a provision of £Nil at 31st March 2014, in respect of 

LTPS (Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme) as part of non-clinical risk pooling (31st March 2013 £9,500 There is no 
provision required in respect of clinical negligence - the NHSLA is carrying a provision of £397,920 in respect of Clinical 
Negligence (31st March 2013 £148,743). 

       
20 PRUDENTIAL BORROWING LIMIT - Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust 
  

The prudential borrowing code requirements in section 41 of the NHS Act 2006 have been repealed with effect from 1st

April 2013 by the Health and Social Care Act 2012.  The accounts disclosures that were provided previously are no 
longer required. 

 
21 DEFERRED INCOME – GROUP AND FOUNDATION TRUST 31st  March 

2014 
£000 

31st  March 
2013 
£000 

   Current liabilities   
 Deferred income 715 411 
   Non-current liabilities   
 Deferred income 22 27 
  737 438 
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22 CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 

Group Foundation Trust 

  31st  March 
2014 

31st  March 
2013 

1st  April 
2012 

31st  March 
2014 

31st  March 
2013 

1st  April 
2012 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 At 1st  April 2,533 763 695 2,130 690 684 

 Net change in year (573) 1,770 68 (478) 1,440 6 
 At 31st  March 1,960 2,533 763 1,652 2,130 690 
      
  31st  March 

2014 
31st  March 

2013 
1st  April 

2012 
31st  March 

2014 
31st  March 

2013 
1st  April 

2012 
 Made up of: £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 
 Cash at commercial banks 

and in hand  55 15 
 

45 45 5 
 

34 
 Cash with the Government 

Banking Service 1,889 2,125 
 

656 1,607 2,125 
656 

 
Other current investments 16 393 

62 
0 0 

0 

  1,960 2,533 763 1,652 2,130 690 
 
 
23 ROYAL NATIONAL HOSPITAL FOR RHEUMATIC DISEASES CHARITABLE FUND 
     
23.1 Summary Statement of Financial Position    
       
   31st  March 

2014 
£’000 

31st  March 
2013 
£’000 

1st  April 
2012 
£’000 

 Restricted Funds  66 71 65 
 Unrestricted Funds  463 529 171 
 Total Charitable Fund Reserves  529 600 236 
 
Where there is a legal restriction on the purpose to which a fund may be put, the fund is classified in the accounts as a 
restricted fund.  Other funds are classified as unrestricted funds. 
 
24 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 

 
 

 The Group and the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust had no capital 
commitments as at 31st March 2014 (£Nil at 31st March 2013). 

 

       
25 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

 
There were no events after 31st March 2014 that require disclosure in the accounts. 

 

   
26 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 
     

 At the time of the production of the annual accounts, a constructive obligation had not arisen in respect of a transfer 
of services, with regard to the strategic intent to transfer services to another provider, and therefore no provision has 
been made.  If the transfer of services proceeds within the financial year 2014/15, exceptional costs may accrue to 
the partner organisation in the form of restructuring and redundancies.  It is impractical to estimate any contingent 
liabilities a third party may incur as part of their integration process. 
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

 The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust has received revenue payments from 
the Charitable Fund, of which it is the corporate trustee. The audited annual report and accounts of the Charitable 
Fund are available on request from the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust.      
  
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust received income totalling £70,000 from 
the Charitable Fund in 2013/14 (£123,000 2012/13).  The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS 
Foundation Trust processed payments totaling £161,000 in 2013/14 (£170,000 2012/13) on behalf of the Charitable 
Fund. 
The Charitable Fund owed the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust £30,000, as 
at 31st March 2014 (£34,000 at 31st March 2013) in respect of payments by the Foundation Trust on its behalf. 

 

 
 There are no commitments by the Charitable Fund to pay for capital expenditure as at 31st March 2014 (2012/13 

£Nil) 
 

 All government bodies which fall within the Whole of Government accounts boundary are regarded as related parties 
because they are all under the common control of HM Government and Parliament. This includes for example all 
NHS bodies, all local authorities and central government bodies 
 
The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust had transactions in excess of £500,000 
with the following NHS and other Whole of Government Accounting organisations during 2013/14: 

  2013/14 2013/14 2012/13 2012/13 
  Income Expenditure Income Expenditure 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Bath and North East Somerset CCG (2012/13 PCT) 3,710 0 8,571 18 
 Bristol CCG (2012/13 PCT) 382 0 2,231 0 
 Gloucestershire CCG (2012/13 PCT) 459 0 525 0 
 NHS England (2012/13 SHA) 3,015 0 2,033 0 
 North Somerset CCG (2012/13 PCT) 389 0 358 0 
 Somerset CCG (2012/13 PCT) 2,242 0 2,164 26 
 South Gloucestershire CCG (2012/13 PCT) 651 0 575 0 
 Royal United Hospital Bath NHS Trust 63 790 42 2,345 
 Wiltshire CCG (2012/13 PCT) 4,145 0 4,013 0 
 NHS Pension Scheme 0 966 0 1,075 
 National Insurance Fund 0 556 0 676 
      
      
 Significant balances outstanding between the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation 

Trust and other NHS and other Whole of Government Accounting Organisations at the yearend date were as 
follows: 

  31st  March 
2014 

31st  March 
2014 

31st  
March 
2013 

31st  March 
2013 

  Receivable Payable Receivable Payable 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Bath and North East Somerset CCG (2012/13 PCT) 126 0 1,278 0 
 NHS England (2012/13 SHA) (291) 0 66 0 
 North, East, West Devon CCG 59 0 n/a n/a 
 Somerset CCG (2012/13 PCT) 51 0 0 6 
 South Gloucestershire CCG 169 0 29 0 
 Royal United Hospital Bath NHS Trust 33 66 65 621 
 Wiltshire CCG (2012/13 PCT) 81 0 0 0 
 NHS Pension Scheme 0 125 0 141 
 National Insurance Fund 0 0 0 94 
 HM Revenue and Customs 24 0 0 1120 
  

 
    

 
 
 
 
 
 

Income is in respect of services provided by the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation 
Trust to patients referred by the entities above and other non patient related income. Expenditure with other NHS 
bodies is in respect of goods and services provided by the entities to the Foundation Trust. 
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
A negative receivable amount of £(291)k was outstanding at 31st March 2014 with NHS England due to a credit note 
raised in March 2014 (£66k receivable at 31st March 2013) 
 
The Royal United Hospital NHS Trust expenditure and payable balance in 2013/14 excluded High Cost Drugs. 
 
In addition the Foundation Trust pays tax and national insurance to HM Revenue and Customs on behalf of 
employees which totalled £1,542,000 (£1,864,000 in 2012/13  The Foundation Trust also pays the NHS Pension 
Scheme for employees; contributions which totalled £570,000 (£576,000 in 2012/13). 

  
 The only payments to key management personnel are as detailed in Note 7.4 and in the Remuneration report on 

pages 27 – 31 of the Annual Report and Accounts.. 
 

28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
28.1 Financial risks 
  

Liquidity risk 
  
The Trust's net operating costs are incurred under contracts with commissioners, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament.  The Trust largely finances its capital expenditure from internal cash resources, 
generated through the depreciation charge. Cash is invested in accordance with approved procedures.  Cash flows 
are monitored and monthly forecasts are produced, to ensure that commitments are met.  At the current time, the 
Trust’s costs exceed the income generated from activities which presents a liquidity risk.  This was mitigated in 
2013/14 through the availability of additional public dividend capital.  Whilst the Trust anticipates receiving the 
funding required to implement its strategic plans, the source and timing of the funding is uncertain and not 
guaranteed. 
 

 Market risk 
 
Market risk arises when the Trust is exposed to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises of currency risk and interest 
rate risk.  Currently there is limited exposure to all components of market risk due to the restricted cash availability in 
this area. 

 
 Credit risk 

 
The majority of the Trust's income is from NHS Trusts, in particular Clinical Commissioning Groups.  The Trust 
therefore has very little credit risk from these organisations.  Non-NHS income only represents a very small 
percentage of the Trust's income; procedures are in place to manage the credit risk.   The provision for impairment 
of receivables is less than 1% of overall income. 
 

28.2 Financial assets by category 
  Group Foundation Trust 
  

 
31st  March 

2014 
31st  March 

2013 
31st  March 

2014 
31st  March 

2013 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Assets as per SoFP     
 Loans and receivables    
 Trade and other receivables excluding 

non-financial assets 734 2,419 764 2,441 
 Cash and cash equivalents at bank and 

in hand 1,960 2,533 1,652 2,130 
 Available for sale    
 Other investments 252 246 0 0 
 Total 2,946 5,198 2,416 4,571 
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28.3 Financial liabilities by category 
  Group Foundation Trust
  31st  March 

2014 
31st  March 

2013 
31st  March 

2014 
31st  March 

2013 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Liabilities as per SoFP     
 Financial liabilities measured at 

amortised cost     
 Trade and other payables excluding 

non-financial liabilities 1,580 3,655 1,575 3,632 
 Total 1,580 3,655 1,575 3,632 
      
28.4 Maturity of financial liabilities    
  Group Foundation Trust
  31st  March 

2014 
31st  March 

2013 
31st  March 

2014 
31st  March 

2013 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 In one year or less 1,580 3,651 1,575 3,628 
 In more than one year but less than two 

years 0 4 0 4 
 Total 1,580 3,655 1,575 3,632 
  
29 THIRD PARTY ASSETS 
  

The Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust held £260 cash at bank and in hand at 
31st March 2014 relating to money held on behalf of patients (31st March 2013 £260).  The Charitable fund, now 
consolidated, does not hold assets on behalf of third parties. 

  
30 LOSSES AND SPECIAL PAYMENTS  
  

These are costs that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed 
legislation.  By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise.  They are therefore subject to special control 
procedures compared to the generality of payments. 

  
  2013/14 2013/14 2012/13 2012/13 
  Number £000 Number £000 
 Losses     
 Bad debts and claims abandoned 25 27 0 0 
 Total losses 25 27 0 0 
      
 Special payments     
 Ex-gratia payments loss of personal effects 1 0 1 0 
 Ex-gratia payments of personal injury 1 10 0 0 
 Ex-gratia payments of Other 1 2 0 0 
 Total Special Payments 3 12 1 0 
  

Total Losses and Special Payments 28 39 1 0 
  

Amounts are reported on an accruals basis but exclude provisions for future losses. 
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Glossary 
ALSPAC    Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children 
ARM   Annual Reporting Manual 
AS   Ankylosing Spondylitis 
ARUK   Arthritis Research UK 
B&NES   Bath and North East Somerset  
BIRD   Bath Institute for Rheumatic Diseases 
BMD   Bone Mineral Densitometry  
BRIRS   Breast Radiotherapy Injury Rehabilitation Service 
BSR   British Society for Rheumatology 
CCG   Clinical Commissioning Group 
C. Difficile  Clostridium difficile 
CEO   Chief Executive Officer 
CFS/ME   Chronic Fatigue Syndrome/ME 
CIPFA   Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
CG   Clinical Governance 
CoG   Council of Governors 
CoIF   Charity Investment Fund 
CQC   Care Quality Commission  
CQUIN   Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 
CRPS   Complex Regional Pain Syndrome 
CSU   Commissioning Support Unit 
DoH   Department of Health 
EDS   Equality Delivery System 
EMG   Executive Management Group 
FT   Foundation Trust 
FT ARM   Foundation Trust Reporting Manual 
FReM   Financial Reporting Manual 
FRR   Financial Risk Rating 
GAAP   Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
GI   Gastro-intestinal 
GP   General Practitioner 
HMRC   Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 
HR   Human Resources 
IAS   International Accounting Standards 
ICE   Integrated Clinical Environment 
IGQAC   Integrated Governance and Quality Assurance Committee 
IFRS   International Financial Reporting Standards 
LPC   Links Partnership Committee 
MDT   Multidisciplinary Team 
MBA   Master of Business Administration 
MUST   Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool 
MRSA   Meticillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureusis 
NED   Non Executive Director 
NIHR   National Institute for Health Research 
NHS   National Health Service 
NHSLA   National Health Service Litigation Authority 
NICE   National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 
NRLS   National Reporting and Learning System 
PALS   Patient Advice and Liaison Service  
PbR   Payment by Results  
PCT   Primary Care Trust 
PDC   Public Dividend Capital 
PhD   Doctor of Philosophy 
PLACE   Patient-led Assessment of the Care Environment 
PS&QF   Patient Safety and Quality Forum 
QIPP   Quality Innovation Productivity and Prevention  
RA   Rheumatoid Arthritis 
R&D   Research and Development 
RICS   Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors 
RNHRD NHS FT   Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust 
RUH   Royal United Hospital Bath NHS Trust 
SKIN   Surface, Keep moving, Incontinence, Nutrition 
SLA   Service Level Agreement 
SoFP   Statement of Financial Position  
SORP   Statement of Recommended Practice 
SINED   Senior Non Executive Director 
The Min   The Mineral Water Hospital 
UK   United Kingdom 
UTI   Urinary Tract Infection 
VACs   Vital Aspects of Care
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Contact details 
 
Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases NHS Foundation Trust 
Upper Borough Walls 
Bath 
BA1 1RL 
UK 
 
Tel: 01225 465 941 
Email: info@rnhrd.nhs.uk 
Web: www.rnhrd.nhs.uk 
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